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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MHEREE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETR®|E

CHAlRMAN EEfﬁhg
Wong Ting Chung T [z I2

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

MARKET REVIEW

2022 was undeniably a challenging year, marked by the
recurrent pandemic in the PRC and the complex and severe
international situation. Factors such as the conflict between
Russia and Ukraine, the ramifications of US interest rate hikes,
and the restructuring of  global industrial chain all had
prolonged impact on the domestic economy. Nonetheless,
under the efficient monitoring of the Chinese government,
macroeconomic policy adjustments were strengthened to
stabilise economic development. As a result, the GDP grew by
3% when compared with the corresponding period of the
previous year.

—ZT = ZHFFI e« Annual Report 2022
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FE®HE A

In 2022, the real estate market in the PRC experienced a
downturn due to continued pressure on demand contraction
and a sluggish recovery in the consumption market.
Furthermore, several real estate enterprises faced financial
crisis, leading to frequent liquidity risks and further eroding
confidence in the real estate sector. According to the data
released by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2022,
the total sales area of commercial housing in 2022 amounted
to approximately 1.36 billion square meters (“sg.m.”),
representing a decrease of approximately 24.3% as compared
with that of the previous year. In terms of monetary value, the
housing decreased by
approximately 26.7% to approximately RMB13.3 ftrillion as
compared with that of the previous year. Besides, the total
investment in the real estate sector in 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB13.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 10.0%. The data illustrated that the
sales and investment performance of real estate market were
weakened.

sales volume of commercial

To alleviate the impact of the sluggish real estate market, the
government has prioritised to ensure the delivery of properties.
In addition, the government has taken significant steps to relax
financing channels for real estate enterprises, and introduce
supportive policies for bond financing, credit financing, and
equity financing to promote reasonable financing and alleviate
financial pressure of real estate enterprises. Monetary policy
has also been further eased with two reserve requirement ratio
cuts and three interest rate cuts, leading to a decrease in
mortgage rates and improving liquidity for real estate
enterprises. Furthermore, regulatory measures have been
relaxed, with numerous cities in China improving their home
purchase restriction policies. Nevertheless, “houses are being
built to be inhabited but not for speculation” remains the key
direction that will not be compromised. The central government
will continue to support local governments in implementing
differentiated policies to stabilise the real estate market.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FEHRE A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Given the challenging market environment, the Group has
maintained a cautious and low-leverage approach while
improving turnover and liquidity. The strategic directions of the
Group focused on ensuring financial soundness and promoting
efficient operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, (“FY2022”"), the Group
recorded an approximately 57.7% year-on-year decrease in
revenue to approximately RMB571.2 million. The revenue from
sale of properties was mainly contributed by Million Cities
Legend Phase 3 in Huizhou, but was lower than that of the
revenue recognised in the previous year, which was mainly
contributed by Million Cities Tycoon Places Phases 3 and 4 in
Tianjin, and from the sale of Crown Grand Court villas in
Huizhou. Furthermore, share of profits less losses of associates
for FY2022 decreased to approximately RMB42.8 million as
only one project, namely Dragon Terrace Phase 2 in Huizhou,
was completed for delivery during FY2022. In comparison, two
projects, namely Dragon Terrace Phase 1 in Huizhou and
Dragon Palace Phase 1 Section 1 and Section 2 in Henan
Province, were completed for delivery for the year ended 31
December 2021 (“FY2021”). The net profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB69.2 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 58.4%. For FY2022, the Group achieved an
aggregated contracted sales value of approximately RMB487.0
million with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
40,800 sg.m., which was mainly attributable to the pre-sale of
Million Cities Legend Phase 3 and the Jade Terrace in Huizhou
as well as Dragon Palace Sections 4 and 5 in Henan.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FE®HE A

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking forward, in 2023, the easing of pandemic prevention
and control measures is anticipated to spur a rapid economic
recovery, which will further bolster consumer confidence in
economic growth. The government has gradually relaxed
funding restrictions on real estate enterprises to meet their
reasonable financing needs. This is expected to relieve the tight
cash flow of real estate developers to some extent and rebuild
the confidence of property buyers. With the development of
urbanisation, the rigid demand for basic and improvement
housing and will
development opportunities for healthy real estate enterprises.
Nonetheless, the improvement of the real estate industry
ultimately hinges on sales performance. While sales growth has
been improved in early 2023 as compared with previous
periods, sustained market growth is necessary to achieve a
true recovery.

remains strong, provide favourable

The Group primarily focuses on property development in the
Great Bay Area, particularly the city of Huizhou. With the rapid
development of the 9+2 cities agglomeration in Huizhou (F& /M
# [@0+23 1), the construction of the urban 2+1 modern
industrial clusters (¥ 2+13R K E # &£ F¥) and 3+7 industrial
parks (3+7 L% & &) construction has achieved significant
progress. Huizhou is entering a new phase of high-quality and
efficient development, which is favourable for the future growth
of the Group.

In addition, the Group will remain committed to exploring and
pursuing promising business opportunities, including investing in
sustainable development projects, so as to create long-term
value for our Shareholders and potential investors.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEWRE (#H)
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HE B E @&
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HE B E @&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt % Bl iR

2022 2021 Increase/(Decrease)
20224 20214 =,/ Ch )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
NEeSn AR®Tr  ARETR %
Revenue g A 571,183 1,348,501 (777,318) -57.7%
Cost of sales AT PEEIER) (1,085,122) (739,029) -71.4%
Gross profit =7 275,090 313,379 (38,289) -12.2%
Valuation gains on investment BREMEHERS
properties 17,093 28,046 (10,953) -39.1%
Other net income Hfth W A5 58 6,458 5,174 1,284 24.8%
Selling expenses HERZ (35,021) (44,804) (9,783) -21.8%
Administrative expenses TR (63,368) (66,651) (3,283) -4.9%
Other expenses Hipf % (1,410) (1,547) (137) -8.9%
Profit from operations mERF 198,842 233,597 (34,755) -15%
Finance costs A& KA (4,622) (23,845) (19,223) -80.6%
Share of profit/(losses) JE G B & A A
of associates A, (E1E) 42,835 79,810 (36,975) -46.3%
Profit before taxation BB A 0% A 237,055 289,562 (52,507) -18.1%
Income tax FiE% (122,615) (102,280) 20,335 19.9%
Profit for the year F R T 114,440 187,282 (72,842) -38.9%
Profit for the year attributable to equity 7K 72 &) 25 i 3R
shareholders of the Company JE 1t F P ) 166,381 (97,203) -58.4%

ZZ = ZFF% « Annual Report 2022

BiHIZRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN (&)

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income from the sale
of properties and gross rentals from properties earned during
the year, net of sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue from sale of properties has constituted, and is
expected to continue to constitute, a majority of the Group’s
total revenue.

Property development

()

(i)

Contracted sales

For FY2022, the Group continued the pre-sale of Jade
Terrace Phases 1 and 2, Dragon Palace Phase 1 Section
3, Phase 2 Section 4 and Section 5, as well as the sale
of Million Cities Legend Phase 3, Legend Plaza, Million
Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3 and the villas of Crown
Grand Court. Total properties contracted sales (based on
GFA of sales consent), including sale of properties by the
associates of the Group, amounted to approximately
RMB487.4 million, representing a GFA of approximately
40,800 sg.m. sold during FY2022.

Land bank

As at 31 December 2022, the total GFA of the Group’s
land bank was approximately 1,581,176 sqg.m., out of
which (i) approximately 409,997 sg.m. GFA was unsold
completed properties projects; (i) approximately 154,425
sg.m. GFA was unsold and under construction; and (iii)
approximately 1,016,754 sg.m. GFA was reserved for
future development.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
5 R D ()

EEE

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
properties held for future development sorted by development
projects as at 31 December 2022:

TREHAREFR022F12A31BILEEER
BB EREAEENYERE

Ownership
interest of the
Group as at
31 December Estimated
No. Project Location Site area Planned GFA 2022 Type completion date
120225
12A318
HhEsE
E EH e HEER RUBEER RERER H7 fEHRIRS
(sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)
(FHX) (ERHK) (%)
Development projects held for future development
KEAZRRHRERR
1 Million Cities International Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 60,978 240,558 100 Residential and ~ TBC
Phases 4 and 5 Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
ERERDALTH PEEREEMNTEBEAKEESR FERBZ E
2 Milion Cities Royal Court Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 47,679 150,475 545 Residential and 2026
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
ENEELE FEEREBMNTEREAKEER TEREE 20065
3 Milion Cities Tonghu Centre Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone, Gaoxin 55,596 388,712 50  Commercial 2026
District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
BHERRL PEEREEMMERTERENEREEER Bx 20065
4 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 57,792 65,858 30 Residential and ~ TBC
Section VI & VI Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC commercial
BEE-H PEARERSERTENERE EEREZ #E
ERRELRR
5 Dragon Palace Phase 3 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 95,084 171,151 30 Commercial TBC
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
BEE=S PETEERSERTENERE [EES e
Sub-total 317,129 1,016,754
b

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWR DN &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
properties under development sorted by development projects

as at 31 December 2022:

TREHAREFR022F12A31HILEREIER
B MERTYERE

Unsold Ownership interest

GFA under of the Group as at

Estimated

No. Project Location Site area development 31 December 2022  Type completion date
20225
12R318
BRPRE ik
&% EH W BEER BEER EHEES EH fEHAIRE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(EFK) (EFHRK) (%)
Development projects under development
ERPHNERER
6 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, Zhumadian, 63,576 86,185 30  Residential May 2023 to
Section IV & V Henan Province, the PRC October 2023
BRE—H PEEERRER TEMERA E 2023553 %
EMRELRR 2023510
7 Jade Terrace Phase 1 No. 181 Xingfa Road, Tonggiao Town, Gaoxin District, 38,167 50,442 30  Residential and  June 2023
and Phase 2 Zhongkai, Huizhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC commercial
BRRAE-E_H PEEREENMERNEEERARABISN EEREZ 202356A
8 Dragon Palace Phase 1 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, Zhumadian, 24,268 17,798 30  Residential March 2023
Section Il Henan Province, the PRC
TEE-BEZER PETEEEEERTENERE =% 2023537
Sub-total 126,011 154,425
At

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE

5 R D ()

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
completed development projects as at 31 December 2022:

TREH AR EBR2022F12A31 B B % T A3

RIEHOHE

Ownership interest

of the Group as at

No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 31 December 2022 Type
H2022F12A318
& EE % HRER FEREER AKEEEEER 8
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FHK) (FHK) (%)
Completed development projects
ERTHEEHRR
9 Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3  Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 46,462 10,001 55 Residential
Wuging District, Tianjin,
the PRC
BREFE=E TEXETRAR TARGRTER Tz
10 Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4  Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 28,612 7,743 55 Residential
Wuaing District, Tianjin,
the PRC
ERREmE FERRTRERTALGRTER TE=x
11 Million Cities International Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 50,671 25,901 100 Residential and
Phases 1 to 3 Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
EHEE-2=4 TEEREBMNTEERAKOER FEREX
12 Million Cities Legend Phases 1 to 3 Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 89,899 82,177 54.5 Residential and
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
EHEE-2=H TEEREBEMNTERERAKAER EERAEE
13 Sunshine New Court Renmin South 4th Road, Shuikou Town, 32,109 13,500 95.39 Residential and
Phases 1 and 2 Huicheng District, Huizhou, commercial
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
GrFiE—BR_8 FEEREBMTEARKOGE EEREXE
AREMmE
14 Million Cities Tycoon Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 84,808 16,176 55 Residential
Places 1 and 2 Wuaing District, Tianjin,
the PRC
ERE—HBR_-H FERRTRERTALGRTER FE
15 Crown Grand Court No. 8 Hesheng Road, Shuikou Town, 43,929 11,769 100 Residential and
Huicheng District, Huizhou, commercial
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
LERE FEEREBMTERRKOLGE FERhE%
CEFNELEH
T

=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWR DN &)

TREH AR EFR2022F12A31H 5% T Y3
RIEBENHE: (&)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
completed development projects as at 31 December 2022:

18

(Continued)
Ownership interest
of the Group as at
No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 31 December 2022 Type
R2022F12A318 1
EE EH it B HEREE AEEEER AKEEERER 85
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(F75K) (F75K) (%)
Completed development projects (Continued)
BREINZEER (&)
16 Dragon Terrace Phase 1 and No. 188 Xingfa Road, Tonghu Ecological 94,891 132,463 50 Residential and
Phase 2 Intelligent Zone, Gaoxin District, commercial
Zhongkai, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
REA—HR-H HEEREBMMESHEEMN EEREXE
EREERAZNEI88H
17 Dragon Palace Phase 1 Section | South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 65,166 9,715 30 Residential
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
RRE-HE-RR HETEERSERTHENERE FE
18 Dragon Palace Phase 1 Section Il South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 54,284 13,055 30 Residential
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
RRE-HE_RR HETEERSERTHENERE FE
19 Legend Plaza Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, Wuging 39,756 87,497 55 Commercial
District, Tianjin, the PRC
REES PEXETREBRTREHETER [EES
Sub-total 630,487 409,997
/J\ §—|-
Total 1,073,627 1,581,176
it

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWE D&

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2022:

No.
iR 5

Address
3k

B

Description and tenure

R &

TREHAREFR2022F12 AT AR EMER

Particulars of occupancy

ERFER

23

24

—=— —

=

A portion of a composite
development, namely Yuehu Ju,
located at No. 39 Xiajiao East
Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

TEEREEMNERE T ARE
B9 Ar A R IR B MM JE M) — &

)

A portion of a commercial

development, namely Port Vehicle
Inspection Yard Office Building,
located at Huifeng 2nd Road,
Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

TEERABMERESER K
MEERBABREIERBSM
VN E:0Rat=i5s)

FED o Annual Report 2022

The property comprises a portion
of a retail development with a
total gross floor area of
approximately 1,678.17 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 4 March 2074 for
composite residential use.
ZMEBREREERELD
1,678 17 F RN TEERZD -

ARSI i D
20743 A4H @ W - (FIR B E
ERH% -

The property comprises a portion
of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 443.99 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 1 November 2042 for
commercial use.

%) K B 4B 2 ST 18 £9443.99
FHANBEEERALD

AR Tt AR
204211 A1H [@im - fErg %
A& o

The property was completed in
about November 2005 and is
currently available for leasing.

% W) % 2 2006911 A A 12 3%
T BATAIHAEE -

The property was completed in
about September 2006 and is
currently available for retail and
office leasing.

24 % 2 A20064F9 A B 18 1%
T BRIAHZSEERBRLEMR
1=

=5 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEENWE D &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s F&REIIANEEP20226F12HA31BIREDED

investment properties as at 31 December 2022: (Continued) WME: (&)

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy

fim 5% #h 31 BR & 5 =S

25 A portion of Unit A2001, Million The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
Cities International located at of a commercial development with about March 2013 and is
Baiyunkeng, Huiyang District, a total gross floor area of currently available for leasing.
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, approximately 1,637.84 sg.m.
The PRC

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 11 January 2048 for
commercial use and expiring on
10 January 2078 for residential

use.
TEEREREBEMNTERRAEN ZVFEREREEEY 2 ¥ B R20135F3 8 Al & R
B HA20015% 78 4 1) — B8 1,637 84F TRMAERERAD - T BATAIHHEE -

HEM RN T REDER
ER ¥ AR R2048E1 A11A B
W EEER B M R2078%F1 H10

ENEp
26 Unit A2002, Million Cities The property comprises a portion The property was completed in

International, located at of a commercial development with about March 2013 and is
Baiyunkeng, Huiyang District, a total gross floor area of currently available for leasing.
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, approximately 1,765.61 sqg.m.
The PRC

The land use rights of the subject

site were granted for a term

expiring on 11 January 2048 for

commercial use and expiring on

10 January 2078 for residential

use.
FEEFREAEMNTESEAES ZVECRERERELD ZYEDR2013F3A i &%
Bk A20025% 7 &8 1,765.61 F RV EEERSN D T Bl #HHEE-

BN T FERAEC &R
ER ¥ A B N2048F1 A11HE
W EEER B8 R2078F1 10
HEm e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEN@WE DN &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s F&REIIANEEP20226F12A31BIREDED

investment properties as at 31 December 2022: (Continued) ME: (&)

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy

fm 55 #h 31 BR & & 8 LAFE

27 Unit 12 and Gate 1-101 The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
on Podium level (Zone 5 & 15) of of a commercial development with about July 2022 and is currently
Block 11 of Legend Plaza, a total gross floor area of available for leasing.
South of Jiahe Road, approximately 3,024.12 sqg.m.
Xiazhuzhuang Street,
Wuqing District, Tianjin The land use rights of the subject

site were granted for a term

expiring on 13 June 2053 for

commercial use.
RETRER TAREERTER ZVFELREREMBELD ZE B R2022F7 A i &%
B2 FE RS — 1R E 12, 3,024 12F A RKNEEZERESD - T BRIAIHHEAES-
1F3-101H =5 215

RN T RSB

ER ¥ A% - R2053F6A13H

i m e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN (&)

(i) Revenue

Revenue from sale of properties for FY2022 amounted to
approximately RMB568.1 million, as compared with
approximately RMB1,345.4 million reported for FY2021,
representing a decrease by approximately 57.7%.
Revenue recognised for FY2022, was mainly contributed
by Million Cities Legend Phase 3 in Huizhou, but was
lower than that of the revenue from Million Cities Tycoon
Places Phases 3 and 4 in Tianjin, which were completed
for delivery in FY2021, and from the sale of Crown Grand
Court villas in Huizhou.

Rental income

Gross rental income from investment properties and inventories
for FY2022 remained stable at approximately RMB3.1 million,
as compared to that of FY2021, i.e. approximately RMB3.1
million.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for FY2022 was approximately RMB296.1 million,
as compared with approximately RMB1,035.1 million reported
last year, representing a decrease by approximately 71.4%. The
decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to decrease in
revenue from sale of properties.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit for FY2022 was approximately RMB275.1
million, as compared with approximately RMB313.4 million
reported last year, representing a decrease by approximately
12.2%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in sales revenue as mentioned above. Nevertheless,
the magnitude of decrease was lower than that of revenue (i.e.
57.7%), mainly due to the improvement of gross profit margin.

The gross profit margin for FY2022 increased to approximately
48.2% (FY2021: 23.2%). The increase was mainly due to higher
gross profit margin recorded for the Huizhou project i.e. Million
Cities Legend Phase 3, as compared with the projects in
Tianjin, i.e. Million Cities Tycoon Places Phases 3 and 4, which
was attributable to different sales and costs structures in
different locations.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(i) A
022N - AEBEHEMERMFEK
A ANREES681B T » 820218 R F [E
EHROHARBEI3454E TR P 8D
57.7% ° 20220 M F E R B A X E
EBEMEN A EZH - (B K202181
HEFERIRNHREZERER=Z8K
M RHEEBMNETRBAIENRKA R
1’ o

HE WA

2022 BEFEMNREMERFENEE WA
R 2021 FE K AR08 TREFF
B ARSARKEIIOETT -

BHE R A

20220 R FF E MY SH B I A X B A R ¥62.96118
T BREFE2MOHARE10351EBETR DL
71.4% - SHERARL T EEHARWEHEEK
N

EMNREFNR

2022 M FE M EMLD B ARBE2.751{E T -
REF2ZHOHOARBIAME TR 2 &
12.2% @ TERANHE R AR D (18 XA
at) - MR R B A (BI57.7% ) RIEETE= A
REMERIESHIE -

202281 B JE #) T B & 38 00 = 4948.2% (2021
MIFE 282%) c EFEREBMEZLHRT
R EERKALEEEZR  SMNEE SR
LEZHHESENENESNRREEE 8HE
S=HI R -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEREENWE DN A

Valuation gains on investment properties

Valuation gains for FY2022 was approximately RMB17.1 million
(FY2021: RMB28.0 million), representing a decrease by
approximately 39.1%. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease in the number of additional commercial shops
held for leasing purpose, from two located in Huiyang in
FY2021, to one located in Tianjin in FY2022.

Other net income

Other net income for FY2022 was approximately RMB6.5
million, as compared with approximately RMB5.2 million for
FY2021, representing an increase by approximately 24.8%,
which was mainly due to the increase in interest income from
loan receivable during FY2022.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for FY2022 were approximately RMB35.0
million, as compared with approximately RMB44.8 million
reported in FY2021, representing a decrease by approximately
21.8%. The decrease in selling expenses was mainly due to (i)
the decrease in sale of properties; and (i) lower commission
incurred for the sale of the Huizhou projects, namely Million
Cities Legend Phase 3 in FY2022 as compared to that of
Tianjin project, namely Million Cities Tycoon Places Phases 3
and 4, in FY2021.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for FY2022 were approximately
RMB63.4 million, as compared with approximately RMB66.7
million reported for FY2021, representing a slight decrease by
approximately 4.9%.

Share of profits less losses of associates

Share of profits losses of associates amounted to
approximately RMB42.8 million for FY2022, as compared with
approximately RMB79.8 million for FY2021,
decrease by approximately 46.3% as only one project, namely
Dragon Terrace Phase 2 in Huizhou, was completed for
delivery during FY2022. In comparison, two projects, namely
Dragon Terrace Phase 1 in Huizhou and Dragon Palace Phase
1 Section 1 and Section 2 in Henan province, were completed
for delivery during FY2021.

less

representing a

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

Finance costs

Finance costs for FY2022 were approximately RMB4.6 million,
as compared with approximately RMB23.8 million for FY2021,
representing a decrease by approximately 80.6% due to (i) the
recognition of significant financing component costs incurred
from the delivery of Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4 during
the period between completion of such project in January
2021 and delivery thereof in May 2021 (no such significant
financing component costs were incurred during FY2022); and
(i) the repayment of a bank loan of approximately RMB160.0
million during FY2022.

Income tax

For FY2022, income tax was approximately RMB122.6 million,
representing a increase of approximately RMB20.3 million, as
compared with income tax of approximately RMB102.3 million
for FY2021, mainly due to the increase in land appreciation
tax.

Profit for the year attributable to

equity shareholders of the Company

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for FY2022 was approximately RMB69.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB97.2 million or
approximately 58.4%, as compared with that of FY2021. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in profits from
subsidiaries and share of profits less losses of associates of
FY2022 as mentioned above.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEREENWE DN A

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and financial resources

For FY2022, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
mainly used in the Group’s business operations, to service the
Group’s indebtedness and to fund the Group’s working capital.
The Group financed its funding requirements mainly through a
combination of cash generated from operating activities and
borrowings. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December
2022 was approximately 10.9%, as compared with
approximately 23.7% as at 31 December 2021. Such decrease
was mainly due to the repayment of bank loans during
FY2022.

The gearing ratio is calculated as interest bearing bank loans
divided by equity.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, amounting to approximately RMB205.6 million,
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars (HK$) (20.9%)
and RMB(79.1%).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans which were
due for repayment are as follows:

H B 3% & %
RBEEREE R

022 E AKBERNBESEReEEME
ZAEASENERKEE BEEHREBHNE
BEES AEEFEBBLETIHAERER
BREMNESFTRK - REBER2022412H31H
HEEL XL AE10.9% - M2021F12H31H 4K
£23.7% ° R E B2 A R20228 BUF E &

BIRITTERTE

BELEENETBRITERF AR -

R2022512A31H » REEWMBE S RIELZE
W4 N R 2,056 T 0 £ B LAE 7T (20.9%)

RANREE(791% ) 511 °

2022F 12 A31H » REBREITE Z A 5 55

EEBRWMAT :

2022
202245
RMB’000
AR®TR

Within one year —F K
After one year but within two years —FREMENRN
After two years but within five years MEFRBEBRFA

38,400
120,000

158,400

Notes:
(@  The above amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment

dates set out in the relevant agreements and ignore the effect of
any repayment on demand clause.
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2021
20214
RMB’000
AR®ETT

164,099
38,400
120,000

322,499
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

(b) As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans were
denominated in RMB. The bank loans were interest-bearing at
one-year Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published by the People’s
Bank of China plus 1.95% per annum (31 December 2021:
one-year LPR plus 1.25% to 1.95% per annum).

() As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s certain bank loans were
secured by inventories with a total carrying amount of
approximately RMB381.1 million (31 December 2021: RMB424.8
million).

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on
financial risk management with the objective of: (i) ensuring that
appropriate funding strategies are adopted to meet the Group’s
short term and long term funding requirements taking into
consideration of the cost of funding, gearing ratios and cash
flow projections of the Group; and (i) ensuring that appropriate
strategies are also adopted to minimise the interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with
majority of the transactions settled in HK$ and RMB. Foreign
currency risk arises when future business transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. The Directors
consider that the Group’s foreign currency risk exposure is
minimal since all of the sales, assets and liabilities are
denominated in RMB and only a small portion of operating
expenses are denominated in HKS$.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
and cash at bank. Borrowings and cash at bank issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group did not enter into any
financial instruments to hedge against interest rate risk for
FY2022 but the Board will continue to closely monitor the
Group’s loan portfolio in order to manage the Group’s interest
rate risk exposure.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(b) F2022F12A31H  AEERIRITERUA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWE D&

Credit risk

As of 31 December 2022, no material trade debtors of the
Group were past due. The Group normally receives full
payment from buyers before delivering the property. For
mortgage sales without full settlement, the Group would not
deliver the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that the
respective mortgages have been approved. In addition, the
Group would not transfer titles of the properties to customers
until full amount of sale proceeds are received. Accordingly, the
Group is of the view that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were immaterial. Thus, no bad debt provision for trade
debtors was recognised during FY2022.

As at 31 December 2022, all the Group’s bank balances and
deposits were held with major financial institutions in Hong
Kong and the PRC which the Directors believe are of high
credit quality. The Directors do not expect any losses arising
from the non-performance by these financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms. The Group
has not experienced and does not expect to experience any
difficulties in meeting credit obligations when they fall due.

Capital expenditures

The Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately
RMB2.6 million for FY2022 which were mainly related to the
addition of electronic and other equipment. These capital
expenditures were fully financed by internal resources.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2022
amounted to approximately RMB4.6 million (31 December
2021: RMB155.4 million) which were mainly related to
development costs for the Group’s properties under
development.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s inventories with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB381.1 million
(81 December 2021: RMB424.8 million) were pledged to banks
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

Contingent liabilities

During FY2022, the Group has issued guarantees to banks to
secure the mortgage arrangements of certain property buyers.
The outstanding guarantees to the banks, amounted to
approximately RMB597.7 million as at 31 December 2022
(81 December 2021: RMB223.0 million), will be terminated
upon completion of transferring the legal title of the properties
to the property buyers. The Directors consider loss arising from
these guarantees as a result of default payment by customers
to be insignificant, as the banks have the rights to sell the
properties and recover the outstanding loan balance from sale
proceeds.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as their fair values are considered to be
insignificant.

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals
During FY2022, the Company did not have any significant
investments, acquisitions and disposals.

Provision of loan

On 5 May 2022, Huizhou China Field, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Lender”) as lender, an
independent third party as the borrower (the “Borrower”) and
Mr. Wong Ting Chung, the Chairman and an executive Director
as guarantor entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lender has agreed to grant
the loan in the principal amount of RMB96,500,000 to the
Borrower for a term of 3 years. In addition, Mr. Wong Ting
Chung agreed to provide personal guarantee to the Borrower in
favour of the Lender.

Prior to entering into the Loan Agreement, the Group has

conducted credit risk assessment on the Borrower and Mr.
Wong Ting Chung.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEREENWE DN A

The interest rate of 4% per annum of the Loan was agreed
length
negotiations, with reference to the annual interest income
derived from the Group’s current agreement deposits and the
market estimated long-term agreement deposits, which are at
the range of approximately 1.5% to 2.75% per annum, as well
as the subscription of the non-convertible preference shares of
the Company, which if materialised, would be approximately
3.6% per annum. Therefore, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that
although the entering into of the Loan Agreement is not in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, the terms
of the Loan Agreement (including its interest rate of 4% per
annum) are entered into on normal commercial terms and are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

between the Lender and the Borrower at arm’s

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 5 May 2022 and 25 May 2022.

Events after balance sheet date
The Group has no significant event subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Operating segment information

The Group’s revenue and results for FY2022 were derived from
property development. Performance assessment is based on
the results of the Group as a whole. Therefore, management of
the Group considers there is only one operating segment.

The geographic information is disclosed in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for allocation of
resources and performance assessment.

Human resources and emolument policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 130 (2021:
200) full-time employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. For
FY2022, the total staff costs, including the directors’
emoluments, amounted to approximately RMB41.8 million
(2021: RMB48.8 million), of which approximately RMB13.5
million (31 December 2021: RMB16.0 million) were capitalised
into inventories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance and experience of individual employee and are in
line with the salary trends in Hong Kong and the PRC. Other
employee benefits include performance-linked bonuses,
insurance and medical coverage and share options.

Since human resources management is an important factor in
maintaining and enhancing the Group’s strong expertise in the
property development, the Group will provide appropriate
training programs to the employees as the Group sees fit. From
time to time, different on-the-job trainings will be provided to
employees in order to ensure continuous staff development and
skills upgrading.

Remuneration policy of Directors and senior
management

The Directors and senior management of the Group receive
compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations.
The remuneration committee will regularly review and determine
the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things,
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management and the performance of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERE

REEEBESF

Chairman and executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (E ) BBS, JP, aged 61, has been
the Chairman, a member of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee since
November 2016. He was re-designated as an executive
Director and was appointed as a member of the Executive
Committee with effect from 1 April 2021. Mr. Wong is the
founder of the Group, and is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning and business direction of the Group.

a non-executive Director,

Mr. Wong has over 19 years of experience in property
investment, property development and management. He
established his business through Huizhou China Field, a project
company engaged in the construction and sale of high quality
residential complexes, in 2003 and was responsible for overall
management of the company. Mr. Wong assumed various
directorships in Nameson and Nameson Group, where he
served as the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
board of directors of Nameson from August 2015 to March
2021.

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Yee Tong Ye College (&
B HBEFE) in 1978. Mr. Wong is currently a Hong Kong
member of the 14th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (B A RIBUA &
@EFETNEL2BEZE®) and the chief president of Hong
Kong Industrial and Commercial Association General Chamber
Executive Committee (B8 LA TETHITEZEE). He
served as a delegate of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the
PRC (FEARANBEEEFTREE T -_RET=ZE2H
ARREARE). Mr. Wong is brother-in-law of Mr. Lau Ka
Keung. Mr. Lau Ka Keung is an executive Director.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

FERPTES

FTEBE4EBBS JP 615k H2016F11 A8 &
FNITES TE REZESKFWNEES
B - BR2021F41HATARNITES I
BZERMTEZEGKE - TXRERAEHEE
MA FTEBEFAEERERBRAERELS
&t o

TRECMERE VEERLAEEHIEHE
B19FE By o HM2003F B BEMER (K E
BEEREEEEFELRABENER AR $
VER AEZLARNEEBEE - THAAETR

HiEkEEEEELSS 1I%$Haﬂzu'ﬁ¢m
20158 A £2021F3 A E =T EIEMITBAAE
REETEXRE -

FTRAEMITBFERENBAEHBRTE - Tt
ERBRTEARBAHEEZRE THRES
HZzEedsttRZENEEIHASTEE
EHTREEERER REHEPEARK
MEEERINTHREE T - RE+=ZE2H
ARREXRERKR - TRERBERBELENNT
M- BREBEERATES -

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited

31



32

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEEEFFE (#A)

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (X&) BBS, MH, JP, aged 47, is an
executive Director, the chairman of the Executive Committee
and the chief executive officer of the Company. He was
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee with effect on 18 June 2021. Mr. Lau is
responsible for execution of strategic planning and general
management of the Group.

Mr. Lau has served as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Million Cities Development Limited since
August 2016. From January 2006, Mr. Lau has assumed
various directorships in the Group, including China Lands
Investments Limited, Join Kong, Cheer Happy, Huizhou Cheer
Happy, Huizhou China Field and Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lau held
several positions in the Nameson Group from August 1999 to
March 2013, including information technology manager, vice
president, and executive director. From August 2015 to April
2018, Mr. Lau served as a non-executive director in Nameson.
Mr. Lau has been serving as an independent non-executive
director of two other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, namely OrbusNeich Medical Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6929) since December 2022 and
Tianjin Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 882) since
March 2023.

Mr. Lau received his bachelor’'s degree in information
technology from Manchester Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom in July 1997 and obtained his master’'s degree in
business administration from University of Leicester, the United
Kingdom in July 2008. Mr. Lau is currently a delegate of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to the 14th National
People’s Congress of the PRC (1 # A R £ FEEF B4 BITTHK
EETHE2EARMKEKXAKXE), an executive committee
member of the 15th Tianjin Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (T Bl A RBUAH R &3 K%
MEFTREEHEZEE) and the vice chairman of Tianjin
Federation of Industry and Commerce (XEH LR ¥4 ).
Mr. Lau had served as a member of the 13th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUGHEEZE T =-E2HZEE), an
executive member of the 13th of All China Youth Federation
(FE2HESFHEGFT-EFTHKELEE) as well as the
Chairman of the 28th Hong Kong United Youth Association.
Mr. Lau is brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Ting Chung. Mr. Wong
Ting Chung is the Chairman and a non-executive Director (later
re-designated as an executive Director with effect on 1 April
2021).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Z#iE), aged 56, is the chief
financial officer and company secretary of the Company. He
was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee with effect on 26 August 2021. Mr. Li is
responsible for overseeing financial management, formulating
financial strategies and managing company secretarial matters
of the Company.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in finance management. Prior
to joining the Group, he held senior finance positions in various
multi-national corporations either listed in the United States of
America, Australia, Japan or Hong Kong. Mr. Li earns his
exposures in different industries including property,

manufacturing, logistics, energy as well as banking.

Mr. Li received his master degree in E-Business from City
University of Hong Kong in 2002 and master degree in
business administration from University of Warwick in United
Kingdom in 1997. He is also a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of each of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (¥ & %) GBS, JP, aged 71, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ip is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. lp is currently serving as independent non-executive
director of six other companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008, Lai Sun
Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since
December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) since October 2011, Nameson since
April 2018 and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code:
3309) since November 2020. Mr. Ip also served as an
independent non-executive director of Synergis Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various
positions in The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, such as Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services,
Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in September 1973, and
he subsequently completed the program for management
development at Harvard University Graduate School of
Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001 and he was appointed as an unofficial Justice of the
Peace in July 2007.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Mr. Li Yinquan (Z5| &), aged 67, is an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li is responsible for providing independent opinion and
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in financial management. He
served as an executive director of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 144)) from June 2001 to March 2015 and as a
non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3968) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600036)) from April 2001 to June 2016. He was an
executive director of China Merchants China Direct Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 133)) from July 2008 to April 2017, an
independent non-executive director of LIZHI INC. (a company
listed on the NASDAQ stock exchange (stock code: LIZI)) from
January 2020 to June 2021 and an independent non-executive
director of Kimou Environmental Holding Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
6805) from June 2019 to December 2022. He is currently
serving as an independent non-executive director of three other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely Genertec Universal Medical Group Company Limited
(stock code: 2666, formerly known as Universal Medical
Financial and Technical Advisory Services Company Limited)
since June 2015, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1001) since July 2018, and China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (stock code: 6818) (the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601818)) since June
2020.
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Throughout the significant years of employment with certain
Hong Kong listed companies, Mr. Li has performed duties
including supervising on the listed companies’ financial
management, involved in various types of transactions in
relation to the Listing Rules and reviewing and analysing
audited financial statements of listed companies. Mr. Li has
gained relevant experience in, including but not limited to, (i)
review and preparation of comparable and/or audited financial
statements of Hong Kong listed companies; (i) review of
internal control systems; and (iii) analysis of financial statements
and information of Hong Kong listed companies. Moreover, Mr.
Li has also obtained vast experience in collaborating and
dealing with internal and external auditors regarding the
supervision of internal financial controls and the auditing of
financial statements.

Mr. Li received his bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (Pt 78 Bf 4 £ %) in
July 1983. He subsequently obtained his master’s degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (FEREBRE D 2 @M EZP) (formerly known as
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (B A REE1T
BITERATISAT) in July 1986. In October 1988, Mr. Li
obtained his master’'s degree in banking and finance for
development from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. In August
1989, he was accredited as senior economist by the Appraisal
and Approval Committee for Professional & Technical
Qualification of the Agricultural Bank of China.
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Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas (FR¥I£) vH, JP, aged 49, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan is responsible for
providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Melbourne,
Australia, in 1997 with a degree of Bachelor of Laws and a
degree of Bachelor of Science (Computer Science). Mr. Chan
was admitted as a solicitor in the High Court of Hong Kong in
May 1999. He was also admitted as a solicitor of Australia
Capital Territory, the State of Victoria in Australia and England
and Wales in June 1997, October 2000 and October 2007
respectively. He is currently a partner of an international law
firm, namely Squire Patton Boggs. He is also a China
Appointed Attesting Officer.

Mr. Chan has been a member of the Hospital Governing
Committee of Castle Peak Hospital and Siu Lam Hospital since
1 April 2019. Since May 2022, he has been the director
leading the operations of the Asian-African Hong Kong
Regional Arbitration Centre which operates under the auspices
of Asian-African Legal Consultative Organisation, a 47-member
inter-government organisation composed most countries in Asia
and Africa. He is also currently a delegate of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region to the 14th National People’s
Congress of the PRC (FZEAREMBEEFERFFI1THREFE + Y
fE 2 B AR EKAE), a non-official member of Committee on
Innovation, Technology and Industry Development and a non-
official member of Communications Authority of the government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, a court advisory
committee member of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and a council member of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. From December 2014 to May 2019,
Mr. Chan was a council member of the Law Society of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan was awarded with Medal of Honour (MH) of
Hong Kong in 2016 and was appointed as Justice of the
Peace in July 2021.

Mr. Chan is currently serving as an independent non-executive
director of five other companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Sa Sa International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 178) since September 2019, Q P Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1412) since December 2019, Pangaea
Connectivity Technology Limited (stock code: 1473) since
January 2021, Genertec Universal Medical Group Company
Limited (stock code: 2666) since June 2022, and China
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144)
since December 2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of business of the
Group. The senior management team of the Group is as
follows:

Mr. Ying Ko Fuk (J8E18), aged 40, is the operation director
of the Group. Mr. Ying is responsible for managing the sales
and rental issues of all projects under the Group.

Mr. Ying has over 6 years of experience in operation
management of real estate projects. Mr. Ying joined the Group
in April 2017 and was responsible for operation management of
Million Cities Legend in Huizhou and subsequently in charge of
operations of all of the projects under the Group since 2021.
Prior to that, he served as a regional manager of AIA
International Limited.

Mr. Ying has served as an executive committee member of the
13th Huizhou Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (FEBIARBUG I EZ B MM E+=
fE % % % B @ £ 8), deputy director of the 2nd Youth
Committee of Huizhou Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment (BMMINERECEWEF _EEFLZESREE
) and vice president of the 8th Administrative Committee of
Huizhou Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (2
MisIEREHEEN\EEESEERK). Mr. Ying is the son-
in-law of Mr. Wong Ting Chung (an executive Director), and the
nephew-in-law of Mr. Lau Ka Keung (an executive Director).

Mr. Lu Binggian (EX#), aged 49, is the general manager of
Tianjin Jianji and Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou Million Cities”). Mr. Lu is
responsible for the overall management and operation of these
project companies.

Mr. Lu has over 15 vyears of experience in real estate
engineering construction. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2007. From August 2007 to March 2013, he worked as finance
manager in Huizhou Cheer Happy, where he was responsible
for financial and marketing management. Since May 2016, Mr.
Lu has served as the general manager of Tianjin Jianjin, where
he is responsible for the overall management of Tianjin Jianiji.
He has also served as the general manager of Huizhou Million
Cities since February 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEERERN B (&)

Ms. Yin Yezhen (F%¥), aged 47, is the director of cost
management of the Group. Ms. Yin is responsible for the
project cost management, contract management and
procurement management.

Ms. Yin has over 25 years of experience in construction
management and has been responsible for cost management
and measurement. Ms. Yin had been the assistant to the
general project manager of Crown Plaza Huizhou and Grand
Square Hotel Wuhu, both of which are owned by Mr. Wong
Ting Chung, and the manager of the cost department of
Sunshine New Court and Crown Grand Court of the Group
since July 2007, and was promoted to the director of cost
management of the Group in March 2020.

Ms. Yin holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering management
from the Dalian University of Technology, certification of Grade
One Constructor (construction engineering) and qualification
certificate for senior engineer in construction engineering
management.

Mr. Quan Jianxu (B Z 5F), aged 42, is the director of human
resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Quan is
responsible for human resources management, administration,
corporate culture management and government relations.

Mr. Quan has over 13 years of experience in human resources
and administrative management and he has been responsible
for human resource affairs and administrative operations. Mr.
Quan joined the Group in August 2016. Prior to that, from
June 2009 to May 2016, Mr. Quan served as the manager of
human resources department of Huizhou Huipeng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (EMEESHEMZEAER A F), and
was subsequently promoted to the human resources and
administrative director in November 2010.

Mr. Quan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Xi’an University of Technology (78 % 2 T X
) in June 2009. In November 2009, Mr. Quan was
recognised as human resources manager by the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC. In January
2014, he was accredited the title of intermediate economist by
the Huizhou personnel bureau.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

FEVRT 475 BASEBENKATEIR
E.FL+BEHAKAERE AHNEE MK
BEE-

FRTHREZERBTEHEB BT KR &
RAEIR NMETE o FL LHR2007F7A R HE
TERBEEHEANEMNETRAIE/E HEH
tHETEENTEB KRR ARIETASE
B M5 F 0 28 R I8 A A SRR - 722020
FIRAF LT EAZAEBEXNAE IR HBEE—
Hg%o

FEUIRAREBTAENFEIREEREERS
TR YHE-MEEMES(RETIRESR
) BEIREESKAIREMESE -

EE*—’H‘EE 4255 RASBEN AN ERITH
MEE -EELBEANEREE TH &
%Xftﬁﬁ&ﬂzﬁﬁ%%

BEENANERRTRER T EER B3
FRE REEANEREFERITHREE - #
S £ R20165F8A MAKNE B - jn AKX & E
Al - 120096 H £20165F57 » A AEEEE
MEBEEHEREFRARNANERIBMA
K12 HIER2010F 11 A EAE AN BR KT
ARES -

A ER2009F6 AN AL T AEME THE
FEIBEB L BA] o P2009F 11 A LR AERE
ANEBERMTEREDBRATABANERE R
Bl o R2014F1 A HEBSEMNASZTBERAT A
AR AR KO R o

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited

39



40

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEEEFFE (#A)

Mr. Huang Daode (E &), aged 51, is the director of design
of the Group. Mr. Huang is responsible for product research
and design management of the property development projects
of the Group.

Mr. Huang has over 19 years of experience in project design
management. Mr. Huang joined the Group in December 2016.
Prior to that, from May 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Huang also
worked as chief architect and project manager of Shenzhen
Huayang International Engineering Design Co., Ltd. (& Yl T &
5 BB T2 R a9 B BR A 7)), where he was responsible for
project management. From March 2003 to May 2011, Mr.
Huang served as chief architect and project handler of
Shenzhen Urbanspace Planning and Architectural Design Co.,
Ltd. ORIIEB T ZEEFZRETERABR A R). From May 1997 to
February 2003, Mr. Huang served as an architect of Shenzhen
Huasen Architectural & Engineering Designing Consultants Ltd.

(RYIEZRRESR TR ENAR LA,

Mr. Huang obtained his college diploma in real estate
economics and administration from Huazhong Normal University
(ZEPEHE K E) in June 1993, and he received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical
University (784t T % X 2) in July 2016 by distant learning.

Ms. Hong Chunni (3#&3E), aged 42, is the director of finance
in mainland China of the Group. Ms. Hong is responsible for
financial management, budgeting and taxation of the Group.

Ms. Hong has more than 16 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Ms. Hong joined the Group in February 2014. She
served as the finance manager of Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. from February 2014 to July 2017 and served as the
finance manager of Huizhou China Field from August 2017 to
April 2020, where she was responsible for financial
management and taxation planning. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Hong served as a finance manager of a subsidiary of
Nameson Group from July 2006 to January 2014. She served
as the auditing team leader of Huizhou Zhengda Accountant
Firm Co., Ltd. from May 2005 to June 2006.

Ms. Hong received her bachelor’s degree in management from
Huizhou University (/N2 F7) in June 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can
create value for its Shareholders, the Board is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices by
placing strong emphasis on a quality Board, sound internal
controls and effective accountability to the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the mandatory code provisions set out in the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code and
aligns with the latest developments.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises that a good corporate culture is vital to
its corporate governance and has gradually developed a
pragmatic and prudent corporate culture since its
establishment, which has been reflected in the overall
operations and management of the Group, in order to facilitate
the long-term sustainability of the Group. The Group is
committed to acting with the highest standards of integrity and
ethics, maintaining business ethics and honesty, fully and
accurately implementing the core values of integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality, and ethical business practices of the
Group. In order to establish a healthy corporate culture and
promote high ethical standards within the Group, the Group
has established an anti-corruption policy and an
whistle-blowing policy, which sets out, including but not limited
to, (i) the types of breaches and conduct issues, and the
personnel to which the policies apply; (i)
conflicting interests mechanisms; (iii) responsibilities of the
relevant department(s) of the Group; (iv) consequences for
breaching the relevant policies; and (v) whistle-blowing policy,
with an aim to encourage our employees to report behaviour
that is not in line with the principles of ethics and the Group’s
policy such as events that are non-compliant with the Group’s
policy, laws, rules, regulations, general practice of financial
reporting and internal control.

declaration of
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code for securities
transactions by the Directors.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the
relevant employees has been notified to the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s
management and performance and the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall policies and strategies.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties, including the (i) development and review of
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; and (ii) review of the Company’s compliance with
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosures in the
corporate governance report. All major decisions, including but
not limited to those decisions affecting the financial results,
operations and the Shareholders, such as financial statements,
business acquisitions, major transactions and dividend policies,
are made by the Board as a whole. Each Director is aware of
his fiduciary duties and duties and responsibilities as a director
under the Listing Rules, the CG Code and applicable laws and
regulations, and has acted objectively for the benefit and best
interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

EEETEZRINEESTH
AR R LR S+ FBR TR
ERARREERITESLRZNTA -

KARNRMERHEERE  2RESHER  H
F2022F12A31HILFE » HERTEETIZE
SFRIRARRNITASTRAREZE-

AR ASEARBEENEHEER RS
THEATERRBETAMBEREEENE
HiEsl - BREMEECEE —HEmMES -

H 22022 12A31H L FE - RARWEER
B EEREETIHEESINBR -

EEE

EEEeRE

REARRHEBERAMEAR EFEER
VHEE-—RENFEEEEARBNEERER
KRB AHERBRTANEENERBBRNLR

i o

EFeNBERITEXERRBE  BREOBIET
EBEARRNEEERABREER + M)k
AARBAERE T ETARBM S+ TOOERE
REXERABREANPEFTEH - —EARTE
PHEFSERFEL BRETRRY B R
®OEBURE EARSGEBEBREZEY
BREE KERBRRONBEERE -SEEFHH
AEMBRA - REERSTRERIEODERAR
TEFRAAENIEECLBGERBE X5
AR RBRROER RRENEEERITE -

Annual Report 2022 ¢« —Z = — 445



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EXERRE H)

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior
management through executive Directors. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and an independent senior
management team. The senior management team is also
responsible for the supervision and execution of the Group’s
business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance
of the senior management team.

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to
committees established by the Board. For details, please refer
to the sub-sections headed “Executive Committee”, “Audit
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee” and “Nomination
Committee” below.

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors whose names are listed below. Each member of the
Board brings a wide spectrum of valuable experience,
knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Wong Ting
Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung as disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical details of directors and members of
senior management” of this annual report, there is no financial,
business, family or other relevant relationship between the
Directors.
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The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules. A list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is also available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Board independence

Pursuant to code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Board
established mechanism(s) to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent
non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively participate
in the Board meetings; (i) the number of independent
non-executive Directors must comply with the requirement
under the Listing Rules; and (iii) the independent non-executive
Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their duties
as a Director. Furthermore, the Directors may access external
independent professional advice to assist their performance of
duties at the expense of the Company. The Board will review
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on
an annual basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

Having considered the factors for assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each
independent non-executive Director, the Board considers all of
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Terms of appointment of Directors

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
fixed term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either the relevant Director or the
Company.

contract for an initial

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the relevant
Director or the Company.

Nomination, appointment, re-election and removal
procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of
association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an additional Director shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his or her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

The Nomination Committee has been established on 26
November 2018 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board at least annually to ensure that the Board has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to meet
the requirements of the Company. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals who are qualified or suitable for
directorship, assess their qualifications, skills, prior experience,
character and other relevant aspects, including but not limited
to their independence in the case of an independent non-
executive Director candidate, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
or the filling of casual vacancies on the Board or any other
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies. Please refer to the sub-section headed
“Nomination Committee” below for more details on the
Nomination Committee.
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Board practices and conduct of meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings with notices of regular Board
meetings given or to be given at least 14 days in advance.
Notices and agenda of the Board meetings are prepared by the
company secretary of the Company as delegated by the
chairman. Directors are provided with adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. They are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and to voice out their views and
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and
given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

A Director who to his or her knowledge is in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or
proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall
declare the nature of his or her interest at the meeting of the
Board at which the question of entering into the contract or
arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he or she
knows his or her interest then exists, or in any other case, at
the first meeting of the Board after he or she knows that he or
she is or has become so interested. Subject to the articles of
association of the Company, a Director shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or other proposal in
which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
containing sufficient detail of the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed, are sent to each Director for their review,
comment and records within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.
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Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2022, four physical Board
meetings were held at which the Directors reviewed and
approved, among other things, (i) the annual results and report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021; (i) the
interim results and report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2022; (iii) the quarterly financial results of the
Group; and (iv) monitoring the project progress of the Group.
The attendance records of individual Directors at the
aforementioned Board meetings during FY2022, and at the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 10 June 2022 are
set out below:

EEged
HZE2022F12A31BLEFE EESERAMEKX
% BEENS LEMATIE(EFAREBE)UAT
EIE: ()\ANEBEHE021F12A31BIEEEZ
FEFHELRWME 5 ()A S BE# £202246H30
HIEANEAZHBHEERKRE : (IAEEZE
EHBEE: RIVEINAEENEEER - @
RlEER2022MBFERTHN LIESEE S
& R ARRA A R2022F6 A108 21T IR R A F
ARezHELsHImT :

Attendance/
Number of meetings
HERE EFRY
Annual
Board meetings general meeting

Name of Director BEEpA Ezggd BREFAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) TEREE(EE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BREBRE(TTHAEZ) 4/4 11
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Chief Financial Officer, &% (B /EH KEE

Company Secretary) RElHE) 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHBEL 4/4 1/1
Mr. Li Yinquan FEREE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PR B2 I 5 A4 4/4 1/1

To supplement the formal Board meetings, the Chairman held
regular meetings with Director(s) to consider issues in both
formal and informal settings.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ting Chung serves as the chairman of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group. With the support of the
executive Directors and the company secretary, the chairman
approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board meetings to ensure
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely
manner, including any matters proposed by other Directors. He
is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board,
including but not limited to taking steps to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings, providing all Directors with adequate information
which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely
manner, communicating Shareholders’ views to the Board as a
whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive
debate during Board meetings.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung serves as the chief executive officer of the
Company. He is responsible for the execution of the strategic
planning and general management of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 3 June 2019 with
written terms of reference approved and adopted by the Board
on the same date. The primary duties of the Executive
Committee include (but not limited to): (i) discussing and
making decisions on day to day management and operation
matters of the Group; (i) evaluating, determining and presenting
to the Board’s approval the Company’s funding requirement
and strategy; (iiij monitoring and overseeing the financial and
operational performance of the Group; and (iv) assessing and
making recommendations to the Board on major acquisitions of
or investments in business or projects. For year ended 31
December 2022, the Executive Committee consisted of all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chairman of the
Executive Committee), Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Li Wa
Tat,
Committee have been made available on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange.

Benedict. The terms of reference of the Executive
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the
accounting policies of the Group and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee consisted of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Yingquan (chairman of the Audit Committee who possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
and Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas. The written terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been made available on
the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the
website of the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee has
reviewed with the management of the Group the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Audit Committee held three physical meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2022. In these three meetings, the
Audit Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things,
() the accuracy and fairness of the Group’s audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and unaudited
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022; (i) the
work of the Group’s internal auditor; and (iii) the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The attendance records of individual Audit Committee members
at the aforementioned Audit Committee meetings are set out
below:

BRBHEEGNER LABHEEG O S
ZHEEERIIMT

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Audit Committee member B ZEERERS FBERY

Mr. Li Yinquan (Chairman) o\ RAEE(EE) 3/3

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen B2 LA 3/3

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PeR R U 5 A 3/3
Remuneration Committee FMHEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph E1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to): (i)
making recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy
and structure for the remuneration of all of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and approving the management’s
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee consisted of two executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hiu
Fung, Nicholas (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr.
Li Yinquan and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen. The written terms
of reference of Remuneration Committee has been made
available on the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.
cn and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

remuneration
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The Remuneration Committee held one physical meeting during & Z£2022F12A31H I F[E - HFWEZE € FH
the year ended 31 December 2022. In the meeting, the — X E€# HFWEZEERNE LimMER(H
Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed, among HFEBEEZNSREEBNEHHHEE -
other things, the remuneration packages of the Directors and

senior management.

The attendance records of individual Remuneration Committee fERIHMEZE @R ER TG MEE S €=
members at the aforementioned Remuneration Committee 2 H &4 &R H 0T
meeting are set out below:
Attendance/
Number of
meetings
HERE
Name of Remuneration Committee member FHEESRERR BRI
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas (Chairman) BREE & S0 () 11
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FREREA 1/1
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRR LA 1/1
Mr. Li Yinquan | REHE 0/1
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EEB A 1/1
Nomination Committee REZES

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph B3 of the CG Code
(which has been re-numbered as paragraph B3 since 1
January 2022). It is responsible for determining the policy for
the nomination of directors, identifying and recommending to
the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors,
evaluating the structure and composition of the Board and
developing, recommending to the Board and monitoring
nomination guidelines for the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Nomination Committee consisted of
two executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung and
Mr. Lau Ka Keung, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Mr. Li Yinquan and Mr. Chan Hiu
Fung, Nicholas. The written terms of reference of this
committee has been made available on the Company’s website
at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2022. In the meeting, the
Nomination Committee discussed and reviewed, among other
things, (i) the recommendation on re-election of retire Directors
at the AGM; and (i) the existing structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the Group’s
business and is in compliance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The attendance records of individual Nomination Committee
members at the aforementioned Nomination Committee
meetings are set out below:

HE2022F12A31BIEFE  REZECHERA
—REE REZEENRg LImMNEN (A
FEBILTEE: \EEETESARERER
FRAEEEETHEZR RNEFTRKER
B ANBRAENK BRESSNEEME X
MkEHEBTE BEAKBEBEFE

MIRBNEK

IR R EEe&

ERREZEEMER Lt
Z B E RS SI

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE,

Name of Nomination Committee member REZEEREHS SRR

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman) BEEBEEAE(LE) 1/1

Mr. Wong Ting Chung FRER LA 1/1

Mr. Lau Ka Keung R LA 1/1

Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REAE 0/1

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PeR R U 5 A 1/1

Board diversity EEgmEZ it

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and 72 TMH&EEL@I%$AWE\ TCAb ¥
benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate M¥EEANMEESWE EMEEE - HE

governance and board effectiveness. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company monitored the Board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires
board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of the diversity of Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The
Nomination Committee has developed measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and would monitor and
review the progress in achieving these objectives annually.
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Expertise and skills of the Directors include property
investment, property development and management, finance
management, etc.. The following table shows a breakdown of
the diversity information of the Directors:

Categories
LWl

Executive Director

HITES

Gender group

M R 48 Bl
Age group
FH 4R
50 and below
50K AT

Note: The information is as of 31 December 2022

The Board acknowledges that gender diversity is a representing
manifestation of board diversity. Accordingly, the Company
shall prepare to appoint at least one Director of different
gender in the Board no later than 31 December 2024.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external
auditor, KPMG, in respect of their interim review services and
annual audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to approximately RMB2.46 milion and RMBO0.5
million respectively.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and also that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer on corporate
governance matters and should also facilitate induction and
professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has
been made to the company secretary of the Company, namely
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict, and he has confirmed that he has
complied with the relevant qualifications, experience and
training requirements under the Listing Rules.

ZZ = ZFF# « Annual Report 2022

3 Directors
3RESE

EFENEREKEREMERE MEERR
B MBERFE -EFZRTALEELT:

3 Directors
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Independent
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BIYFHITES

6 Directors
6REE
2 Directors 1 Director 3 Directors
2REE 18EE 3REE
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
its Directors and senior management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of the
Group’s operation.

insurance for

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
Directors should participate
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All the Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

in continuous professional

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2022 and they participated in the following types of
continuous professional development:

EERSABEEERR

ARREREZLSREEEBLRHESZTES
RBEEERR ZRBAREALEEZE
S EE DA RITE T E LA -
E AXREERHERE-

EE=IEZI
BECEEATUNKRENECIAG EFER
BLMBREERE  DUEEREN NG R
HMERESHSHETSHELAERRE
WER - ARFHBHEEESTHEEBEIR
B BRABARAIRE-

BLE2022F12A31HILFE EE MR KE —
BEETRESTRETAIKRXECAE 2
HELTHRANHETERR

Type of
continuous
professional
development

Name of Director EEHA BERWNER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) TRERRSE & (F ) (), (1
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BRBAE(TTHAAZR) (1),
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Chief Financial Officer and TEELE (BEEYBHBEEF LA

Company Secretary) fZ) (1), (1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBTESE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen BEHBEA (1), (I
Mr. Li Yinquan FEIREE D)
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PeR BB U1 5T A= Iy, (I
()  Attending seminars/webinars. () HEHHTe WLEHTge-
() Reading/watching materials in relation to the roles, () BEEBE LT AREENAE BER

functions and duties of a listed company director and the
latest developments in the relevant rules and regulations.
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INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers timely communication to the
Shareholders and/or investors and transparent reporting as key
components of good corporate governance. The Company
aims to maintain frequent and timely communication with its
Shareholders and/or through a variety of
communication channels, including but not limited to general
meetings, annual and interim reports and official
announcements. General meetings provide a platform for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board and the
Directors are available to answer questions at the Company’s
annual general meetings. Shareholders will be sent a copy of
the annual and interim reports or be notified of the release of
such reports. Annual and interim reports are accessible on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn, where general information on the
Group’s business and activities is available for public access.
Official announcements will be released from time to time in
accordance with the Listing Rules to update our Shareholders
and/or investors with the latest developments of the Group.

investors

The Company shall maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders
and will review its shareholders’ communication mechanism on
an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. After the review of
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication mechanism, the Company is of the view that
the policy is effective in providing channels for Shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the
Company and for the Company to solicit and understand the
views of the shareholders.
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Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted by
way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll
results will be published on both the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to article 64 of the
Company’s existing articles of association, one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings may deposit a
written requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in the Written Requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of the Written Requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders and investors are also welcome to submit any
enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals at general
meetings directly to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong as provided in the section headed “Corporate
information” in this annual report.

The Board also encourages Shareholders to attend general
meetings to make enquiries with the Board directly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
adopted a dividend policy on declaration and payment of
dividends. It aims to allow the Shareholders to share the profits
of the Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the
Group’s future growth and set out the approach to determine
dividend payout ratio of the Company. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the Group, and the
conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
during a financial year or period and any final dividend for a
financial year which will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval. The dividend policy is available on the website of the
Company at www.millioncities.com.cn.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2022, the adoption of an amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the “New M&A”)
was approved by the Shareholders. For details of the
amendments, please refer to Appendix lll to the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2022. The Company has published its
New M&A (in both English and Chinese) on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors have included a management discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2022 under the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established the risk management and internal
control systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses caused by judgement in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as the
outsourced internal auditor (the “internal auditor”) with a view to
ensuring adequacy of resources and quality of review to satisfy
the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Listing
Rules and to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
reviewed the internal audit charter which defined the scope and
the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual risk
assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk
based methodology audit approach, a three-year internal audit
plan was devised which prioritised the risks identified into
annual audit projects. The Group has taken further steps to
enhance its risk management and internal control systems
according to some weaknesses found during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control and strengthen the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has also reviewed, through the Audit
Committee, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environment, social and
governance (ESG) performance and reporting.

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the review performed
by the external auditor, the internal auditor, and reviews
performed by the management, respective board committees
and the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the
view that the Group has maintained sound, effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed an inside information policy which
provides a guidance to the Directors and the Company’s senior
management and in handling inside
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries. The Company should take all reasonable
measures to ensure the confidentiality of inside information until
consistent and timely disclosure of such information is made.

relevant employees

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts which are based on
best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment
of the Board. Such acknowledgement should be read in
conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the statement of
the external auditor of the Company, KPMG, in relation to their
reporting responsibilities as set out in their auditor’s report on
pages 119 to 127 of this annual report.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERSE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are property development and
sales in the PRC. Particulars of the principal activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 and its future development is set out in the
Chairman’s statement from page 5 to page 9 and
management discussion and analysis from page 13 to page 30
of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
on page 128 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB1.4 million (2021: RMB1.4 million).
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
OF THE COMPANY

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 238 of
this annual report and note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with its
articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands
amounted to approximately RMB636.2 million (2021: RMB585.8
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS

Details of the bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2022 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements. Other than bank loans, there are no other debt
securities as at 31 December 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31
December 2022 attributable to the Group’s major customers
and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties attributable to:
— the largest customer 1.0%

— five largest customers in aggregate 4.29%
Purchases attributable to:

—  the largest supplier 2.82%

—  five largest suppliers in aggregate 10.61%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules), or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital), had any interest in any of the
five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December
2022 is set out on page 265 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE#H)

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung BBS, JP (Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BBS, MH, JP (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen GBS, JP

Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas MH, JP

Pursuant to articles 109(a) and 109(b) of the Company’s
articles of association, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years but are eligible for re-
election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Company’s articles of
association, the Board shall have power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that the
number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director so appointed
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for a term of three years in
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the
Company, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below and
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision contained in the Company’s
articles of association that is subject to the requirements
specified in the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company was in force during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully
exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them
constitutes discloseable connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

The interests and/or short positions of Directors and chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
at 31 December 2022 as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the SFC under the Model Code, are set
out below:

EERFETHRAERERS - HEKR
ITREEZENEERAR

F2022F12 318 » ARAIEFEREEZTHA
ERARBMBEN RABERND (EERLES R
HIERPIEXVER) h B A BN EH LT
I E3B2EMEFENE LM ER KX
RESIREBEFETAEANEGARAMNEES
MRS R AR

AR E BB R

all

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Number of Approximate
ordinary shares/ percentage of
underlying the issued share
shares held or capital of the
Name of Directors Nature of interests interested in Company®
FERES LR N
RENZBER ERITRAEMN
EEgE HmME HERG A BOBE D
Mr. Wong Ting Chung®®©® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
F Rz B2 5 A 0100 SREX @A
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
EmBEAA
Mr. Lau Ka Keung®®® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
18 K 98 5t HPOO Aic 48 2 &5
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
ExnlEA
Mr. lp Shu Kwan, Stephen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
BB EEY ExnlEA
Mr. Li Yinquan® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
FE|REEY ExnlEA
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict Beneficial owner 8,000 0.001%

FEERALE EmEA A
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Note 1: Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the settlor, the protector and one  Fff 51 : FTEREAEREREINRTA RE
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and ARZZAZ— BMREBESHFEBEK
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held BIR AR RERETRIFRMD R %A E
by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO. =

Note 2: Mr. Lau Ka Keung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Wai Ling,  Bft3F2 : BRBEERTERZ T (ERETH
who is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust ZmAZ BB WREBEZBHFLHE
and therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares BHR AR ERETEMEROPHERE
held by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO. &

Note 3: Each of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung has  Ff 53 : T REHR S A AR R 58 5E 4 & B 20194
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each 3H29H 1R & HE AR 7 51 S B X 1) B8 IR 2
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option PHEEEAERS  MEBBITEZEBK
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the & - BI& @ %% 5 7l #773,000,0008% &
issuance of 3,000,000 ordinary shares to each of them. A o

Note 4: Each of Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Li Yinquan, has  Fff 54 : BB 5o R F 5 R A F BR2019F
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each 3H29H 1R & HE AR 7 51 S B 1) B8 IR 2
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option PHEEEAERD  MEBBITEZEBK
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the 7 Bl m 1% & 5 Rl 8 171,500,000/ &
issuance of 1,500,000 ordinary shares to each of them. f&fn o

Note 5: On 9 September 2021, the Company and Fortune Speed K35 : 202169 HA9H + AR A HEIEAIRES
Investments Limited (“Fortune Speed”) entered into a R~ A (Ml ]) 5] 2 B IR 0 R I8
conditional subscription agreement (the “Subscription (fwﬁ%’rz% ) B mABKRGRE
Agreement”) pursuant to which Fortune Speed has R BARABEGRE R AR
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company MEBETAR R R AP FREEC.01E T
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue to Fortune #7290,000,0000% % ) & 4& =4 &2 1 A 85
Speed, 290,000,000 new non-voting and non-convertible BMELR((TATEBRELR]) - KR2022
preference shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of F12A318 - TR EBELERHREX
the Company (the “Non-Convertible Preference Shares”). e
As at 31 December 2022, the subscription of the Non-

Convertible Preference Shares lapsed.

Note 6: The calculation is based on the total number of issued  Fff 56 : H2022F12ABIHE BT E @R B H

ordinary shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December 750,000,000/ 5t & -
2022.
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief [ XX FTiFEE &4 - 2022412 B31H -« i &

executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2022 as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the SFC under
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE#H)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
holding companies, or any of the subsidiary undertakings
(within  the meaning of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation) of such holding companies a party to any
arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interests in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors had any interest in any business apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, each of the
Company’s controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/her/its compliance with the non-competition
undertakings given by him/her/it to the Company under the
deed of non-competition, as defined in the Prospectus, and
he/she/it had not been offered or become aware of any
business opportunity which may compete with the business of
the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2022. There
was no matter requiring deliberation by the Board in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-
competition. The Board, including all the independent non-
executive Directors, is of the view that the controlling
Shareholders have been in compliance with the deed of non-
competition in favour of the Company.
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The Directors are of the view that there are sufficient measures
in place to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders against any competition potential
competition issues.

issues or

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the Share Option
Scheme. Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants may be granted share options pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(a) Purpose
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

(i) motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

(b) Eligible participants
The eligible participants include (i) any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisers, consultants,
agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other
persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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(c) Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a
maximum of 75,000,000 shares) immediately after Listing,
provided that:

(i) the maximum number of shares may be renewed,
with the approval of the shareholders in a general
meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of such
shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under another scheme, if any;

(i)  the Company may obtain a separate approval from
the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to
permit the granting of share options which will result
in the number of shares in respect of all the share
options granted exceeding the then maximum
number of shares provided that such share options
are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before shareholders’
approval is sought (in which case such share
options granted shall not be counted towards the
then applicable maximum number of shares); and

(i) the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options
granted and yet to be exercised under another
scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.
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(d)

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting), no eligible participant
shall be granted an share option if the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted and to be granted to such eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of share options will be subject to the
by the Company and must be
approved by the shareholders in general meeting on a
poll. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

issue of a circular
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(e)

()

(9)

Acceptance of an offer of share options

A share option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
when the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptances of the share options duly signed by the
grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof, is received by the Company on or before the
relevant acceptance date. To the extent that the offer to
grant a share option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to an
eligible participant (subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme) which must be at least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant, which must be a day on which the
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(i) the nominal value of the shares.
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(h)

Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles
of association for the time being in force and will rank
pari passu in all respects with and shall have the same
voting, dividend, transfer and other rights. Shares issued
on the exercise of a share option shall not rank for any
rights attaching to the shares by reference to a record
date preceding the date of allotment.

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (such other person nominated
by the grantee) as the holder thereof.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 20 December 2018 (being the
Listing Date), after which no further options shall be
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
share options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the Share Option
Scheme had a remaining life of approximately five years.
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No share options have been granted under the Share Option
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022, and the total
number of share options available for grant under the mandate
of the Share Option Scheme was 51,300,000 as at 31
December 2022 (1 January 2022: 51,300,000).

Details of the movements of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2022 are as follows:

HE2022F12A31H L FE - WERIEBERE
FHEIFH BB AHE - B E2022F 128310 - 1B1F
BRETINREITIRENERELZH S
51,300,00017 (202241 A1H : 51,300,00017) °

B E2022F12A31A LFE - BRIEEERERE
BEEMBRESEFBOT

Number of share options
during the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F 1283 LFEBREYE

Exercise Balance as at Balance as at
price! 1 January 31 December
Name of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Exercise period® 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2022
#2022 #2022
EEn 1A18 1 12A31AH
ARARE R AH (Br) fTEHe 3] Bl (g i *¥% 323
Directors
BE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
FTERLE 2019F3729R 2020F3A29R &
202934280
Mr. Lau Ka Keung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
BRuEE 2019%3F29R 202053F290 &
2029F3F28H
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
ERBiE 2019%3F29H 2020%3A298 &
2029F3 280
Mr. Li Yinquan 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
T REE 201963208 20206329 &
20293 A28H
Employees
B8
Other employees of the 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 6,900,000 - — (1,200,000) - 5,700,000
Group 28 March 2029
FEEHMESR 2019F3529R 2020F3A29R &
2029F3A28H
Total 15,900,000 - — (1,200,000) - 14,700,000
B
Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding
options (HK$) 1.362
14 AR 17 168 B AR E 4 I T8
TEEGT)
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As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
14,700,000 shares, representing approximately 1.96% of the
total number of issued shares of the Company.

Notes:

1. Exercise price of share options granted of HK$1.362 per share
represents the highest of:

(i) the closing price of HK$1.330 on the date of grant, i.e. 29
March 2019;

(if) the average closing price of HK$1.362 for five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i)~ the nominal value of the share of HK$0.01 each.
2. The share options granted to the above Directors and other

employees of the Group shall be vested in three equal tranches.
The vesting periods of the share options are between the date

BEARSH  RIEBRESIAIHBETHK
7 #8 21 /314,700,000 - #11E AR BI 2 #ITR
7 42 21 81.96% °

B &5

1. EREEREZITEESR.3625TA T
ZEREE

(i) A B (1201934298 ) i 15
g {8 1.330/8 7T

iy MREEEXAHfAESEARGZF
HIWHE1.3628 T &

@iy  ROHEAEEFROETL -
2. MRERBEETRAEBEMESRHOERE

AN-HERRBE BRENBEBHARY
HHMETERMASARMNE - BRENRE

of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods.
The vesting periods and exercise periods of the share options
are as follows:

Share options granted on 29 March 2019
7201953 H29H #% H 1 8 IR &

HRITERMT

Vesting period
5B

Exercise period

1T fE 34

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share
options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)

=z —WBRE(NRAIAZREI - TERERNEREZRE)

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share
options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)

=oZz-—WBRE(NRAIAZREI - TEREHENEREZRE)

The remaining share options

BT B A
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29 March 2019 to
28 March 2020
201963 H29H &
20203 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2021
201993 H29H =
20213 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2022
201993 H29H &
202243 428H
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29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
20203 H29H &
20293 H28H

29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
202193 H29H =
20293 H28H

29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
202293 H29H &
202993 A28H
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3. The fair value of share options granted is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair
value of the options granted by the Company was HK$0.401-
0.478 per share. The significant inputs into the binomial lattice
model were the exercise price shown above, expected volatility
of 44.22%, expected dividend yield of 4.06%, expected option
life of 10 years and risk free interest rates of 1.47% (with
reference to the yield rates prevailing on HKD government bond
with duration similar to the expected option life).

As any changes in the subjective
materially affect the fair value estimates, the valuation models for
the Share Options granted do not necessarily provide a reliable
single measure of the fair value of the Share Options. The
related accounting policy for the fair value of the Share Options
granted is disclosed at note 2(s)(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements.

input assumptions can

The Company is aware that amendments were made to Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules, which has come into effect on 1 January 2023,
which include, among others, revising the scope of eligible participants
of share option schemes and setting out the minimum vesting period
requirements. The Company will only grant the share options in
compliance with the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
pursuant to the transitional arrangements for share schemes existing
as at 1 January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange. Going
forward, the Company will also consider to amend the Share Option
Scheme so as to comply with the new requirements under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, in any event not later than the refreshment or
expiry of the scheme mandate; or to adopt a new share option
scheme that comply with the requirements under the amended
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Save as disclosed below, so far as known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2022, the
following persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) who had interest and/or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest

FERRERAEMATRERO RAEE
ROPHEZERAR

BRTXFHEBZEEN BESERARFTEEITH
ANBFTA - BR2022F12A831H » T4 ALk
BE(EERARAETETBRABRINRAR
AIMRODSBERODFEERBEZFSFLPE
RBIEXVEFE 2R B30 E A R X g R A F#
BROEZER RAE  REBEREFLBEK
BDIZE33BIRAEE T FENELMAEE K
ARBWT

EAREBERNER

all

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company®

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

P ¥ =R AN
BEERN ERITREN
TERRER HE ERMtE EREKRHAE BAaBED e
Fortune Speed Investments Limited™® Beneficial owner 562,500,000 75.0%
Al IREBR R AO EmBEAA
Winnermax Management Limited™® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
BEEERRRARO® REIEGHEBE R
Happy Family Assets Limited™® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
FEMREERR A FM® REZHZE#E R
East Asia International Trustees Trustee of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
Limited®®
East Asia International Trustees EREXFEA
Limited™®
Ms. Wang Kam Chu®® Interest of spouse 565,500,000 75.4%

Wang Kam Chu% @@ Bic 18 # 25
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Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company®

Fr¥ssl RN
BEREN EBITRAEMN
TERRER HE EEMtE HEBER#AR QOB DO
Ms. Wong Wai Ling®® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FTEK Lo EREX@mA
Interest of spouse 3,000,000 0.4%
o B =
Mr. Wong Ting Kau®® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
F R K fEEEaHA
Mr. Wong Ting Chun®® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FREA KL EHEERA
Ms. Chan Ka Wai®® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Chan Ka WaiZz £©® Ao A8 A =
Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%

Tsoi Suet NgaiZz +0@ Ao A8 A =

Notes: M 5E

WAKREERARBREREEERAREE
HEHE MEBEEARAFHEREEAR
NEEEHE EREEHFRRXF L AEast

Asia International Trustees Limited 2 & # A °

(1)  Fortune Speed Investments Limited is a company wholly owned (1)
by Winnermax Management Limited, which is in turn wholly
owned by Happy Family Assets Limited, a company wholly
owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited.

East Asia International Trustees Limited fE
RET(ATREBAEEIEAR T ABIZMERT)
MZFEA-ALL EREESBRRQG - East
Asia International Trustees Limited & 1 & & 12

East Asia International Trustees Limited is the trustee of Happy
Family Trust, a trust established by Mr. Wong Ting Chung as the
settlor. Accordingly, each of Happy Family Assets Limited, East
Asia International Trustees Limited and Winnermax Management
Limited, is deemed to be interested in the 562,500,000 ordinary ERAFGSEEREBEZFLFRAEKRIER AR
shares held by Fortune Speed Investments Limited under the Il 1% & B BR A 7 BT 15 A #9562,500,0000% &
SFO. MR EA R o

Wang Kam Chu# &= & F EIR 5 A /B (S -
b IREEF R E RO BN T ER L
FEESBERBEORDTHEEER -

2) Ms. Wang Kam Chu is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and  (2)
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly
or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chung under the SFO.
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©)

Ms. Wong Wai Ling, sister of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is also the spouse of
Mr. Lau Ka Keung and is therefore deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Mr. Lau Ka Keung under the SFO.

Mr. Wong Ting Kau, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO.

Mr. Wong Ting Chun, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy
Family Trust under the SFO.

Ms. Chan Ka Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Kau and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Kau under the SFO.

Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chun and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chun under the SFO.

On 9 September 2021, the Company and Fortune Speed entered
into the Subscription Agreement pursuant to which Fortune
Speed has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue to Fortune
Speed, 290,000,000 Non-Convertible Preference Shares. As at
31 December 2022, the subscription of the Non-Convertible
Preference Shares lapsed.

The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary
shares of 750,000,000 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Subscription
Agreement, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted as at
31 December 2022.
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EEESEORD P HESER -

(8) F2021F9A9H » AN Al B In M 5] L R B
Bl mAEKRMHRERE BEAQAE
1& 14 [F] 2 7 By i id 2% & 3% 17290,000,0000% &~
AIEEIREB AR o A2022F12A31H » A&k
BRBRHNBERY -

(9) $2022%12H31H B % 17 T B W £ H
750,000,0000% 51 & -

% RE B 25 1 =&
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 31 to 40 of this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY
BAND

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management,
whose biography are set out on pages 31 to 33 and 38 to 40
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out below:

Bi 5 R &
RARBFA  BERREFELARRBESD
7, S A B 0 o

EEER

HZE2022F12A318 L FE  BFILRTFE
BRAEEE2HIBRADOEBNEE RIT
BE4 -

BE -HEIBEART LTRSS

B E2022F12A3NA L FE - AAR KA
MEARIMERE HEXERTAAAR L

S iy v

M &2 °

R KE R T E
AEBZ2ENERENABFBRARESY
5 A M LT o

EERENEEE
ARBEERSREEEBNFABIENRER
$31240H o

RErMEES o NS REEENS
B E2022F12ABIBHILEFE - ARARREE

(BEHNAFREI1EIZRIBEL0E ) &
ot/ N

Number of individuals

AE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Board
is of the view that the Company is in compliance with the
mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended
31 December 2022.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 41 to 59 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s
issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for the year ended 31 December 2022 is scheduled
to be held on 19 June 2023. A notice convening the AGM will
be issued and disseminated to the Shareholders in due course.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to implement policies in environmental
protection in order to conserve natural resources. The Group
strives to minimise the Group’s environmental impact through
reducing electricity and water consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group is also
committed to ensure that the Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable environmental laws and regulations of the
relevant jurisdictions.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
BEExEegRE#H

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strives to balance business growth with
environmental protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property
development and sales in China, the Group (i) evaluates,
manages and mitigates from time to time environmental issues
within the context of the Group’s business activities and
objectives for the conservation of energy and other natural
resources; (i) devises environmental policies and measures for
the Group so as to keep them in line with the standards
required under the applicable laws, rules and regulations to the
extent practicable; and (iiij applies the Group’s philosophy on
environment protection to the Group’s supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the
selection of the Group’s business partners or
providers and award the bids of construction and other
projects of which the Group is involved to reputable and
environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

services

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the
workplace through (i) appropriately designing, constructing,
maintaining and, if required, modifying facilities wherever
applicable; (i) using or to replacing gradually existing
appliances with more energy efficient appliances for lighting,
heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (iii) protection at
workplace.

raising awareness of environmental

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board was not
aware of any material breach or non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

WORKPLACE QUALITY

The management of the Group believes that employees
constitute one of the valuable assets of the Group and regard
human resources as the Group’s corporate wealth. The Group
offers employees with competitive remuneration packages and
provides additional bonus in accordance with their performance
and contributions to the growth and development of the Group.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance employees’ career progression, these
training programs cover different areas such as management
skills, sales and production, and other courses relating to the
Group and the industry.

The Group is dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all
of the employees and do not discriminate on the basis of
personal characteristics. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespectively of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status. The
Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions
of employment, employees’ rights and benefits, duties and
responsibilities, conducts and behavior.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to the health and safety of our
employees and provides a safe and effective working
environment. The Group pledges full compliance with all
occupational health and safety legislation. The Group values the
health and well-being of the employees. The Group supply free
first-aid kits and medicine to the employees and they are
entitled to medical insurance benefits.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of employees and considers
development and training as a continual process. The Group
offers and encourages employees at all levels to participate in
various internal and external courses in order to promote the
advancement of their job-related skills. The Group’s employees
are provided with fair opportunities for adequate learning,
trainings and promotions.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains solid and steady relationship with its
customers and provides products which satisfy their needs and
The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insights on
market demand and consumer needs so that the Group could
respond proactively. The Group also maintains close
relationship with its suppliers. This leads to a high degree of
cooperative development and enables the Group to deliver the
high-quality solutions as required and expected by the Group’s
customers.

requirements.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditor will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

27 March 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HtERERES

B

REPORTING PERIOD AND FRAMEWORK

This section, Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of Million Cities Holdings Limited (“Million Cities”,
“Company”, “we” and “our”), and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), presents and disclose ESG related matters that
are relevant to the Group’s business and have material impacts
on the environment and society for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise
stated, the Reporting Period is from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022.

This ESG report of the Group has been prepared in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” set forth in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and based on actual
conditions of the Company. We have identified relevant ESG
issues and assess their materiality on our businesses as well as
on our stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and
holding internal discussions. Adhering to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
this report aims at sharing our performance in aspect of
sustainable development and summarising our efforts made on
sustainability for the year ended 31 December 2022. Our
reporting boundary is limited to, Hong Kong and the PRC
unless otherwise specified.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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OUR BUSINESS AND APPROACH TO ESG
AND ESG REPORTING

Million Cities focuses on developing affordable, luxury,
residential, complex and integrated properties in Huizhou, the
Greater Bay Area and other locations in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) which we consider with potential growth
opportunities. The Group also engages in property
development and sales in the PRC. Beyond the delivery of
quality properties, we continue to serve our customers by
offering innovative and customer-oriented products as well as
expanding the diversity of properties to be developed.

The Group commits to improving its ESG performance by
upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting
our environment including reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
reducing energy consumption, protecting the environment and
natural resources, and providing employees with an excellent
and safe working environment while it engages the community
and promotes social integration. The board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) is responsible for the performance of
the Group and clarifies the responsibilities at each level through
the three-level management structure of “Decision-making —
Management — Execution”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE -#HERER
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Board Statement
Overall Responsibility of
the Board

EFENERBARE

Execution of ESG Work

RE - #HERERIED
WITIHER

ESG Risk Management

BRI - e keEnRERERE

Important ESG Issues

EZNRE Hak
R fH 8

EEgRH
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the performance of ESG work, and
is responsible for developing and reviewing the company’s environmental, social,
and governance responsibilities, vision, goals, strategies, frameworks, principles,
policies, and significant risks, among others.
EEEHRETRIE ?i@ ERIFEARRERE BEFEREERAINER
B dekEREMT A& BE KB -ER- RA BEMNERRARS -

The Board ensures the implementation of the environmental, social and
governance goals, systems and policies, and that sustainable development is
integrated into daily operations of the Group. The Board regularly supports the
review and development of the overall ESG strategy.

EEgHRRER HELELCER HENKENER ITHARAEENAFT
BEERAIFEER EXSTHMHDESHG TERRE HgREGBER-

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the Group’s
environmental, social and governance risks, identifying and evaluating business
risks and opportunities based on the internal and external conditions of the
Group’s business. The Board also reviews and decides on risk response,
mitigation strategies and risk frameworks to ensure that the Group establishes
appropriate and effective sustainable development management and internal
control systems.
%%2%?#%%#E$EIM%%~HQ&§E 2 REBEAEEEKHA
%%I BT R R RS  c ER I EE MR T AR E S -
W“Wﬂﬂ R ER BRASEERZVEEAAUNAIFHEEREEMA T
%‘J % L °©

The Board is responsible for supervising the communication channels and
methods between the Group and its stakeholders, and ensuring that relevant
policies are in place to effectively promote the relationship between the Group
and its stakeholders. At the same time, based on the concerns of various
stakeholders, the management of the Group identifies important ESG issues, and
recommend specific ESG actions or decisions for the Board to consider.
EECREEEASRESOECHNBERERS A BRABBEIIGC
EEAERREAEBEEFNENBER AN ASEEEESRESFEOHEN
BEIMBANERAMERE L2 kERME URHDAEENER L2 RkERE
MERERER HEFEEZ -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Within the operation of the Group, it applies industry best
practices and abides by laws and regulations, sets and reviews
safety and environmental goals and indicators, effectively uses
energy and raw materials, and reduces pollution and emissions.
Achieving ESG goals can provide customers with better quality
products. In addition to supporting environmental protection,
the Group’s development of sustainable building concepts can
also provide citizens with a better living environment as well.

The Board has approved the content of the ESG report.
For details of environmental and corporate governance,
please refer to the official website of the Group
(http://www.millioncities.com.cn) and the annual report. We
value your feedback regarding the review and our overall
sustainability practices. Please provide your comments by email
to ir@millioncities.com.hk.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This report is organized into two sections, namely
“Environment” and “Social”, focusing on the following in
compliance with the ESG standards:

g
AREDRIRFEI R LG WE - BB
HEREREETEUTHE :

ESG Standard for Reporting
BRE -HEREABREERE

Million Cities’ compliance section

BHaRBY

A.  Environment A1. Emissions 1. Governance on air and greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions
A IRIE Al BERR 1. BEEREERMAERBHN
2. Waste management
2. EmER
A2. Use of resources Minimizing energy consumption
A2. EIRA A B B2 R 7
A3. The environment and natural Protecting the environmental impact and
resources natural resources
A3. RERBAEIR RERBEFZENBAER
A4. Climate change Identifying climate change risk and mitigating
the associated impacts
A4, RixE 1t BRI REE AR ITHEREYE
B. Social Employment and labour practices
B. #® EBRETIEG
B1. Employment Equal employment practices
B1. [Ef& V2% & 1R 18 I
B2. Health and safety Promoting health and safety
B2. BELRLZR RERERZE
B3. Development and training Talent management
B3. #EE&IF AT B
B4. Labour standards Prohibiting forced child and labour
B4, BIIRAE ZFEAEIR®BAS

Operating Practices
LB

B5. Supply chain management Upholding high procurement standards
B5. ffrEyEE IR FESRBERE

B6. Product responsibility Delivering unmatched product quality

B6. EmEIE REKEEMER

B7. Anti-corruption Commitment to anti-corruption

B7. RES RE&FZEGH

B8. Community investment Contributing to the welfare of society

B8. itEmIr#&E Rt g AERR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

A.

A1

- =

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group attaches great importance to its environmental
management ability, formulates internal management
policies and systems on the basis of abiding by laws and
regulations, and implements environmental management
by establishing an environmental management structure.
We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Environmental Impact Assessment,
the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Noise
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Regulations on the Administration of
Construction Project Environmental Protection and the
Administrative Measures for the Environmental Protection
Inspection of Completed Construction Projects, so as to
strengthen internal environmental protection management.

Emissions

Governance on Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)
Emissions

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and communities in
which we operate. As such, the Group has established
relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding
environment that may occur in the course of our business
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2022, we
measured and managed our environmental performance in
several aspects throughout our operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

In terms of the Group’s property development businesses,
we understand there are environmental emissions such as
air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-water discharges,
general waste, and hazardous waste disposals. The
emissions and waste produced at property development
constructions sites are managed by the construction
contractors as stipulated on the agreement with the
contractors. The Group now manages a construction
company where the Group has direct control over its
related emissions specifically including air emissions,
direct and other indirect GHG emissions along with the
management of general waste and hazardous waste
disposals. Having considered the environmental impact on
the construction contractor’s operations along with the
Group’s construction company, we have required both
construction contractors and our construction company to
comply with relevant laws and regulations and we monitor
the ESG performance of construction contractors closely,
especially on regulatory compliance.

The Group encourages and requires the construction
contractors and its construction company to implement
the following environmental protection measures within the
construction site areas with a view to reducing the
impacts on emissions, effectively managing the air
emissions and ensuring in compliance with relevant rules
and regulations: entrusting professional firms to formulate
soil and water conservation plans and monitoring
procedures, and to conduct project inspection and
acceptance prior to completion of the development
project; promoting green construction and reducing the
use of resources and the impact of construction activities
on the environment through scientific management and
technological advancement effectively reducing energy
consumption through the regional sunshine planning,
district-wide ventilation planning, noise reduction and
noise reduction design; adopting materials with dust
prevention component; taking measures such as sail
cover and sprinkle water to reduce dust pollution at the
project construction site; and setting up a vehicle washing
pool near the gate of construction sites to ensure that
transportation vehicles do not carry sediment and dust
when leaving the construction sites.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE #HERERBE &)

The Group also engages engineering supervision
companies to conduct on-site inspections on a regular
basis, apart from strictly requesting our construction
contractors and construction company to comply with the
environmental protection controls.

Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions generated mainly from gasoline
consumption of the Group’s vehicles that used for
employees’ transportation in 2022 are as follows:

Air emissions

BEBRBRERBEAOHREENT BT
Iﬁ%%ﬁiZﬁl\'K’Eljﬂq TREE

m B
NAERERGRE

JER K
REER022F T ZHEEZBERH
FUHELEMBERERBIEMNT

BE SR BE K

Nitrogen oxidex (“NOX”) Ag|ty(TrE‘m])
Sulphur oxidex (“S0x”) matym((mayl)
Particulate matters (“PM”) wEry (BN

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy conservation

The greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated by the
Group are summarized below in direct, indirect, and other
indirect section. The direct emissions are from the
Group’s vehicles’ consumption of gasoline, while the
indirect emissions are via using outsourced electricity with

Unit 2022
B 20224
Emissions tonnes M 2.92*10"!
Emissions tonnes M4 7.90*10"4
Emissions tonnes M 2.74*10"2

/i 2 5% 8 F I K B BE

AEBELANRERBHIBN TXE
& HEIEMERIE OB - BRI
KB AEEEREREN TR - mEEHE
BBEBERIMNEENES  HMEEH
MAAREEMERTEL - TRETR

other indirect emissions generated from air travel by EHEAEEREREERERE -

employees. The following table shows the figures of the

Group’s GHG emissions during the Reporting Period.

GHG emissions Unit 2022

BERBHEN By 20225

Direct emissions of GHG BERBEEYK tCO,e 126.06
B &1t )ﬂéi

Indirect emissions of GHG B EREEELEN tCO,e 2667.21
=3 G )fif-?i

Other indirect emissions of GHG B 2 SRS B HE AR tCO,e 2.15
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

In line with our policies to minimise air and GHG
emissions, the Group’s offices in most cities are equipped
with video and telephone conferencing facilities to
minimise the need for face-to-face meetings and keep
business travelling to a minimum. For the unavoidable
business trip, direct flights are arranged to reduce air
emissions. The Group will continue to monitor GHG
emission each year and will seek feasible measures to
reduce the emission in a year-on-year basis. The Group’s
emission reduction target is to reduce air and GHG
emissions by 5% within five years.

Waste management

The Group puts significant emphasis on proper storage
and handling of any hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste at the Group’s construction sites. With a
construction company being managed by the Group, at
the site level, this construction company would have
concrete, brick residue, steel bar, molding plate, and
square timber as waste that are deem not harmful to the
environment. To handle concrete and brick residue, the
Group would use these materials in building temporary
roads along with applying them in the foundational
structure in construction when necessary. Not only can
the Group save in cost from buying extra materials for the
activities mentioned above, but the Group can also help
to protect the environment via being eco-friendly by using
less materials for its activities. For steel bar, molding
plate, and square timber, the Group would sell them to
companies that demand such materials. As the
non-hazardous waste does not cause a significant impact
to the environment, the Group has put a greater
emphasis and resources on hazardous material
management instead. Hence, in terms of waste that are
considered harmful, the Group would appoint related
professionals for the handling of such waste to ensure
appropriate  management. The Group will continue to
monitor the amount of hazardous waste and non-
hazardous waste produced each year and will seek to
reduce the amount of waste produced in a year-on-year
basis gradually.
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Though the Group does not directly handle the waste at
the site level for its construction contractors, the Group
works closely with its construction contractors to ensure
these hazardous waste and construction waste are
properly managed and disposed of. In particular, in order
to reduce the production of waste concrete, the Group
has mainly used commercial concrete and pre-blocked
mortar at the construction site. In addition, the Group has
not allowed any concrete mixing on-site without approval,
as such action is likely to cause material waste and loss
due to the potential of mishandling. To further the
Group’s effort in minimizing production of waste, material
is used also based on appropriate planning and
execution. For instance, special personnel will be engaged
for utilising any material that is related to steel bars and
wood in order to improve the utilization rate. Also, before
any material processing, the material list should be
reviewed, and professional teams should be preferred for
template construction to avoid material loss due to
inadequate oversight.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations with
significant impact on the environment and natural
resources relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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A2 Use of resources

Minimizing energy consumption

The Group strives to minimize the various energy
consumed at all levels in its operations. The types of
energy consumed by the Group are gasoline, electricity,
and tap water. In 2022, total direct energy consumption
from the use of gasoline was approximately 51,662.79
liters, and the total indirect energy consumption from the
use of electricity was approximately 3,056,314.65 kWh.
On the other hand, the Company mainly uses water for (i)
offices purpose; and (i) residential or commercial
construction site purpose, which is from the government,
for temporary use with no identified issue for the
respective suitability. Water usage for the Group’s daily
operations and office administration activities was
approximately 51,630.86 m® during the Reporting Period.
The Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose during the Reporting Period. The Group
continues to monitor its water usage by comparing
current consumption with historical data.
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Types of resources Unit 2022
BEIRE R B 20224
Gasoline i liter F+ 51,662.79
Purchased electricity HNEEE kWh T E B  3,056,314.65
Tap water ERIYN m3 37 75 K 51,630.86

The Group now has direct involvement in 2022 in the use
and/or purchase of package materials with the
construction company. Throughout the years, the Group
puts forth a strong emphasis on minimizing the usage of
mentioned materials during our daily operations. At the
office level, the main waste is paper. The following table
shows the figures of material consumption (i.e. paper) in
the Group’s business operations. The Group will continue
to monitor resources consumption each year and will
seek feasible measures to reduce energy and water
consumption in a year-on-year basis gradually. The
Group’s reduction target is to reduce the consumption of
gasoline, electricity and tap water by 5% within five years.
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Material consumption Unit 2022
MRUE By 20224
Paper consumption FA 4K tonnes WA 2.96

The Company continues to encourage a paperless
working environment which not only reduce environmental
damage but also fits commercial goals. To minimize the
use of paper, the Company first recommends electronic
office to reduce printing paper. The paper should be
printed on both sides as much as possible, and the
paper printed on one side should be reused. Slogans will
be made on printers and copiers to remind employees to
save printing. The wastepaper that is not confidential is
stored in a centralized manner, and a dedicated person
will collect it for recycling, and encourage information
sharing via IT network. The Group will continue to monitor
paper consumption each year and will seek feasible
measures to reduce the consumption in a year-on-year
basis gradually.

The environment and natural resources
Protecting the environmental impact and natural
resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/
significant impact on environment and natural resources.
The Group nonetheless commits to using natural
resources wisely and efficiently while we encourage the
reuse and recycling of materials within our operations. In
addition, the Group is committed in applying industry best
practices and complying with legislation, establishing and
reviewing safety, security, and environmental goals and
targets, effectively using energy and materials, reducing
waste and emissions, and communicating our
environmental protection policy to all employees. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented an
energy-saving initiative in our office and in our property
development projects, and targets to lower the air
emissions, GHG emissions, energy and water
consumption by 5% within five years. The following
actions have been taken and will be reinforced to achieve
the reduction target:

° In our office:

—  Switch off lights and air conditioning in rooms
not in use;
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Switch office equipment and electronic
appliances to energy-saving mode;

Set air conditioning at optimal temperature;

Avoid non-essential use of air conditioning and
windows are opened instead,;

Pre-set printers to two-sided printing mode and
post paper-saving reminders near photocopying
machines;

Turn off the power supply of computers,
printers, copiers and other office equipment
after work;

Encourage the use of public transport when
going out for business development;

Conference or meetings are conducted through
video or web conferencing whenever possible
to reduce local transportation and out-of-town
travel;

Advocate water conservation, close the valve
and notify the maintenance to repair when
water dripping is discovered.

For our property development projects and in
construction plants:

Use LED lamps;

Adoption of energy-efficient appliances;
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—  Water-efficient fixtures including faucets and
water closets;

— The water pipe network shall be reasonably
arranged to reach the nearest water use, avoid
water pipe damage and leakage, ensure the
tightness of the on-site water equipment, and
handle any leakage as soon as possible;

— When washing mechanical vehicles, pay
attention to saving water and use water-saving
guns;

— Regular and irregular inspections will be carried
and investigation will be made for the causes
and account the responsibilities of relevant
responsible persons;

—  Strengthen the management of temporary
electricity use;

—  The electrical equipment shall be maintained as
required to keep good working and energy-
saving performance;

—  Strictly prohibit overloading electrical equipment
or idle for a long time;

Meanwhile, the Group recognises that businesses must
take responsibility for their industry’s effects on the
environment and we should bear the responsibilities and
fulfill the obligations in protecting them, while making
appropriate use. In response, the Group has taken three
actionable steps to help promote the sustainable
environment:
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Sustainable building philosophy — green building

The Group has taken initiative to incorporate the green
building aspect of building construction into its
construction project design philosophies. As such, the
Group has engaged qualified third party designers to
provide greenery design for several development projects,
with the aim of (i) promoting building efficiency in terms of
energy, water and materials, etc.; (i) constructing
environmentally sound properties with less carbon and
energy footprint; and (i) complying with environment-
related regulatory standards, if necessary.

In addition, the Group has made efforts to add green
elements to its buildings to reduce the environmental
impact and improve environmental quality, such as using
reusable construction materials, maximizing the green
area in the properties etc.. The Group strives to comply
with the Assessment Standard for Green Building.

Sponge city

The Group has adopted the “Sponge city” concept in its
development projects for more effective drainage and
rainwater reuse. “Sponge city” is a modern stormwater
management approach to help solve drainage problems,
fully utilising land resources and promoting sustainable
development. In such case, the Group builds green
sponge facilities to prevent waterlogging after storms and
effectively collect and utilise rainwater resource.
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Conservation of water and soil

The concept of soil and water conservation is vital to a
sustainable and poverty-oriented natural
management. We have commissioned qualified third-party
units to prepare reports on soil and water conservation
programs in order to better assess soil erosion during our
construction of basement and ground buildings. The
Group continuously enhances its construction direction in
order to utilise natural resources sustainably for the
benefit of the people and the environment.

resource

The Group commits in applying industry best practices
and complying with legislation, establishing and reviewing
safety, security and environment objectives and targets,
using energy and materials efficiently and reducing waste
and emissions and communicating the Group’s
environmental protection policy to all staffs.

Climate change

The Group recognises the importance of identifying
climate change risks. Acute risks and chronic risks such
as the risks brought by typhoons, flood, extreme heat,
extreme fluctuations in rainfall changes have been
recognized as the important risks faced by the Group. We
have taken corresponding measures to mitigate the
impact of climate change on business and adapted to
climate and environmental change. At the same time, the
Group will regularly update the identification and
importance ranking of major climate change risks
according to the changes in the internal and external
environment, and constantly strengthen the Group’s ability
to resist climate change.
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Risk types
ERER

Risk parameters

B k2 8

Response measures
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Typhoon, flood,
Acute risks extreme heat
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Physical Risks
ERER

Extreme fluctuations
in rainfall changes
and weather
patterns, rise in
average
temperature and
rise in sea level
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Chronic risks
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Comprehensively assess the potential risks of the project affected
by extreme weather events, formulate emergency plans for
extreme weather (strong typhoon, rainstorm and flood, ice, rain
and snow, etc.),
weather, and make emergency preparations;
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issue work notices to deal with extreme
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Pay close attention to the warning of high temperature, formulate
heatstroke prevention plan, implement heatstroke prevention
measures, reasonably adjust operation time, and distribute
cooling goods and drugs;
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Project the safety stock, keep communication with suppliers, and
prepare the response plan for the risk of supply chain
interruption in advance;

Rl zER  BEEERSEBR R H T R e
[ B B FE 9 5 &)

Formulate emergency plans for extreme weather (strong typhoon,

rainstorm and flood, ice, rain and snow, etc.), issue work
notices to deal with extreme weather, prepare for emergencies
and ensure the safety of employees;
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Improve the operation management process and ensure the
provision of necessary back-up systems, such as back-up
power systems;
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Continue to follow the chronic risks caused by the climate change
trend where the operation is located and future regional
planning, and consider these factors in the Group’s property
development projects;
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The Group pays special attention to the impact of
extreme climate on all stakeholders. In the process of
product building, we always consider climate response
measures as a key element in the management and
control of design and construction. At the early stage of
the design of the Group’s property development projects,
we will assess the regional climate characteristics of the
area where the project is located to adjust the specific
design content, so that the products can have a strong
landing and risk resistance.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY

B.
B1

SOCIAL

Employment and labour practices

Equal employment practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of
employees whom it considers the Group’s most valuable
assets. Hence, the Group strives to attract and retain
talents and reconcile economical imperatives with well-
beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and
commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources
manual which includes policies and procedures applicable
to staff. All employees are treated fairly regarding
recruitment, training and development, appraisal of work
performance, promotions, rest periods, remuneration and
benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong
(Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as well as the
requirements stipulated in the employment contracts. The
Group is committed to providing equal opportunity for all
employees and applicants without regard to race, color,
religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal
appearance, family responsibilities, matriculation or any
other characteristics protected under local law. During the
Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations of employment, including
but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC and the Social Insurance Law of
the PRC.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

RE BRI Eum RAIR Y SR EF KD
TE EERBEREY BABKBRIKE
HIEBESRAAMEEEIENARERET
EE -HEAKSEMEFZERFAEBNROH - &
P9 & IR B AR 7E # 3 8 E 77 3 880 SR AR A T
- femARARNRITAR  ESEREN
BEHRBOEMMERIER T -

TR

B. &

Bl EERL ITES
FEEREL

REEEFEREIREN RER/EAE
BSEENEE - Fit - AREZH RS
NBB A T80 7 | R FF Sk A
BAL - ARBANBANBEE - BHE
KA °

AEBRAZENDANERTM 21
BRAREINBREEF - IBEETHE
BE B RER TEENFMGE B
Tt RE - FEREA AT A
RREBTNERBREAMETE(ELE
B fE) - BB AP E08E(HFAKET
BARD) - R IEDI F485F(H B A H 1
RBEFEEIDNERENRENR
Ko ARKEEBRNBBERE T RKBER
HIEEHKE M AmER B J¥-
BIRE - MER - F8 - BEAR - EEA -
BIK - BUAKA  AARE  KEEE -
B3 JF 3l U5 A AR AR o H (R o] B R AR
BREMA AEBERETERBHEBN
ERER  BREEASRR(PEARKLM
BEE)E) (PEARXMBELH AR
E)R(REARAMBEHLGREOE)

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited

101



102

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
iﬁ‘?‘iﬁ& nﬁ%(ﬁ)

Throughout Million Cities’ operation, the Group strives to
provide an excellent and comfortable working
environment. Based on the features of the principal
business, the Group sets appropriate working hours and
rest breaks for all staff members. The Group also
provides paid annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, casual leave and compassionate leave in addition to
statutory holidays.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 130 staffs
in total. As an illustration, the workforce statistics by
gender and age group are illustrated in pie graphs while
the employment type and employment category are
disclosed as bar charts:

Gender and age distribution
Employee breakdown

by gender
BB S HNESL R

[ Male Female
B M

47%

With over half of its workforce as male while almost one-
fifth of its workforce of age less than 30, the Group
strives to put both gender distribution and younger
workforce as one of its core priorities to promote a more
dynamic environment with a fresher perspective.
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Employment type and category distribution X E 2R R A B 57
Employee breakdown Employee breakdown
by employment type by employment category
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Full-time Part-time Management Manager General
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Employment type Employment category
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Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and LR - F e 4 B R ot Iz &) 77 7Y 0 B
geographical location K FE
Employee turnover rate Employee turnover rate
by gender by age
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All employees mentioned above are within Hong Kong and T EEHMREERFEME -

the PRC region.
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour
standards and employment laws and regulations which
are applicable to our business. During the Reporting
Period, no material and significant disputes between the
Group and the employees occurred.

Health and safety

Promoting health and safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees
as one of its primary responsibilities. As such, the Group
is committed to provide a workplace free from injury and
illness through effective procedures and practice on
occupational health and safety. The Group pays great
attention to the safety of construction sites and strictly
requires the construction contractors to be responsible for
workers’ safety. As a responsible property developer, the
Group ensures that its related construction workers and
contractors comply with the standards and regulations for
safe and civilized construction of the project, and requires
its construction team along with the construction
contractors to provide all related site workers with the
safety equipment and to assure that these construction
workers would wear such equipment at all times with
proper training at regular intervals that can keep them
informed of any potential hazards on tasks. In addition,
the Group will ensure that the employees will get timely
rest and vacations in aim to promote better health of the
workers while it will organize employees to conduct
occupational health checkups every year.

Overall, the Group has purchased work injury insurance
for each employee. If an employee is injured on the job
during work, the company will actively apply for work
injury certification for the employee to ensure that the
injured employee receives timely treatment. Also, the
Group will provide compensation to workers injured at
work depending on the situation.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full
compliance with relevant occupational health and safety
legislations of Hong Kong, the PRC, and other relevant
legislations, including the Occupational Disease Prevention
Law of the PRC and the Safe Production Law of the
PRC. No severe work-related injury or fatality was
reported throughout each of the past three years,
including the Reporting Period. In addition, there was no
lost day due to work injury throughout the Reporting
Period.

Development and training

Talent management

The Group acknowledges and highly values continuous
staff training and development of which it considers can
help to improve both its efficiency and productivity. In this
case, the Group provides employees with training and
development courses which cover various areas, including
orientation, leadership and management skills, marketing
skills, legislations updates, etc. with the aim of improving
employees’ efficiency, knowledge and skills for
discharging their duties at work. Also, the Group
encourages employees to apply for work-related external
training, title and qualification certificates, study degrees,
examination, and etc..
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training
statistics by gender and employment category are

disclosed in following bar charts:

Training hours by gender
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Average training hours completed

per employee by gender
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Labour standards

Prohibiting forced child and labour

The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced or
compulsory labour at all its units and suppliers. No
employee is made to work against his/her will or work as
forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment or
coercion of any type related to work.

B4

In addition, the Group fully complies with the Provision on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC, the
Labour Law of the PRC and the Contract Law of the PRC
and will not hire companies with minors under 18 years of
age. A five and a half day 8-hour work week is
implemented, with clear job responsibilities for different
positions to ensure that workers are aware of the
Company’s working hour, work responsibilities and
working conditions. According to the labour contract
signed between the Group and its employees, if the
Group uses violence, threats, or illegally restricts personal
freedom to force employees to work, or if the Group’s
management illegally commands, forces risky operations
or even endangers the employees’ personal safety, the
employees can immediately terminate the labour contract
with potential compensation on the part by the Group to
the related employee.
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Overall, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of
child labour and forced labour by our construction
contractors. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
preventing child or forced labour.

Supply chain management

Upholding high procurement standards

With the implementation of strong contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures underlying the
importance of supply chain management, the Group
strives to govern the selection of suppliers and
construction contractors. To ensure product and service
quality, and to manage environmental and social risks in
supply chain, the Group only engages suppliers and
construction contractors with licenses that are granted by
relevant regulators or government authorities. The
obligations of suppliers and construction contractors with
respect to environmental protection and compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations are clearly stated in
signed contracts.

There are currently 573 suppliers in total, with 257
suppliers in Guangdong Province, 263 suppliers in Tianjin,
while the rest of the 53 suppliers are scattered
throughout other provinces in the PRC.

In the selection of suppliers, priority is given to choose
high-quality suppliers that have previously cooperated with
the Group or based on a list of top ranked local suppliers
within the project location. For monopolistic industries,
government recommends the government related
subordinate units or third-party companies for which the
Group will carefully consider. Moreover, the Group has
incorporated ESG scores and database of supplier
information (i.e., Qualifications, ESG related information)
into the selection of suppliers and established a supplier’s
social responsibility evaluation and investigation mechanism.
If the supplier fails to meet the requirements, it will not be
included in the Company’s supplier database. At the
same time, the Group aims to improve the supplier’'s
social responsibility level through audits, training,
counseling and other activities, and take active measures
to encourage suppliers to fulfill their social responsibilities.
The Group has established a targeted audit mechanism
according to different types of suppliers. The audit
process of regional and lower level suppliers is completed
at the project-regional level, and the audit of Group’s
strategic level suppliers is completed at the Group’s
product center and by the production manager. The

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

B5

mEmns AKEHETAEHERE
TRRESHNTR/TERR - AEEY
BRRIMAERMHLEZETHRELHN
A B AR B K SR B 1B o

3y 3 A=

RIFERBEE
AEBETRENSHERKKERENT
HEF RFEREREENEENE - B
EEHEBAMEEABRANET /AR
REMMRBEZ ULEEHESER
MERREMEEER  AEEEZREER
BB BB IR B FIR h h IR e i
BhkEEAam HERREEABRD
RIRARENTAEBL 2 EZRMERNE
TERERITNEOFTETH -

AEEB A ASTIR R - H 257
HHEEREERE 263RHEE KB
RAE - BT3RHRERAKETHEME

,f/'\ °

BERERE AKEELERLANA
FENEEHER  HREEEB AL
e EnHRERRERE U
BT AKSESEREZERTER
MBI TBEMKE=TT Q7 s
AEBEERRE HERERTD RH
EREESBAIER RE HERERA
BIER)BREMAEHRERNEE -
TeEvHEBmLEaEFALFAEH
H o R AT A EK AT EMAKR
REANMBERBEE - R AREETE
BBEZ B BREEPIRERSHERS
M At & B EKF o I SR ERR S 4 i SR
HEMEITHEET -AKERETR
BAUHEREL T HHENEZES -
BE RBEARNHER 2B ZRRERE
T B R E AR TR R R 0 S B BRE AR B
HEREEEERMT LHERDERE

Annual Report 2022 ¢ —T = —FFif



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE -#HERELRESE &)

— =

supplier will also be required to conduct self-inspection or
entrust a third-party organization to periodically evaluate
and review the supplier’'s performance of social
responsibilities, and the review results can be used as an
important basis for supplier selection, order increase,
rewards and punishments. This process is monitored and
updated regularly every 3 months.

In order to realize a normalized supplier management
mechanism with high precision, the Group has also
introduced a supplier hierarchical and classified
management mechanism. In terms of hierarchies, we
categorize into three aspects: group level, regional level
and project level. In terms of classification, we categorize
into three aspects: outstanding strategic cooperation
suppliers, general strategic cooperation suppliers, general
cooperation suppliers and unqualified cooperation
suppliers, and build a supplier hierarchical management
model. During the Reporting Period, there were
approximately 600 suppliers that were subject to the
above-mentioned supplier selection process.

In the cooperation agreement with suppliers, the Group
has made precise requirements for suppliers of wall and
floor tiles coatings to manage environmental-related risks,
such as (i) strictly limiting the content of volatile organic
compounds (VOCs), benzene and formaldehyde in plate
products, and maintaining a third-party on-site sampling
rate of more than 30%; and (ii) using LED products with
high lumens per unit power are preferred for indoor
lighting. The supplier must obtain the environmental
impact assessment certificate from the local government
as the necessary qualification certificate. At the same
time, the Group will prioritize cooperation opportunities to
companies that comply with the clean energy policies
such as coal to gas, good ventilation and dust removal
equipment and meet the standards of sewage discharge.
On the basis of strictly controlling the environmental risks
of suppliers, the Group actively purchases green
products, and is committed to working with external
partners to promote the construction of a green supply
chain jointly.
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B6 Commitment to product responsibility

Delivering unmatched product quality

The Group continues to aim at providing the best quality
products to its clients. In such case, the Group strictly
complies with the Construction Law of the PRC,
Regulations on Quality Management of Construction
Projects, the Civil Code of the PRC and other national
laws and regulations and industry standards which are
applicable to the Group’s operation from time to time. The
Group closely monitors the property development projects
at every stage and our project engineers regularly inspect
building materials and construction works so as to ensure
the constructors strictly abide by the relevant national
laws and regulations to construct reasonable quality and
safe buildings and meet the acceptable reliability level.
The Group has a complete quality control system and
experienced managers who are responsible for on-site
management. Regarding the selection of cooperative
units, no matter the size of the project, the Group will
choose the unit with the corresponding qualifications as
potential partners, and inspect the projects completed or
under construction at early stage, focusing on whether
cooperative units have staff with strong construction and
management experience, technical capabilities, etc.. In
terms of raw material entry management, the Group will
specify the scope of brand selection in the contract.
When materials enter the site, re-inspection or on-site
inspection shall be carried out strictly in accordance with
national regulations to ensure raw materials, semi-finished
products and equipment used in the project can meet the
requirements for engineering quality and environmental
protection requirements.
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Before the start of each process, the corresponding
construction unit is required to complete the process
model and the formal construction can only be carried out
after the model experience is accepted. In terms of the
management and control of the construction site, on the
one hand, we select supervision companies in accordance
with national regulations. Also, the Group has also
equipped professional engineers for on-site management.
According to national regulations and the Group’s
operating procedures, it conducts daily inspections and
acceptance of various processes and sub-projects.
Unqualified projects will not be accepted and require
rectification. After completion of the corresponding sub-
projects (such as basic projects, main projects, etc.) and
remaining projects, the government quality supervision
department also participates in the corresponding
acceptance checking, ensuring the quality of the project
complies with the government supervision level. In
addition, when the building is handed over to the owner
after completion of the inspection and acceptance, the
Group will accompany the owner to check the quality of
the house according to the Group’s operating
procedures, and rectify any quality problems within a
specified time. During the warranty period after the owner
signs the acceptance letter of satisfaction, we will send
engineers to deal with quality problems on site to meet
the warranty requirements.

Overall, the Group has entered into contracts with
construction contractors to obtain indemnity agreements
and their commitment to carry out operational and quality
assurance activities, and to comply with regulatory
requirements. We require construction contractors to
immediately resolve any defects or non-compliance
incidences, where necessary.
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The Group has established relevant policies to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to
fulfill its corporate responsibility towards the customers.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case and
complaint of non-compliance with laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility within the headquarters
and offices of the Group. In addition, since we are
engaged in property development and sales in the PRC,
there were no products sold by the Group that was
subject to recall for safety and health reasons during the
Reporting Period.

On the other hand, the Group pays attention to protecting
its own intellectual property rights, while also respecting
the intellectual property rights of others. In order to
establish the Group’s brand, it has registered a number of
trademarks. During the Reporting Period, the Group
strictly complies with the Copyright Law of the PRC, the
Trademark Law of the PRC, the Patent Law of the PRC.
Besides, the Group takes a variety of measures to protect
intellectual property rights from infringement, such as
strengthening the training of employees in this area and
providing their protection awareness. In terms of the
Group as a whole, a well-established complete patent and
trademark application system and process is in place. In
the case of violations, legal measures will be taken to
fight back.

For consumer data and privacy related issue, the Group
has set up special departments and personnel to be
responsible for keeping customer-related information and
materials. At the same time, it implements strict approval
and registration systems for relevant personnel to retrieve
and consult customer information. At the same time, the
Group occasionally organizes employees to give lectures
on the protection of personal privacy laws, enhances
employees’ awareness of protecting customer privacy,
improves employees’ professional ethics, and effectively
ensures the security of customer information.
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B7 Anti-corruption B7 RES
Commitment to anti-corruption REZZHRFE
The Group commits in maintaining a high standard of FEEBLEEBRROBRFSHIEK
integrity when conducting business as we strongly believe FoRARMEBELEREINFNENS
that it is essential to meet the expectations of our - AEER IR U RSB EMERS
stakeholders. The Group is committed to acting with the BRETE BIPRXBEELAAE 2EE
highest standards of integrity and ethics, maintaining BEBBTARERE HE 2F 24
business ethics and honesty, fully and accurately EWZLEBEERE TEBEMNEEED -
implementing the core values of integrity, honesty, EL  NEBEGIE TE TEABER - 5L
fairness, impartiality, and ethical business practices of the PR HRIEK T REBMEBE - B LE
Group. As such, the Group has formulated several BRRBEERGE) (DEERBEIR
policies, which, together, form the anti-corruption policy, CITATRD BERBARAFTEEE
including the anti-money laundering management system, BABNMETREENIETR BIZE
corporate governance policy and the code of conduct, TTAERARE  (TEHRBNEE  BEERE
the purposes of which are to regulate the job behaviors RAGIHESE 2EHETFENRLY
of middle and senior managers and ordinary employees of cHEHA AEEBTFTTIRHEAR
the Company, strictly abide by relevant laws, industry AEBELEN(REARLMNE R KL E
norms and standards, professional ethics and company EV AR EARKEMBERATAEE HF
rules and regulations, and establish a good atmosphere EY (R EARKMERE) - FAED
of honesty and diligence. During the Reporting Period, the F201EHT LEBB R BI) - BB E O FE
Group complied with relevant laws and regulations which ASSE(BAB R EREFITIEN) BB X
are applicable to the Group’s operation from time to time BIZE405E (R E GBI 5 5=) G0) F 8%
such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EREVER o
Anti-money Laundering, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China Against Unfair Competition, Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Chapter 455 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Drug Trafficking (Recovery
of Proceeds) Ordinance (Chapter 405 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).
e
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The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical
pursuits. The Group has implemented an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting employee violations of the
code of conduct, policies or internal controls, fraud
(including corruption and bribery). We encourage the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide
clear channels specifically for this purpose. When
suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of
duty, abuse of power, accepting or offering bribes, staff
should report to the Audit Committee of the board (“Audit
Committee”) for investigation and verification. Audit
Committee is responsible for receiving and conducting
follow-up actions on the relevant reports fairly, and report
to the regulator and/or to law enforcement authority,
when necessary. The Group believes that having such
whistle-blowing policy in place could help identify and
prevent any unethical or illegal behavior within the
organization, and would allow employees to report any
incidents of misconduct, including unethical behavior,
fraud, or other violations of company policies, without fear
of retaliation.

The Audit Committee is responsible for receiving reports,
organizing investigations of cases, issuing investigation
reports and handling opinions, and reporting to the top
management. The Group has set up fraud report email
boxes to publish and accept real-name data on
anonymous complaints or reports from employees at all
levels and parties with economic relations with the
company. The members of the committee should check
the email boxes at least once a week and the chairman
shall notify the members to discuss the handling method.
This shall impose corresponding internal economic and
administrative disciplinary penalties and those who violate
the criminal law shall be transferred to judicial organs for
handling in accordance with law.
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Before cooperating with each external party, the Group
will require such external party to sign an integrity
agreement with the Group to ensure that the personnel of
both parties can maintain integrity in the course of
business exchange. The Group’s employees have also
signed a declaration with Company and be provided with
the Code of Conduct to ensure the employees are aware
of the conflict of interest mechanism, anti-monopoly, fair
competition and transaction and abide by the Group’s
anti-monopoly work regulations when performing their
duties.

In order to enhance the awareness of risks of corruption
and fraud for the Group’s directors and employees, their
understanding of the relevant legislations of anti-money
laundering as well as the Company’s anti-money
laundering management system, the chief executive officer
of the Group, financial department and the marketing
director jointly establish a Anti-Money Laundering Working
Group for the daily monitoring of money laundering, the
preparation of the suspicious transaction report and the
preservation of relevant files. The Group also invites
representatives of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) to visit the Company every year to
conduct training on professional ethics, such as
prevention of corruption and fraud for employees and
holds 2 anti-corruption trainings with a total of 60
participants for this year. Participants in the training
mainly include the middle and high-level managers and
those involved in procurement, contracts and those who
are prone to conflicts of interest. In order to reduce the
risk of money laundering and terrorist financing activities,
the Group takes appropriate measures such as detecting
unusual high-frequency cash transactions, understanding
the background information of the clients, avoiding cash
transactions and reporting any suspicious transactions
immediately.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

To further enhance employees’ comprehension and
knowledge of anti-money laundering practices, as well as
to enable anti-money laundering personnel to stay
up-to-date with the provisions of anti-money laundering
laws, administrative regulations and rules which are
applicable to the Group. The Group proactively schedules
and conducts anti-money laundering training on a regular
basis. In addition, pursuant to the Group’s anti-money
laundering management system, the content of
anti-money laundering training covers the following topics:

° Legal training, which involves analyzing and
explaining various laws related to anti-money
laundering.

° Internal policy training, which is tailored to the
Group’s business characteristics. The training
provides a comprehensive explanation of the
Group’s anti-money laundering internal monitoring
system, enabling employees to improve their
anti-money laundering capabilities.

° Practical business training, which includes the latest
international and domestic anti-money laundering
developments and case studies. The training
introduces anti-money laundering experience, skills,
and the latest technology to enhance employees’
anti-money laundering expertise. This helps to
improve the vigilance and anti-money laundering
skills of relevant personnel in a consistent manner.

According to the Group’s corporate governance policy,
the Board regularly reviews the code of conduct,
reporting policies and procedures, and other internal
policies related to anti-corruption. The abovementioned
measures have been done to ensure that the Group’s
core value of integrity is fully and accurately implemented.
In addition, the company secretary of the Group oversees
the training and professional development of Directors
and senior management, as well as the Group’s policies
and practices, to ensure they comply with legal and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The company
secretary also takes responsibility for creating, reviewing,
and monitoring compliance manuals for both employees
and Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE #HERERBE &)

B8

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there are no B E2022F12A31H L FE - R4 5
concluded legal cases regarding corruption brought M- UERESTAMHEEAEE KA

against the Group or its employees during the Reporting
Period.

Community investment

Contributing to the welfare of society

The Group encourages staff to take part in community
welfare and voluntary work and our Directors actively
maintain communication with non-governmental
organizations to understand community needs for the
sake of fulfilling its responsibility and giving back to the
society.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and despite in
the midst of global pandemic, the Group made a
donation of approximately RMB1.42 million to support the
community services and charitable activities arranged by
non-profit organisations within Hong Kong and the PRC.
The donation contribution made by the Group mainly
social

B8

RERETMEARZRMN-

HERE

B2 EFFE R
AEBEZBEI2ETREBEMNRERT
B MEFZRNESREFRFABERSE
B THRAENFEE  UEBETEENEE
He -

H 22022 12A31HEFE BEESR
KEBNBRAT AEBBRHOARE
142870 WX HEBERPBEMIELFI4A

BZHNERREREEES - AKE
MBRETEETEHRE HEBRAHE
B85 M e

focused on education,
welfare related aspects.

Organisations

HE

community and social

Donation nature

BRMHE

District Fight Crime Committee (Tuen Mun District)

HFEERFTEZES
Hek (HK) Limited

ERR(BFB)BERAA
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

4 —

RE=[3
Hong Kong Police Force

BEEERR

Zheng Qi Charitable Foundation Limited

EREEETARRAA
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Sponsorship for committee activities in 2021-2022
B B2021F 220220 Z B €EH

Donation of disposable protective masks and rapid
antigen test (RAT) kits
BR-—RMhEOSRRENERBAAT R
Sponsorship for the inauguration ceremony of the
board of directors 2022/2023
EYFHFRITEFESTRHABAR
Sponsorship for Force Charity Concert for the 25th
Anniversary of the Establishment of the HKSAR
EpEBLERE NS B RITRIRK 258 F %
EE%e

Sponsorship for the opening ceremony of the
“Dancing Dragon Parade” for the 25th Anniversary
of the Establishment of the HKSAR

ENEEBHITRRKBFFRNEIHERN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

Organisations Donation nature

China Mobile International Limited Sponsorship for Tuen Mun District Anti-Crime
Promotional Activity 2022

TEBHERAR QA EB022F EHPME A FHFEHED

Tuen Mun Committee for National Day Celebration Sponsorship for committee activities

EFEBREZES® EDZEEERY

Association of Compatriots in Hong Kong for Sponsorship for association activities

Celebration of the National Day of The People’s
Republic of China Limited

EERRENEEEREZEESRFRAF ERHZEREY

Yan Chai Hospital Sponsorship for hospital activities
CEER EREREH

Lok Kwan Social Service Donation for social services
LBt ekRBE g RIIE R

Huagiao University Education Fund (Huagiao University) Donation
EBREHEES (EB/KRE) B®

Hong Kong and Macau Charity Foundation in Huizhou Donation
BNmEREASES® B

Huicheng District Charity Federation in Huizhou Donation
BMNTEHREERS B®

Poverty Monitoring Objects in Pingtan Town Housing subsidy
FEHENEAHR (E=x
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BY % HBEHRE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the directors of
Million Cities Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Million Cities Holdings Limited (“the Company”)
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 128 to 264, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements,
policies.

and its

including a summary of significant accounting

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B % AR E (&)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

PAREFAFEHEREAMANERHE  RRY
TG EMBRENBARR/EEZNFTER &
LEERERMEFERRAMBERR LD
ARRFETREN BT SHELERE
HEBNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

FEEETRRFE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m).

B2 S FEH RN 18R B iF2(m) ) & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BREETSEHE

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying
value of the Group’s properties held for development
(“PHD”), properties under development (“PUD”) and
completed properties held for sale (together
“inventories”) totalled RMB1,456 million. These
properties principally comprise residential properties
and car parking bays in Huizhou and Tianjin.

2022124318 © EREREERRERMNYE ([FH1EHE
BME]D)RERTOME(TERTYWE]) BFIELE
ExIMEXEBIFEDNREEST AARK14.56
BT - ZEMEFZBEEMNRRENEEZREES -

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The calculation of the net realisable
value for each property development project at the
financial reporting date is performed by management.
FEERRKNAERERFECREETE - EREG
B BHRERBEAMEEREENAEEFE-

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RPAWETOMERZSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of inventories included the following:
BAAEFEENERFENEZEFEEAUAT

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of
management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each property
development project;
TERGRLAEREEYEERBENRES
BB AR N CH K 7S B R RIME 1T B9 8 5 9 5P 2
R BEEETEOB R

o conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project and the development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for each
property development project;
HYERBMBRETHERENER  WEHEEE
AMEMEERBENEENEMERRERR
FERAMREANFEZEESR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %A RS (A

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

SRR R E

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m).

B2 [ & BT A I 18K B st 2(m) i) & &1 LR

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

The calculation of the net realisable value of
inventories involves significant management judgement
and estimation in preparing the updated costs to
complete each property development project for PHD
and PUD as well as in assessing the future selling
prices for each property development project (by
reference to recent sales transactions in nearby
locations), the estimated future selling costs and the
relevant taxes.
AEFERERFESNEEEEMETK B IERE
ERVEEEZRPYENRHIAR - AR EEEY
FERBBENAREB(2RIOMENTHEER
5) ~ RRAEETHHE KA R AE BT B I (F &K
K fhEt e

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of
the Group’s inventories as a key audit matter because
of the significance of inventories to the Group’s total
assets and because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the costs to complete each property
development project and the future selling prices for
each property development project, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances.

B EEEFEFERFENNGI BRI
BE DHEAFEY ESELEEMNEZMN TH
RTETREMEZERBENORANMTEEYERRE
BHEORKREBFEEGRAR  FrSZERIZANL

7B 5 -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZEE

evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by
management for assessing the net realisable
value of inventories and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including those relating to estimated
future selling prices with market available data
and the sales budget plans maintained by the
Group;

N Ihﬁﬁ¢%%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁmﬁa%ﬁ
ARGFAEEFBENBRMGETNERR) EHIHA
ERMEHNT BEEEMHEREAIETHLER:

comparing the estimated costs to complete each
property development project with the Group’s
latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred
to 31 December 2022 with budgets made as at
31 December 2021 to assess the accuracy of
management’s forecasting and budgeting
process; and
BETKMEERBEENMGSNARE E£EK
FTEHEEITH R - WS B 1E20226F12 A31BH 2 &
AR AR B2021F12 A1 BEH M TBE L& - A
AHEEERAMBERAENERNE K

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for inventories to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising.
ETHREST  UHEEERMEGMEREREFK

HALRAEREN S GERNFEELEALE
ﬁ WERARMGFANRZEREEL A8
M o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B % AR E (&)

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

TERE LR ER (DR ER]) RE

Refer to notes 8 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and estimates

in note 3(b)(iij).

B a M BEIREN 18 - 1527 K% B 52 3(0)(i) 7 & &1 A B 42 {4 5t

The Key Audit Matter
BREESEE

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main
components of the Group’s taxation charge.
FREAMHTIHIEERE EEEREIENETEY

N o

7J

LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation
of land value. At the end of each financial reporting
period, management estimates the LAT charge based
on its understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations and the estimated total sales
of properties less total deductible expenditure, which
includes lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments may be different
from the estimates.
HEMEZTER L HIBERRRBEX R ER LX0%E
BO% MM L IEEN - EEEMBHRESHR EEE
ERNHHEATGRALROIIERELRZE Bt E
HERBRELT MEREERE L  MERBEAAR -
AR FAEERSA IR X HARE AT T
BN BHEET T HIZENRE  BRMNRAL
BRI & T

We identified the provision for LAT in Mainland China
as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because the
estimated provisions for LAT are based on
management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax laws and regulations.

B RE R R ENR BRG] RERESEE
DHREHEERBREUGEEVBRRONEENL - 5
MR THIEEMOGAREATEEH BN A2
K A5 B ) i Be s R AR L o

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNETNMEREZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT
in Mainland China included the following:

BRI P B A IR E R BB BZIE T B
T

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls

the calculation of the estimated LAT

provisions;

T i B2 5t & ik 51 4 3 1 (5 52 48 B8 RO [ 92 0 BT 22

R BEIEETENERIL

over

° engaging our internal taxation specialists to
evaluate the Group’s LAT provisions as at 31
December 2022 which involved assessing
management’s assumptions and judgements
based on our experience, knowledge and
understanding of the practices of the application
of the relevant tax laws by the various local tax
bureaus;

MEARFABREERNTIE FE EEBR
2022F 12 H31H M T 32 E R - BRERK

IR A B - N8 Ko 3 & b 50 745 W R s AR B T S B
AHNEBRENER TEHEEENRI LA
s
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B & B R E (&)

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

HE A Ayt R ER ([ EER ) BB

Refer to notes 8 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and estimates
in note 3(b)(iii).

R a B IREN T8 - B 5t27 K B 72 3(0)(i) 59 & &1 H B 42 14 5

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERESEE BN ESANANEEZEE

o evaluating the management’s assumptions and
judgements based on our assessment of the
value of the estimated sales of properties and the
deductible expenditure; and
EREYMENGHEEERATNER I H R
AEEEENRRLAE &

° re-calculating the provisions for LAT and
comparing our calculations with the amounts
recorded by the Group.
BEHMAE I MEETEE YR RMANGESER
B OEEEMTHENSELER -

The directors are responsible for the other information. The EEZEHWHMEEAE - EMEZa28FHEHER
other information comprises all the information included in the FHRAWLZIBELE  BTIBIEEEMBHEER
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements 19 B9 4% Bt Bl 3R & -

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not ﬁfﬁ HEAWBRENELI TREHAM(E

cover the other information and we do not express any form of B @ I THZEEHMEEEREMFAHEZ
assurance conclusion thereon. i3

o

§£§
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BY & B RS &)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

internal

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

BHRMAHREMBHRERNET  RANEE
BIEEMES  FERF  EEREMES
ERESAMBERERIKMERTBIZT A
TRRETB RTE%kT&%‘X%M?ﬁEéK
$5 AR R 1O 15

mm

ERFBFEATH TN REZMBREME
ERFEERERRL  RAFTEREZFE -
HETE RPORBEMRE -

EXZRABARBEBR LG ERMNCER
MBREERREE(RBGRIDNKERE
BRBEEMT5HES MR Iﬁ/\uu%
REFEVBRROEB I FEBARKFX
B ER T 28 BEY B 88 AR BR FﬁaﬁE’JW*BT il

E%ﬂ%%éﬁﬂ“a&&%% E=ZREME &R
BFEKLENE N YHEERBRTHREER
Z‘“’%“Mﬁfﬂﬁ’]$lﬁ AR R ERERES

B-BRIFEETAER BEREBRAFLE
E‘ B EEMERNBERTSR -

BB EMHESTRETER
BEBENSEE-

SR B

Annual Report 2022 ¢ — T~ — 441



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %A RS (A

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

error and are

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BY & B RS &)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %A RS (A

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

in our

The engagement partner on the audit in this

independent auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

resulting

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
£ 2022612 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AN B ZR)

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 2 AR®T R AR T T
Revenue ' N 4 571,183 1,348,501
Cost of sales RN (296,093) (1,035,122)
Gross profit EF 275,090 313,379
Valuation gains on investment KEMEMEBER S
properties 13(a) 17,093 28,046
Other net income H A W A F 5 5 6,458 5174
Selling expenses HEMX (35,021) (44,804)
Administrative expenses TR (63,368) (66,651)
Other expenses HEMAX 6 (1,410) (1,547)
Profit from operations REFF 198,842 233,597
Finance costs B & P A 7(a) (4,622) (23,845)
Share of profits less losses of JE 15 BSs & 8 B s ) RGBS 4B
associates 42,835 79,810
Profit before taxation R B A% R 237,055 289,562
Income tax Frig 5t 8(a) (122,615) (102,280)
Profit for the year FERRN 114,440 187,282
Attributable to: DR & 7 REAS
Equity shareholders of the KRB RERRE
Company 69,178 166,381
Non-controlling interests JEPE A% 2 45,262 20,901
Profit for the year FERF 114,440 187,282
Basic and diluted earnings per ERERAREERT
share (RMB cents) (AR S) 1 9.22 22.18

The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these

financial statements.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeEEakHEMEEKSE X

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E £2022F12 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A ANER#37R)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TTT

Profit for the year FERR 114,440 187,282
Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKE

for the year (after reclassification (REFH P ERE)

adjustments)
ltems that may be reclassified AEREH D EEZ BB

subsequently to profit or loss: HEH

Exchange differences on translation of & LA T B B3R KA IE 5

financial statements of: =5

— the associates — BrE QA (6,021) 1,913

— the Hong Kong and overseas — BAEREINKER A

subsidiaries (9,796) 2,640

Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKE

for the year, net of nil tax EHREBIE (15,817) 4,553
Total comprehensive income FEZHKZAE

for the year 98,623 191,835
Attributable to: LT ALER:

Equity shareholders of the Company RREEmRR 72,907 164,729

Non-controlling interests FETE AR M = 25,716 27,106
Total comprehensive income FEXEKZLHE

for the year 98,623 191,835

The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these HF135F264B 2 MixAZEHBREREH —I
financial statements. 7 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
5 M Bk R &

At 31 December 2022
72022412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREZTR)

2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ARBTR ARETTT

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BE R 12 51,588 55,192
Investment properties "B 13 86,200 59,300
Interest in associates REEZE R RIH R 15 446,921 403,760
Deferred tax assets BETIBEE 27(b) 81,418 80,626
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 17 98,820 -
764,947 598,878
Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs & K& H b & 4B A 18 1,455,589 1,711,481
Trade and other receivables B 5 NEMEWKIE 19 136,380 134,684
Prepaid tax AR IE 27(a) 32,262 47,721
Structured deposits EEETER - 33,000
Pledged and restricted deposits [Nl R M 20 66,714 46,782
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEY 21 205,561 373,468
1,896,506 2,347,136
Non-current assets held for sale BIELENFERDEE 16 92,965 92,965
1,989,471 2,440,101
Total assets BEE 2,754,418 3,038,979
Current liabilities REBaE
Bank loans RITER 22 158,400 322,499
Contract liabilities AHaE 23 66,307 192,362
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b E S R 24 781,928 926,045
Lease liabilities HERE 25 162 485
Tax payable FEAT R IE 27(a) 276,081 228,962
1,282,878 1,670,353

o

The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these HF135F264B 2 M AZSZHBHRERH — I
financial statements. b

130  Million Cities Holdings Limited B#ZRER AT Annual Report 2022 ¢ —T = —FFif



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
A B IR R X&)

At 31 December 2022

72022412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(CAANER#37R)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P & ARBTR ARETTT

Net current assets RBEEFE 706,593 769,748
Total assets less current BEERRBAER

liabilities 1,471,540 1,368,626
Non-current liabilities knBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 48 181
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAEE 27(b) 11,453 7,191

11,501 7,372

NET ASSETS EEFE 1,460,039 1,361,254
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRFE 28
Share capital & = 6,605 6,605
Reserves ke 1,160,848 1,087,779

Total equity attributable to equity AAFREZRRELES

shareholders of the Company g 1,167,453 1,094,384
Non-controlling interests FERER 292,586 266,870
TOTAL EQUITY MM 1,460,039 1,361,254

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on % = @ R2023F3F27 B #t /fE M IR 31T o
27 March 2023.

Wong Ting Chung Lau Ka Keung
FRER BxRR
Director Director

EFE EF

The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these HF135F264B 2 MixAZSZHBBHREREH —
financial statements. ) ¢
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e R

28R

For the year ended 31 December 2022

£ 2022612 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREZTR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
RRARERRES
Share Non-
Share Share option Statutory ~ Exchange Retained controlling
capital Premium reserves reserves reserves profits Total interests Total equity
k& ROEE BRERE iERE EXRE  REEA Ax FERES AR
Note RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WiE  ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR ARETx
Balance at 1 January 2021 ROAF1AIANES 6,605 660,653 6,250 39,880 (8,451) 223,966 928,903 239,764 1,168,667
Changes in equity for 2021 021 FHERED
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 166,381 166,381 20,901 187,282
Other comprehensive income 2 ENE - - - - (1,652) - (1,652) 6,205 4,553
Total comprehensive income 2HEMERE - - - - (1,652) 166,381 164,729 27,106 191,835
Equity settled share-based INEHEEURAA
transactions ERNRS 26 - - 752 - - - 752 - 752
Appropriation to statutory AREETRE
reserves 2810 - - - 12,439 - (12,439) - - -
R2021512A31B R
Balance at 31 December 2021 2022E1R1A K
and 1 January 2022 3 6,605 660,653 7,002 52,319 (10,103) 377,908 1,094,384 266,870 1,361,254
Changes in equity for 2022 N0FHERLE
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 69,178 69,178 45,262 114,440
Other comprehensive income Htr2ANE - - - - 3,729 - 3,729 (19,546) (15,817)
Total comprehensive income rANEEE - - - - 3,729 69,178 72,907 25,716 98,623
Equity settled share-based NESEEURND B
transactions RO S 26 = = 162 = = = 162 - 162
Appropriation to statutory PAREEEREE
reserves 28(c)(i) = = = 683 = (683) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2022 #2022 1231 8
33 6,605 660,653 7,164 53,002 (6,374) 446,403 1,167,453 292,586 1,460,039
The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these

financial statements.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEBRERERXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E £2022F12 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A ANER#37R)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P & ARBTR ARETTT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& ZIZHHELRE

ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations K& EHFFESRSE 21(b) 66,193 152,577
Income tax paid B (56,567) (45,736)

Net cash inflow from operating KRETHEHEERAFE
activities 9,626 106,841

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEFZHHERKE

ACTIVITIES
Investments in associates 1% & B R A (3,000) —
Acquisition of property, plant and WHE % - B R i#E

equipment (2,586) (4,393)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEW%E  HENKRE

plant and equipment Fr 15 5018 30 54
Proceeds from disposal of an HE—RBEE QT

associate Fr 15 5K 38 16 54,000 —
Interest received B U F B 3,592 4,912
Proceeds received upon maturity of 4% i& 4 17 7% ) HA 1% U B &Y

structured deposits Fr 15 318 101,000 -
Payments for structured deposits EBEUETRTR (68,000) (33,000)
Loan to a third party ﬁ% TER 17 (96,500) —

Net cash outflow from investing REZBHHRESHKH FH
activities (11,464) (32,427)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERE KR (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
£ 2022612 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AN B ZR)

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 2 AR®T R AR FTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®EZHRESFKE
ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals ENHEEERES
paid 21(c) (456) (450)
Interest element of lease rentals EfHEEHEE D
paid 21(c) (20) (41)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFTISIA 21(c) — 296,869
Repayment of bank loans EBERITER 21(c) (164,099) (342,907)
Interest paid on bank loans EfIRITERFE 21(c) (12,562) (21,819)
Advances from related parties RA L 7 B X 21(c) 64,705 2,687
Repayment to related parties M) B8 Bt 77 B X 21(c) (57,417) -
Net cash outflow from financing ®EFHRESREFHE
activities (169,849) (65,661)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and % % RRSZEEY
cash equivalents W),/ #n (171,687) 8,753
Cash and cash equivalents at ME1EMNESR
1 January REeZEY 373,468 366,309
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXSFHHNTE
changes 3,780 (1,594)
Cash and cash equivalents at M12B31BHNEER
31 December REeEEEY 21(a) 205,561 373,468

The notes on page 135 to page 264 form part of these
financial statements.

F136E264A 2 M E R % F W1 MR & — &F
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B MW R M

Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 November
2016 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
core business activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) include property
development and sales in Mainland China.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interest in associates.

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. For the purpose of preparing these financial
statements, the Group has adopted all applicable
new and revised HKFRSs, except for any new
standards or interpretations that are not yet effective
for the accounting period ended 31 December
2022. The revised and new accounting standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on or after
1 January 2021 are set out in note 36.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand,
as the Group’s principal activities were carried out in
Mainland China. RMB is the functional currency for
the Company’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. The functional currency of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries outside Mainland China
are Hong Kong dollars, as these entities’ principal
activities are financing and investing activities, and
Hong Kong dollars are the primary currency
generated from and used in these activities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that investments in debt and equity securities
and investment properties are stated at fair value as
explained in note 2(g) and note 2(j).

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

IR o Annual Report 2022

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(d)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

o Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

° Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets:
Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

None of these amendments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-Group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-Group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-Group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statements of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders
of the Company. Loans from holders of
non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statements of
financial position in accordance with note 2(q),(x)
depending on the nature of the liability.

IR o Annual Report 2022

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(e)

(f)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(l)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see note
2(y)). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint
venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 2(I)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(f)

(9)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

If an

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGFTEEGE)
(Continued)
(g) Other investments in debt and equity () HEBEXRBRARSFRE(Z)

securities (Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 29(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method (see note

2(v)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (Continued)
(i) Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
(FVOCI)-recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

income

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Other investments in debt and equity

securities (Continued)

(ii) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not
held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or
hedges of net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being hedged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

U]

1)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2(k)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(v).

In the comparative period, when the Group holds
property interest under an operating lease to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property on a property-by-property basis.
Any such property interest which has been classified
as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease (see note 2(k)), and
the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied to other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 2(k).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss (see note 2()):

—  buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land classified as held under

operating lease (see note 2(k)); and

— other items of plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

—=— —

=

)]

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

Residual

Useful life value%

Lands 50 years 0%

Buildings 20 years 5%-10%

Office equipment 2-12 years 0%-10%

Motor vehicles 4-5 years 0%—-10%

Electronic and other 2-10 years 0%—-10%

equipment

Other properties leased unexpired 0%

for own use term of lease
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(k)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time
consideration. is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

in exchange for
Control

(i) As a lessee

Where lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

the contract contains

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(k) Leased assets (Continued) (k) HEEEEZ)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) () EBERBAE)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(j) and 2(l)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:

— right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair
value in accordance with note 2(i);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

2

AANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

(k)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

— right-of-use assets related to interests in
leasehold land where the interest in the
land is held as inventory are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in
accordance with note 2(m).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(k) Leased assets (Continued) (k) HEEEE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) () EBRBAE)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent
concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the
rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the
lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
2(v).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or
as an operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in
notes 2(j) and (k), then the Group classifies the
sub-lease as an operating lease.

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables
and loans to associates); and

= lease receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Y% R XM E®)

—=— —

=

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate; and

— lease receivables: discount rate used in
the measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BA TR - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
lease receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets ) ERABRAREERE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () £HRTAREXHEENEHE
and lease receivables (Continued) % (&)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BA TR - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

—=— —

=

and lease receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(v)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.

IR o Annual Report 2022

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 EBEAEIHHE(Z)
) EHABEBLXREERE (&)

() £HRTAREXHEENEHE
% (&)

FIlEWA G EEZRE
122 BR BT sE2(v)(jii) FE 7R B9 A1) B Uk
ATREBEEREENREAE
SHECRIEEMEELRER
WA RIEERT - FEKA
Re R & E B A (BIER
EEERBEREB) TE -

REREEH AEEFEHR
MEEESRLRERRE -
BAE-ASSEHERMEER
AARRREREBEXNTNTE
MESF AEREELRER
A - &BMEELRERRE
MEBEBRATIEREN

- EBABERMBEER

- EXH mEREHE

= ¢

— B ESNETH
it B EA

- *’P B‘i |TJ i’/ﬁ /)=| _JZ/Z:
@%%ﬁﬁéﬁ“kﬂ
BEBEANEK TN E
o

- BOUANPBRHESE
HFRER G ERITS o

BiHIERAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited

157



158

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

2

AANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

m

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or lease receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets ) ERABRAREERE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees (i) EBRLHHBEERZEHBEX

issued (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised within “trade and other payables” at
fair value, which is determined by reference to
fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by
comparing the actual rates charged by lenders
when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees
(i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

U]

AANRESIR)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk
as described in note 2(l)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

= investments in subsidiaries, associates

and joint ventures; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Y% R XM E®)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)
— other non-current assets

— other contract costs

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BETHAS - AAREEFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

(m)
(M)

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Inventories and other contract costs

Property development

Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost and net realisable
values are determined as follows:

Property held for development and
property under development

The cost of properties held for
development and properties under
development comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised (see note
2(x)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(m) FEREMENRE ()

(m) Inventories and other contract costs

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which comprise
of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square foot
pbasis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

(m)

AANRESIR)

Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)

(ii)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (see
note 2(m)(i)) or property, plant and equipment
(see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the
Group entered into the contract (for example,
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Y% R XM E®)

Inventories and other contract costs

(Continued)

(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)
Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of () remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in note 2(v).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2(v)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(0)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract liability includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(v)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see notes 2(l) and (j)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, property pre-sale
proceeds held by solicitor that are held for meeting
short-term cash commitments and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(l)(ii) trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(x)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(s) Employee benefits (s) EEER
(i)  Short-term employee benefits () HHESHEF

Salaries, employee wages or salaries, bonuses,
social security contributions such as medical
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing fund, measured at the
amount incurred or at the applicable
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a
liability as the employee provides services, with
a corresponding charge to profit or loss or
included in the cost of assets where
appropriate.

Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by
government organizations. The Group makes
contributions to basic pension insurance plans
based on the applicable benchmarks and rates
stipulated by the government. Basic pension
insurance contributions are recognised as part
of the cost of assets or charged to profit or
loss as the related services are rendered by
the employees.

The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong, which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme. The contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income with a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

(s) Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
On vesting date,
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve). The equity amount is recognised in
the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

reserve. the amount
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

®

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(i), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other case,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

®

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
pbasis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAXREBFHEHX#E)
(Continued)
(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities v BERIIREE(E)
(Continued)
Other provisions and contingent liabilities EMEEREAREE (F)
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the
right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
(“VAT”) and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of

financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other

income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties in
the ordinary course of business is recognised:

— when properties are handed over to the
customers which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Advanced payments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included

in the statement of financial

under contract liabilities (see note 23); or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale of properties (Continued)

— as the performance obligations are
satisfied over time in accordance with the
progress when the properties sold have
no alternative use to the Group due to
contractual arrangements and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment from
the customer for the performance
completed to date. The excess of the
consideration that the Group has the
unconditional right to receive from the
customers over the revenue recognised in
profit or loss is included in the statement
of financial position as contract liabilities
(see note 23).

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property exceeds one year, the
transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing
component. If the advance payments by the
customer are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of
time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment
date and the date of delivery of property. This
accrual increases the balance of the contract
liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(x).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

(v)

AANRESIR)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are
earned.

income

loss as an

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.

For credit
effective

impaired financial assets, the
interest is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(l)(i)).

rate

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of Hong Kong and foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a Hong Kong or foreign operations,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that Hong Kong or foreign operations is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(x)

(v)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in
its present condition. A disposal group is a group of
assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the above criteria for
classification as held for sale are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non- controlling
interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then,
on initial classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the Company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be measured
in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in
note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as
a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or
is included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale, the non- current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

()

AANRESIR)

Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(ii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(z) Related parties (Continued) (2) BEEER (&)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the 2 MWM—EEEFE T EMK
following conditions applies: (Continued) " AZEREAEEEH
i (48)

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant (vii) (1 )()Pﬁa_}\iﬁf BEE
influence over the entity or is a member e %% ZE 88 (3
of the key management personnel of the EAE\FIEE"] NEDEEE

entity (or of a parent of the entity). BEKE -
(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of (vii) BN ERBIEASE T
which it is a part, provides key MK E A EF -5

AAKEXAEEFQ
AREEZEEEARR

management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

ﬁ% o
Close members of the family of a person are —BATHERREKEETE
those family members who may be expected HIFEERNR P A EZ
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in ATHZZALTHENRER
their dealings with the entity. 8 e

(aa) o 3P/
AREBAPEERTAEERER

(aa) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements, MitE R EHRERER > @ F HRA
are identified from the financial information provided £ & ?%i&ﬁl@(‘ﬁﬁ}\é\%f B 7%
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive BR - RPAKETBREMZR
management for the purposes of allocating é%%ﬁa‘ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ K2 o
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

The Group manages its business as a whole as AEBEREBERAXL BEAY
properties development is the only reporting XEERE—WMESE BB HmE

segment. The financial statements is presented in a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops and purchases properties held
for sale and properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property
held for sale.

For the developed properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties
under development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

For the purchased properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
stage when obtained control of the related
properties. The related properties are accounted for
as inventories included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 29 contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of
structured deposits. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(i)  Properties for sale

As explained in note 2(m), the Group’s
properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group’s recent experience and the nature of
the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in cases for properties held for
development and properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion
or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this may
result in provision for properties for sale. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
and provision for properties in the periods in
which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower
than that estimated at the end of the reporting
period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition

As explained in note 2(v)(i), revenue from sales
of properties can be recognised over time
when the Group’s performance do not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

The determination of whether the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for its sales in
Mainland China depends on the actual
payment pattern, terms of the sales contract
and the interpretation of the applicable laws.
Such determination requires judgements. The
Group considers that it has enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date
based on the terms of agreements with the
customers by reference to the legal opinion
obtained from its legal counsel. The above
interpretation from the legal counsel may be
different from the interpretation or judgement of
the relevant authorities in Mainland China,
which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years.

In addition, revenue and profit on uncompleted
projects recognised over time is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the contract,
as well as the percentage of work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activities,
the Group has made estimates of the point at
which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the
contract can be reasonably measured. Actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the
end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 3 SEtHETRMEE(E)
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) (b) FEFTEERERRERE)

(iij) Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) (iii) L HEEEF ([ £ EEFH])

As explained in note 8(a)(ii), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on
the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges
of land use rights, borrowing cost and relevant
property development expenditures. Given the
uncertainties of the calculation basis of land
appreciation tax to be interpreted by the local
tax bureaux and the actual appreciation of land
value may be different from the original
estimates, the actual outcomes may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in
estimates would affect profit or loss in future
years.

Expected credit loss for trade and other
receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group used
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the credit loss
calculation, based on the past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences
carried forward are recognised and measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a
number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the Group and
require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBAETHIN » UAREFIR)
4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARTDHHRE
(a) Revenue (@ WA
The principal activities of the Group are property AEBMEEEE AT BRI
development and sales in Mainland China. EMEBERRIHEE -

(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) WAHD
Revenue mainly represents income from sale of WAFERYMEHERARY

XHEHEE  CHRHEEMREA
BB NF&E TN 2w

properties and gross rentals from properties,
net of sales related taxes and discounts

allowed, and is analysed as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREF T
Revenue from contracts (&8 K EE Q)
with customers FIREERNNEEEN
within the scope of KA
HKFRS 15
Sales of properties: YIS
— Recognised at a point  — 7 = {# F 25 7 3R
in time 538,068 1,285,213
— Recognised overtime — REBREHEER 30,026 60,193
568,094 1,345,406
Revenue from other H b 3R B9 WA
sources
Gross rentals from ¥R BT
properties 3,089 3,095
571,183 1,348,501

BiEmSESTHNELE LI
A5 R 40 H E -

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed
in note 4(b).

EH ZE2022612A318 IEFE
AEBNRFEEM D W E
B-RBFHNRZEEREEBRA
HBiB10% (20214 1 &) -

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group’s customer base is diversified and does
not have a customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
(2021: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)
(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the

future arising from contracts with
customers at the reporting date
The following table includes revenue expected
to be recognised in the future related to
performance obligations that are not satisfied
or partially satisfied as at 31 December 2022:

WARDEBESE (&)

(@) WA (&)

(i) FAHEFRRERFRREEAH
HEFE &K A
TREBBEIHERRERE @
2022912 A31H * & 17 = =B
PBITEHOEETHRA :

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Remaining performance T EHRAUTHEBETHTE

obligations expected HNEME:
to be satisfied:
Within one year —F R

123,092 388,678

These amounts represent revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-sale
contracts for properties under development
entered into by the customers and the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Total future minimum lease payments
receivable by the Group
Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable
as follows:

4

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

WA RDEBESE (&)

(@) WAGE)

(iii) FFE G ERARRIEEE N
> HEE
RIEAAHEEEHENER
ARZEEENKBRAT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T ARET T

Within one year —F R 2,863 1,582
After 1 year but within —FEREMFA

2 years 3,016 1,558
After 2 years but within MEBRBE=FNK

3 years 3,087 1,708
After 3 years but within —FERENFA

4 years 3,047 1,877
After 4 years but within FEEZERFA

5 years 3,075 1,719

After 5 years hF% 19,257 7,545

34,345 15,989

Operating segment

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
is more focused on the Group as a whole, as all of
the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily
dependent on the performance of property
development. Resources are allocated based on
what is beneficial for the Group in enhancing its
property development activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment (Continued)
Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, investment properties, other
non-current assets and interests in associates
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at
which the properties were developed or leased out.
The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties, and the
location of operations, in the case of other
non-current assets and interests in associates.

Revenue from
external customers

RENREFHBA

2022
20225
RMB’000
ARB TR

WARDEBESE (&)

(b)

reEsI(E)

hEEH

TR BEHEOAEBRBIRE
FHWBARNAEBDE - BE KX
BB REVE EMFERDEE
krieE e E=x ((IEEFERBE
EDFREHKER - BRI
ERERREBEVENMNE - BT
ERBEEMAMEMNDEREED
ERUE (WBYE  BEREHER
BEME)REBUE (B EAMIE
MBEERRBE QA Ex) -

Specified
non-current assets

EEFRBEE

2021 2022 2021
20214 2022 20214
RMB’000 | il =Kl RMB’000
ARETT PSS ARETT

Huizhou = 511,672 273,534 495,906 359,284
Tianjin PN 59,511 1,074,967 58,319 30,653
Zhumadian HEE - — 128,875 127,261
Others HAth - - 429 1,054

571,183 1,348,501 683,529 518,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

5 OTHER NET INCOME 5 Htl AFHE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREETIT

Interest income from bank RERITFEROFE WA
deposits 3,592 4,912

Interest income from loan A EKERF B WA
receivable (note 17) (Bt 5E17) 2,320 —
Government grants (note) BT 48 B (B9 3E) 216 -
Net exchange (loss)/gain bE X (&518), Wz %8 (455) 143

Net gain on disposals of property, HE¥E - BE K& EN
plant and equipment G- = 14
Others H 785 105
6,458 5,174

Note: In 2022, the Group received a funding from the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by
the Hong Kong Government, for financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees in Hong Kong. No
such fund was granted for the year ended 31 December

Mizk - 2022F REERBEESBF A E
REVBIENRBEBREE MR
W EMEES THRUESEES
& 4 4 8h - B £20214128318 It &£
EXEESABRNE M-

2021.

6 OTHER EXPENSES 6 HMpExX
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR FT
Donations B 1,410 1,434
Other sundry expenses HMmEMAx - 113
1,410 1,547
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

(@) Finance costs

BR B4 A & F

B B AT E A 0 & B (GEA) T3 & 18
BE

(a) BMERAE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETFT
Interest on bank loans RITEER S (HE21()
(note 21(c)) 12,142 20,937
Interest on lease liabilities MEaEMNE (HE21(c)
(note 21(c)) 20 41
Accrued interest on significant A HBEBEMNEAREILHH
financing component of JEGT T B
contract liabilities 14,412 40,895
Others Hth - 1,891
26,574 63,764
Less: Interest expenses W ERNMEETER
capitalised into MERZ
inventories* (21,952) (89,919)
4,622 23,845

5.05% to 6.18% per annum).

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

The interest rates of borrowing costs that have been
capitalised ranged from 5.05% to 6.18% per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:

& A1k & &
5.06%%6.18% (20214 : £ 7| =
B5.05%%6.18% ) ©

#H Z=2022F12A31H I+ F E -
KA K F R R A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)
7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBARER(E)
(b) Staff costs (b) BEIRA

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT

Salaries, wages and e IEREMET
other benefits 39,106 45,100
Contributions to defined M) R TE 1 FOR KT 8 5K
contribution retirement plan 2,485 2,987
Equity-settled share-based NEREEUARD AERS
payment expenses R 2 (M 3E26(b) )
(note 26(b)) 162 752
Less: Staff costs capitalised into & : EXR{LEFEWNE L
inventories BN (13,510) (16,007)
28,243 32,832
The domestic companies established in Mainland FERBEAKIZAIEARR G (A
China (“Mainland Operating Entities”) participate in LEERD2EATETRRER
defined contribution retirement benefit schemes (the BT % B 4R 48 0 R E # FOR IK AR A
“Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and FTEI(EED  BUtAEEER
provincial government authorities, whereby Mainland BEEBARMEBRNFHEZ R
Operating Entities are required to make contribution R BIVE 58 - 7 BT # R &
at the rates required by different local government BER2HEGEMENRE TEHRIK
authorities. The local government authorities are /f IR 5T & AR E R 1E K
responsible for the pension obligations payable to EREBERPNR -

the retired employees covered under the Schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the Schemes.

—ZT = ZHFFI ¢ Annual Report 2022 BiHEKREMR 2T Million Cities Holdings Limited 193



194

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBAVER ()
(b) Staff costs (Continued) (b) EIRAE(E)
The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident AEBMRBEDERFIMMERABESET
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong &R BIREB B EBIERGE BE
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance EEEEBANESEFE BRI
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the NERFTE([REEFTE - B8R
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF RER—EHBUIXFEABTEN
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan ATEHRFTRKRE S - BIFRE S FT
administered by independent trustees. Under the g2 EEXrREEEREEKEEM
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are AU ARS%METEIER e EA
each required to make contributions to the plan at 8 B8 Uk A 530,000 7T [ 5T &1 /E
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a 2 BN AR e
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
(c) Other items (c) HMEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBET T
Depreciation and amortisation I & M 8 5,823 7,697
Auditors’ remuneration % BET B &
— audit service — BFTR 2,460 2,447
— non-audit service — FEFR® 500 455
2,960 2,902
Rentals receivable from KEMERKE2
investment properties (686) (667)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

REBRBERANAEHR

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss represents:

(@) HFEBEmFXABIIEE:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREEFIT

Current tax B HA %4 18

Provision for Corporate Income B ¥FTER ([DEMER])

Tax (“CIT") Bt 43,700 52,838
Provision for LAT + b 3 (B AR 75,445 55,025
119,145 107,863

Deferred tax EER 1E
— CIT — XABEHR 3,470 (5,583)
122,615 102,280

(i)

(ii)

CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for CIT is based on the
estimated taxable income at the rates
applicable to each Mainland China subsidiary
of the Group. The income tax rate applicable
to the principal subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%
during the year (2021: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
recognised for the year (2021: nil) as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any
assessable profits for the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs
and relevant property development
expenditures.

—ZT = ZHFFI ¢ Annual Report 2022

(i)

(ii)

TEFBHEREEBAEH

RS BEER G ER
TR U 2 ¥ AR R B 5 P B A 3 B
BRAIBRANREE - hEH
FTENBRARANFEEBERANA
B R A25% (20214F & 25% ) °

RERBERRBBNGEHE
(20215 : &) - AREEMH
BRRAEEHE T ERBK
A -

T 45 42 (8 F

=+ Jib 1% (B B 12 30% E60% K 2
ERMERAEBEFABILIHE
PIER T I EBRY - B
AR - THIREBREE
MEMBHRERATKINAX
(BRI ERAEEESE &
AR EEMERESZ L)
ATE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -
INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8

8

IAARKSIR)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)
(iij) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

Cayman lIslands and the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Reconciliation between tax expense and (b)
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

REBRBERANAER (&)
ReBERRABEE: ()

(iii) RIBEFSEE N B BB

B(RBABREE ) KA
R#H - AEEBARMEE
BYE 2 4 S B (L (0
B Fi

RERAXEREARRTEZS
at i A B AR

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T
Profit before taxation R 5 A S 237,055 289,562
Less: LAT B LI E R (75,445) (55,025)
Profit before CIT b 1> BT 15 0 A0 = A 161,610 234,537
Notional tax calculated at HEEEE QR ERMEN
applicable income tax rate of RAENEBED
the relevant Group entities
concerned 38,032 54,216
Tax effect of non-taxable ERMBMAN R E
income (6,848) (13,166)
Tax effect of non-deductible AAHMRAZORGE T E
expenses 3,912 4,872
Tax effect of unused tax losses FKIERH KB AR EEZ
not recognised mBEE 1,825 1,333
Tax effect of temporary RERNGREE BB
difference not recognised T 10,249 -
CIT PEMEH 47,170 47,255
LAT + 3 IR A T 75,445 55,025
Income tax expense Frig i 122,615 102,280
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fBRE M%&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section R IE & B 8 & B1)5383(1) 1§ K& A &)
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part (BBREZMNmER) B0 F250 R E T
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about BrESMamT :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZ202F12ANALEE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement

Directors’ and other Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions Sub-total Payment Total
B RBlR HRGBHER
2k AR METL BATHER E WA @zt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
G AR%Tn ARETR ARMTr AR¥TR ARETR ARETR ARETx

Chairman and executive ~ IERHUFTES

director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TEBEE (a) 259 1,380 1,726 16 3,381 33 3,414
Executive directors HiTEER
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRUEE 259 2,071 1,726 16 4,072 33 4,105
Mr. Li Wa Tat TEERE (b) 259 1,191 155 16 1,621 - 1,621
Independent non- BUFGTES

executive directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan,Stephen £ %4 259 - - - 259 16 275
Mr. Li Yinquan FolREHE 259 - - - 259 16 275
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung -5 (© 259 - - - 259 - 259

1,554 4,642 3,607 48 9,851 % 9,949
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

Basic

salaries,

allowances

Directors’ and other
fee benefits

BF AR

Exhe  Hitha
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE021512A31ALF B
Retirement
Discretionary scheme Share-based
bonuses  contributions Sub-total Payment Total
AR AD BT
BEEL RIGHEER INEE kNN @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M ARMTR ABMTT ABBTL  ARSTL ARMTr ARMTR ABMTR
Chairman and executive ~ FERUTEE
director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FTEREE 6] 249 747 830 14 1,840 179 2,019
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRARLA 249 1,993 830 15 3,087 179 3266
Mr. Li Wa Tat TEERE (b) 87 1,133 143 15 1,378 = 1,378
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen HBERLE (d 210 1,020 = 12 1,242 - 1,242
Independent non- BUFGTES
executive directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan,Stephen -9 bt 249 = = = 249 %0 339
Mr. Li Yinquan ZoFn4 249 = = = 249 90 339
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung BEELE () 15 - - - 15 - 15
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen kR ) 249 = = = 249 24 213
1,557 4893 1808 56 8,309 562 8871

(@) Mr. Wong Ting Chung was appointed as executive @ TERAEABRZEAARARABMITE
director of the Company with effect from 1 April £ H2021F481HERK »
2021.

(b) Mr. Li Wa Tat was appointed as executive director b)) FEEXFEZER/RARANTE
of the Company with effect from 26 August 2021. £ H2021F8H26H £ &K -

(¢) Mr. Chan Hiu Fung was appointed as independent ) FHEELEEZRERANRRIBLIE
non-executive director of the Company with effect 17 E £ B2021F128108 &£
from 10 December 2021. e

(d) Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen has resigned as executive d HERLEFBRETARAIMITES
director of the Company with effect from 26 August E2021F8H26H £ 3K -

2021.
() Dr. Wu Wing Kuen has resigned as independent () #AKIEE LB EARRIBIEMTT

non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 10 December 2021.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10 AUEEHFEMA L
Of the five highest paid individuals, three (2021: four) are FfusmHFMALTHE =6 (2021F : M
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The f)ES  HFEMAMFOREE - MM
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2021F : — () ATH S BRENT :

(2021: one) individuals are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T

Salaries and other emoluments FekEME 1,807 963
Contributions to retirement B RAE B AT &I 3k
benefit scheme 31 15
Share-based payments VAR 1D A& E 1 &9 5k 15 81
1,853 1,059
The emoluments of the two individuals (2021: one) are WAL AT (2021F : —() MBS BR T
within the following bands: HI & E -
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD500,001 — HKD1,000,000 500,001% 7E %1,000,0007% 7 1 —
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000
BT 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB69,178,000 (2021:
RMB166,381,000) and the weighted average number
of issued ordinary shares of 750,000,000 (2021:
750,000,000) during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 were the same as the
basic earnings per share as the deemed issue of
shares under the Company’s share option scheme
was anti-dilutive for both years.

The average market value of the Company’s shares
for the purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of
share options was based on quoted market prices
for the period during which the options were
outstanding.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(a)

(b)

BERELXER

B E2022F12 831 It FE SR E
REF) THAR IR A A7) 25 A R AL
i A A R 69,178,000 (20214F :
AR #166,381,0007t) K750,000,000
% (20214F : 750,000,0008%) B % 17
TR mEEHEGTE -

BRE®BER
R & £20224F 2021612 H31H
IEEE RABREBARQGERET
EIBITRMES RESEHRE -
ZMEFE SRESRNHEER
BEXRBFMER -

AR EREREEEIENARA

B A 2 S B Jh H R i A %
TTHEINAR B TS ME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) PREEHER
Other
properties
leased for
own Electronic
use carried and
Lands and at Office Motor other
buildings cost equipment vehicles  equipment Total
AR
HEBA2 7R
THRET HEWE BARE RE B @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETRE AR®TR ARETR AR%TxR
Cost: B
At 1. IJanuary 2021 20211 418 64,367 1,548 1,772 7,308 6,281 81,276
AddITIOHS NE - - 96 1,599 2,698 4,393
Disposals HeE - - - (403) - (403)
Exchange adjustments [EH AR - (19) - 82 (7) (108)
At 31 December 2021 and M20214F12A31H
1 January 2022 %20221 A 16 64,367 1,529 1,868 8,422 8,072 85,158
Additions nE - - - 100 2,485 2,585
Disposals e - - - (296) - (296)
Exchange adjustments i 5 30 - - - 259 23 282
At 31 December 2022 72022124318 64,367 1,529 1,868 8,485 11,480 87,729
Accumulated depreciation: 2IIFE:
At 1 January 2021 202151 A1H (13,952) (451) (975) (5,396) (2,780) (23,554)
Charge for the year FRAZH (2,877) (453) (262) (887) (2,352) (6,831)
Written back on disposals HeERm - - - 363 - 363
Exchange adjustments EH A - - - 51 5 56
At 31 December 2021 and N20214F12A31H
1 January 2022 %2022%1 /318 (16,829) (904) (1,237) (5,869) (5,127) (29,966)
Charge for the year FREH (3,018) (467) (56) (460) (1,822) (5,823)
Written back on disposals HE#mE - — - 267 - 267
Exchange adjustments &5 AR - - - (642) 283 619)
At 31 December 2022 2022612 A31A (19,847) (1,371) (1,293) (6,704) (6,926) (36,141)
Net book value: REEE:
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H 44,520 158 575 1,781 4,554 51,588
At 31 December 2021 #2021F12731H 47,538 625 631 2,553 3,845 55,192

2022412 A318 * A& E [FE A& H
EROMENFTERES  2SWE
® BR m (B A A R #26,751,0007T
(20214 © A R #28,389,0007T) °
KRB EERBAEEBFERER £
METIEYEETEE TSI REHR
TARMBEBYEEEMIEMEM

S/ 48
= °

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in the
process of applying the certificates of ownership for
certain properties with the net book value of
RMB26,751,000 (2021: RMB28,389,000). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
use of and the conduct of operating activities at the
properties referred to above are not affected by the
fact that the Group has not yet obtained the
relevant property title certificates.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022 Ei5EKREMR 2T Million Cities Holdings Limited 201



202

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(b)

The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets
included in “Property, plant and equipment” is as
follows:

12 9% -BERRKRE (&)

(b) FHATMIE BFEMRE]2(ERE
BENKREZFEINTWOT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T

Ownership interests in leasehold A B 1EE BIRITER A

land and building held for ABRB#H THERT ZHE

own use, carried at BT RIEFHNREERE

depreciated cost in the PRC,
with remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A

B

44,520 47,5638

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount

13 REYH
(a) BEEEYE

RMB’000
AR T
Valuation: &8 :

At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A1H 20,200
Transfer from completed properties for sale HEREBAFIELHED TIME 11,054
Fair value adjustment NEEFAR 28,046

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 720214 12H318 &
20221 A1H 59,300
Transfer from completed properties for sale EREBAFIEHED TSI ME 9,807
Fair value adjustment N EFE 17,093
At 31 December 2022 P2022F12 A31H 86,200

Completed properties held for sale of RMB9,807,000
(2021: RMB11,054,000) were transferred from
“inventories and other contract costs” to “investment
properties” as a result of change of use. The
properties were measured at fair value at the time of
transfer and revaluation gain of RMB17,093,000 (2021:
RMB28,046,000) had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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EAZEE RBELHEETIYWE
A R #09,807,0007T (20214 : AR¥E
11,054,0007T) B [ & R H A& 46K
RIBREIREWE] - HEAMER
ERERERATENE EHRKREA
R #17,093,0007T (20214F : A R #
28,046,0007T) KRG 1B m R ER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Y% R XM E®)

Fair value measurement of properties

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s properties measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

IR o Annual Report 2022

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(b) MEZLQXFEHFE
() =HFEER

TRAFAEAEERREHR
BREBEEEFEZYVERF
B REKEBWHHREERD
FIBRAFEFEZEEZHA
FEINDS=EER ~FE
AEERTD2R TG ERM
FERBABIBEBZ TBEEE
MEERES D :

e FEMRNEH-EER
F-EREARE R
R ERRERRBRTS
EEHREBCOCRAR)ZH
REEXBBEFERF
=1

s FE_EANE-EARZF
“ERwARE - AR
WERBMEE - ER
P28 ASBE - M3k
ERATABRZERS
ABBEFEQRFET
AR ABEBRTE
™5 8UE 2 A BUR

« EZEM/TME:ERT

TERZEZH AR
HEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB - UARKESIR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

(Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value at
31 December

13 REWE ()
(b) MEZLAFETE E)

() RFEERE

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into
R2022F12A31HE A EMNAFEE

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20224
128318 1
ATE E— EZE £
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR AR TR AR TR
Investment properties in AR E R HIRE
Mainland China: E
— Commercial -Ax 86,200 - - 86,200
Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2021 categorised into
31 December 2021 12A31A P BM A FET 2
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20214
12A318 #
ATE £ FE F=E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TT AR%®TR ARETRT ARETR
Investment properties in R E R HIRE
Mainland China: mE
— Commercial - B 59,300 - - 59,300

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2021: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which

they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

()

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties were
revalued at fair value as at 31 December 2022
by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited
(formerly known Unicorn Consulting And
Appraisal Limited), an independent valuer who
has relevant professional qualification and
recent experience in the location and category
of properties being valued. The same valuation
techniques were used by this valuer when
carrying out the valuation as at 31 December
2021. The Group’s management have
discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results twice a year
for financial reporting.

Information about Level 3 fair value

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 REME(E
(b) WEZATFENE(E)

(i) RARFEERE)
& E 2 & E Y HEN2022F
1231 B BB E AR EE
PR A &) (B8 812 55 A R AT &
BERAT  REMEBAEEER
B B & B ¥ AR R L R BE W)
EMEERNE L (GER)
BRAFEBXTG - ZEERM
# 772021F12 8318 {4 & B
£ FAAE R A E T - AEE
ERERASMEBFRT R
HmEERSREEERN

S
IN °

(i) BEZE=FRLAFETENE

measurements #
Range
gE
Valuation Unobservable
techniques input 2021
EREEE FTHBERAYE 20214
Investment properties:
KREWE:
— Commercial — Direct market Adjusted market 8,200-15,700 8,200-15,700
Mainland China  comparison price (RMB/square
approach meter)

—BX - FERA

BEEMBLEE KHETE

(BF T AKARE)

The fair value of investment properties located
in Mainland China is determined using the
direct market comparison approach by
reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square meter basis,
adjusted for a premium or a discount specific
to the location, property size and age of the
Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The higher adjusted market price will
result in a higher fair value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWME(E)
(c) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets (c) FAIREMEIZFEAEEENK
included in “Investment properties” is as follows: HFEI>TET :

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARET T

Ownership interests in leasehold KA BEIEAFEARABHT
investment property carried at MBI T 2 HEREDE

fair value in the PRC, with HFTE R
remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A 13,800 13,800
— between 10 and 50 years — 10&E50%F 2 | 72,400 45,500
86,200 59,300
(d) The Group leases out investment properties under d TEERBLCLEHAEHBERED
operating leases. The leases typically run for an ¥ - MOV ARBE—ZE1+F
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to MMEERYILHBEREER - A&
renew the lease upon expiry of the initial term. FRMmsEeKE  BOMKBT
Lease payments are usually increased every year to REEN - PEBOBREXEHS
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.
14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RRBARINRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'OOO
AR%®T R ARETF T
Unlisted shares, at cost FEEMBA - TR 23,718 21,708
Capital loans to subsidiaries (note () # FHEBRAFTNELER
(PR 3E() ) 588,384 527,658
612,102 549,366
()  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have () HBAEER RERUTEETEE
no fixed terms of repayment, and are expected to FH TEEHIR —E R E o
be recovered after one year.
The following tables list out the information relating to TRINEEBEEERIEZEBRER ([3E
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. TRER]) CASENBAREMNTE
(“Huizhou Million Cities”) and Million Cities Jianji Real HEMERZEERAG(EMNEN]) &
Estate (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Jianji”), the subsidiaries BEHEREBE(RB)ARAR(XRER
of the Group which have material non-controlling interests EDZER UT2AN2HBEREE
(“NCI"). The summarised financial information presented REMARIMEEAT SR -
below represents the amounts before any inter-company

elimination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

14 RREBARNRE (&)

(Continued)
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R AREF T
Huizhou Million Cities EMEHE
NCI percentage EIEREEZAE L 45.5% 45.5%
Current assets RBEE 868,241 1,167,542
Non-current assets FERBEE 41,127 43,051
Current liabilities HEEE (327,527) (722,074)
Net assets BEFH 581,841 488,519
Revenue WA 480,929 59,713
Profit for the year F R 93,322 1,417
Total comprehensive income EHW B RE 93,322 1,417
Reconciliation to the carrying FERERRTEYR
amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net assets FEEERE 581,841 488,519
Elimination of the unrealised profit B P MR R # IR % 7
upon consolidation (13,196) (13,196)
568,645 475,323
NClI’s effective interest EEREEMEERES 45.5% 45.5%
Carrying amount of NCI JEVERR = R E 258,733 216,272
Reconciliation to the profit FEREREMEFEER
attributable to NCI
Gross amounts of profit i ) 48 58 93,322 1,417
NC/I’s effective interest FERERIGERESR 45.5% 45.5%
Profit allocated to NCI DEEIFIERER 28 42,462 645
Cash inflow/(outflow) from operating & %K\ L RA (RH)
activities 88,113 (54,619)
Cash outflow from investing activities & & E IR &K H — (1,695)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from financing MEFSHES CRE)RA
activities (143,112) 91,937

BiHIZRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RBATMKRE (&)

(Continued)
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T
Million Cities Tianjin Jianji BEERRXREZE
NCI percentage IR ERCBEDL 45% 45%
Current assets TmENE E 818,091 940,308
Non-current assets FRBEE 58,318 30,653
Current liabilities mEERE (816,520) (870,581)
Non-current liabilities JEREEaE (5,624) (1,344)
Net assets B EFE 54,265 99,036
Revenue WA 61,731 1,082,718
(Loss)/Profit for the year ERN(ER), %7 (1,334) 56,462
Other comprehensive income Hiah 2wz (43,437) 13,788
Total comprehensive income >H U BT (44,771) 70,250
Reconciliation to the carrying FIEREZEDEYE
amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net assets FEERTE 54,265 99,036
NClI's effective interest EERERIEEERER 45% 45%
Carrying amount of NCI JEEREREmE 24,419 44,566
Reconciliation to the profit FIEREZELRZRYEE
attributable to NCI
Gross amounts of (loss)/profit (FE18) H# A e (1,334) 56,462
NCI's effective interest IR E S PTE ER 45% 45%
(Loss)/Profit allocated to NCI DEEEIFIERER 2
(E18), % 7 (600) 25,408
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating e EmIB S Cnd) TR
activities (24,496) 73,421
Cash outflow from financing activities gt & & 8138 € 7% H (8,312) (159,794)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 15 REEZE AN ER

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTIT

Share of net assets JE(REEFE 275,884 241,317
Capital loans to associates (note) mEENRIERESER
(B 3E) 171,037 162,443
446,921 403,760
Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed M EREHERR 2B HEERTEER
terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered B EHIR —F&igE -

after one year.

The following list contains the particulars of all associates, TRINEH AR LT ARTNERELED
all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted BWMECFEBERRNER

market price is not available:

Proportion of
ownership interest held

by the
Group’s subsidiary
HAREHEAAEEN
EEERZ LA
Place of Particulars
Form of business incorporation and of issued and Principal
Name of associate structure business paid-up capital 2022 2021 activity
A Y K BETR
BeNE A8 EBREBEA SEhY HMERKFE 20226 2021F TEEKEH
Gold Concept Development Limited Incorporated BVI USD 100 30% 30% Investment holding
“Gold Concept” AR AL EELRARED 100 T 30% 30% REER
Asia Image (H.K.) Limited “Asia Image™' Incorporated Hong Kong HKD 1 30% 30% Investment holding
Bl Bk 17T 30% 30% REER
Henan Julongju Real Estate Co., Ltd. Incorporated Mainland China ~ HKD 20,000,000 30% 30% Property development
“Henan Julongju™!
AEREEEXERAR (THEHEE] Bl RE A 20,000,0007% 7 30% 30% NEER
Henan Julongwan Property Management Co., Ltd.*"  Incorporated Mainland China RMB20,000 30% 30% Property management
MEREENEEEERAR A % L REA AR#20,0007 30% 30% MEER
Star Linkage Financial Holdings Limited Incorporated BVI USD 100 30% 30% Investment holding
“Star Linkage” (note 16) (note 16)
A % L HEAARES 100 T 30% 30% REERK
(Kiz£16)  (F=16)
Star Linkage Investments Limited™ Incorporate Hong Kong usD 1 30% 30% Investment holding
A % L Bk E 30% 30% REERK
Shenzhen Manyi Investment Advisory Limited™ Incorporate Mainland China RMB5,000,000 30% 30% Investment
advisory
RImRBREFAERD A At i Ak 3z REA A R #5,000,0007T 30% 30% REEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=y

Bt %% WK MR (A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB - UARKESIR)
15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

15 B

ERNFMNESR (&)

Proportion of
ownership interest held

by the
Group’s subsidiary
HASENBARREEH
EEERELA
Place of Particulars
Form of business incorporation and of issued and Principal
Name of associate structure business paid-up capital 2022 2021  activity
AL L K BETR
BENFER EBRBER LEhy BRRAFE 2022 20215 FEEBEH
Shenzhen Guoxin Electric Development Limited™ Incorporate Mainland China RMB13,000,000 21% 21% Property development
(note 16) (note 16)
RITEEETFERERAA Eili77 A B 3 ARH 21% 2% MEER
13,000,000t (Ff&E16)  (Bi7E16)
Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate Limited Incorporate Mainland China  RMB529,409,070 30% 30% Property development
(“Logan Junhong”)
ENTRAREEHERRAR(RERE)® &KL H B A3 AR% 30% 30% MEER
529,409,0707C
Well Kong Investments Limited Incorporated BVI UsD 2 50% 50% Investment holding
(“Well Kong Investment”)
BEREBRAR([RBERE] i li77 A EEAARES VEY 50% 50% REER
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited* Incorporated Hong Kong HKD10,000 50% 50% Investment holding
BEER)ERAA a2t i A 32 Bk 10,000/ 7 50% 50% REER
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate Co., Ltd.* Incorporated Mainland China RMB88,000,000 50% 50% Property development
BHNEEBEXBRAAN Eil177 A HEAH ARH 50% 50% MEER
88,000,0007C
Huizhou Dewanxin Information Consulting Co., LTD  Incorporated Mainland China - 50% — Corporate Management advisory
ENTEEECERAABRAA Eil177 A B 3 = 50% - REERFEN
Huizhou Yayuntong Information Consulting Co. LTD  Incorporated Mainland China - 30% — Corporate Management advisory
ENTREBESFABRA ERlifoAva HEA, = 30% - REERHEN
i These companies are wholly-owned by Gold Concept. o # % A aMGold Concept2 EHE A °
2 These companies are wholly-owned by Star Linkage. 2 # % A A fStar Linkage2 EHEE °

70% of the company are held by Shenzhen Manyi
Investment Advisory Limited.

These companies are wholly-owned by Well
Investment.

Kong

These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The
English translation of the companies’ names are for
reference only. The official names of these companies are
in Chinese.

All associates are accounted for using the equity method
in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

15

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Management considers that Gold Concept together with
its subsidiaries (“Gold Concept Group”), Logan Junhong,
and Well Kong Investment together with its subsidiaries

(“Well Kong Group”) have significant impact to the
financial position and performance of the Group
individually.

The summarised consolidated financial information on
Gold Concept Group, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements for the
year is as follows:

15

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

REBEQNTINES (&

B ER AGold ConceptE[R HK B A

7] ([ Gold ConceptElJ) BEAERER
BEREERAENBAR(EBER))

iﬂl"“?zUﬁT$EIE’JHM%HK/R&EUEEE

BAY

Gold Concept& B4R & B 75 B R BEZE (3t
EHBENAMNEZE2ELAETHRNF
ERAVBRENEDESHR) H5/ 0
T

Gold Concept Group
Gold Conceptf €

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Gross amounts of associates BENT 2B
Current assets mBEE 1,149,233 1,055,816
Non-current assets EMBEE 6,726 4,043
Current liabilities mBAaE (1,089,574) (982,373)
Non-current liabilities ERBBE (9,157) (9,506)
Equity % 57,228 67,980
Included in the above assets and L EERBER
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and fﬁi&iﬁ/\“{ﬁ%ﬂ RPN
pledged and restricted deposits = PR #1175 3 66,699 69,002
Revenue A 40,346 726,083
(Loss)/Profit for the year FRN(ER), % F (3,177) 85,538
Other comprehensive income Hfib 2 U xS (7,575) 2,405
Total comprehensive income 2EW B EE (10,752) 87,943
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAREERBEEATN
interest in associates IR
Gross amounts of net assets of HENRFEEBR
associates 57,228 67,980
Group’s effective interest AEEMEER#ER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of AEER(EBE NG EE TR
associates 17,168 20,394
Capital loans to associates- BTBERNFINESER
non-current portion (note) — JEREE D (B EE) 111,706 106,867
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEEEaNERE
interest 128,874 127,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REBtEARINER (&)
The summarised consolidated financial information on ARG ENBERNE (gt BER
Logan Junhong, adjusted for any differences in B fA] &= 2 H A B I RN FE B R
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying FOEEESR S AT :
amounts in the financial statements for the year is as
follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR T T

Gross amounts of associates BE N NT 2 HEE
Current assets MENVEE 1,533,719 1,369,989
Non-current assets EMBEE 7,953 12,584
Current liabilities ViEIR=RE (1,006,247) (836,138)
Total equity AR 535,425 546,435
Included in the above assets and L BEERBERR:

liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and HRekReEFEYWMEET R

pledged and restricted deposits 5 BR #1F 3 217,932 225,466
Revenue A 55,231 41,569
Loss for the year FREIEB (8,634) (103)
Total comprehensive income 2EWNE BT (8,634) (103)
Reconciled to the Group’s HAEERBEEQATHN

interest in associates R
Gross amounts of net assets of BN NRFEERTE

associates 535,425 546,435
Elimination of the unrealised profit & #f 1% Hfi (& & & 35 3% A

upon consolidation (9,665) (4,556)

525,760 541,879

Group’s effective interest AEEMEER#ER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of B FEAREEE A A

associates BEEFHE 157,728 162,564
Carrying amount of the Group’s REEERWERE

interest 157,728 162,564
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
The summarised consolidated financial information on Well
Kong Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements for the year is as
follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

15 RBE QT NER(F)
BEEESSMBANEE (BE B
B £ 1] 22 4t 50 B 3 B A F 4R A
BREANEEEHE) BIMT

Well Kong Group

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETFT
Gross amounts of associates BENR 2R
Current assets mENEE 1,253,045 2,166,581
Non-current assets ERBEE 20,143 —
Current liabilities mEBE (1,043,693) (2,017,553)
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (20,495) (18,275)
Equity W 209,000 130,753
Included in the above assets and Lt EE KB E®IE
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and ReRkBeEEYWMDETR
pledged and restricted deposits 32 BR #1773 45,469 355,919
Revenue WA 657,273 1,091,409
Profit for the year F A 85,745 98,672
Other comprehensive income H 2wk (7,498) 2,382
Total comprehensive income EHKEAR 78,247 101,054
Reconciled to the Group’s EHASFBERBEQLTN
interest in associates EREER
Gross amounts of Well Kong EEEEFEELTE
Group’s net assets 209,000 130,753
Elimination of the unrealised profit & 5 1% Hfl (& & & 37 3% 7
upon consolidation (7,024) (14,035)
201,976 116,718
Group’s effective interest REBMEERER 50% 50%
Group’s share of Well Kong AEESEEEEEFEE
Group’s net assets 100,988 58,359
Capital loans to associates-non- BTHERRANESER
current portion (note) — SEREER D (B FE) 59,331 55,576
Carrying amount in the FEMBHREANEKREE
consolidated financial statements 160,319 113,935

Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered

after one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBEHRERMKEHE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2021
20214
RMB’000
AREET T

Non-current assets held for sale

FIEMEMERBEE

92,965

In 2020, the Group entered into a Cooperation
Agreement with Access Prosper International Limited and
Mr. Chan Cheung Tim (together the “Partner”), pursuant
to which, the Group and the Partner invested to 30% and
70% of the issued share capital in Star Linkage Financial
Holdings Limited (“Star Linkage”) respectively. Star
Linkage together with its subsidiaries (“Star Linkage
Group”) were treated as an associate of the Group (the
“Associate”). The Group has paid a capital loan of RMB93
million to the Associate in 2020.

On 30 December 2021, the Group and the Partner
entered into a termination agreement (the “Termination
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group and the
Partner agreed to terminate the Cooperation Agreement
by way of the Partner acquiring 30% of the issued share
capital in Star Linkage from the Group, at a consideration
of approximately RMB100,338,000 (“Consideration”), being
the sum of capital loan made by the Group in an amount
of RMB93,000,000 plus an interest amount of
approximately RMB7,338,000, being accrued at an
interest rate of 4% per annum from 10 January 2020 to
30 December 2021. The Consideration shall be paid to
the Group within 120 days upon signing of the
Termination Agreement. This constituted a forward
contract.

Upon signing of the Termination Agreement, the
Cooperation Agreement was terminated and the Group
was released from its capital contribution obligations and
all other obligations and commitments under the
Cooperation Agreement. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 30 December,
2021.
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EtH & - RE A A A K ®100,338,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

The Group reclassified the interests in Star Linkage Group
to non-current assets held for sale accordingly and
recognised at the lower of the carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The forward contract was
accounted for at fair value.

On 30 June 2022, the Group and the Partner entered
into a supplementary agreement to the Termination
Agreement, pursuant to which, the Group and the Partner
agreed to amend the payment terms of the Consideration
whereby the balance of the Consideration, together with
interest payable on the outstanding Consideration
calculated at 4% per annum, shall be paid to the Group
of RMB5,000,000 per month, with the last payment being
settled no later than 28 December 2023. Legal title of the
equity interests and the corresponding rights in Star
Linkage will only be transferred to the Partner upon full
settlement of the Consideration and the corresponding
interests. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, payments made by the Partner
to the Group amounted to RMB54,000,000.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

7N 5 B [ 1t 75 7 Star Linkage 5= B # # 25
BN SBEERELHENERDEE I
REEEERATFERBESEK AT HEKR
EER - BRAGHNERAFEAR-

20226 H30H - AEBBEG ¥ AT LK
tHhEz xR Bt AEEREH
AREBITIRENINEKER AR AM
A& B ¥ A R #5,000,0007T 8 (B &
BERAEERBERERINT F X5
HHEMNFE) &% —EMRTER2023
F12H28H # H - Star Linkagel& # X 18
ERENOEEFMERENTHEE N
REKHERANEEEZARA -FER
2 AR R 71202256 A30H FIEH A E -

H E2022%12A31H - 6 EADAAE
B % i A R #54,000,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

17

18

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17 BHERBEE
On 5 May 2022, the Group, Mr. Wong Ting Chung, the R202265A58  A"EE - AR R EE
chairman and executive director of the Company and a ROTESFTTIEBREERFEF=ZF([EX
third party (the “Borrower”) entered into a loan agreement, ANEINERBZE  AEERERAR
pursuant to which, the Group grants a loan of HEH=F FHNERBIRNEREAA
RMB96,500,000 to the Borrower for a term of 3 years K #96,500,0007T 2 B3k + M £ REIR LA
with an interest rate of 4% per annum, and Mr. Wong REAARNEEASI T ANEAEZR &
Ting Chung provides a personal guarantee in favour of the HKABER2025F5 4B AAEEHEE R
Group. The Borrower shall repay the whole principal HAE R BHEMNKNEERFTE B A
amount together with all accrued interest due and B o HEES» A RERBHEFAM
payable to the Group on 4 May 2025, or repay part of BEFAAE  IRAEBERKEE-
the principal amount together with all accrued interest due
throughout the term of the loan by instalments, or on
demand by the Group.
For further details, please refer to announcement of the HEB2H AR F20226585H T #&®
Company dated 5 May 2022. NI
Up to 31 December 2022, the Group has accrued interest B 2022 12A31H - A& BERXRBZE
income of RMB2,320,000 in respect of the loan. ) FE ST A B R A R #2,320,0007T °
INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT 18 FERHEMEHNRE
COSTS
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 2 AR® T ARETFT
Inventories 78
Properties held for development HIEERYE 40,981 40,750
Properties under development BEPmME - 903,777
Completed properties for sale BFEERTIYE 1,413,566 758,068
1,454,547 1,702,595
Other contract costs b= A= RN (©) 1,042 8,886
1,455,589 1,711,481

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

Annual Report 2022 ¢ —T =~ —FFif



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS (Continued)

(@) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as

follows:

FEREMENRAE(E)

(a) HERBAXAFABGZNTFESHE
DT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T

Carrying amount of inventories B &7F &M EME
sold 255,096 1,034,897
Write-down of inventories 17 8 OB 40,997 -
296,093 1,034,897

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of inventories
expected to be recovered after more than one year
is RMB1,400,743,000 (2021: RMB1,506,792,000). All
of the other inventories are expected to be
recovered within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, certain inventories were
pledged for bank loans (see note 22).

(b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property
development for sale is as follows:

2022512 A31H - FEHIR BB —
FREUBHNETEESEAARK
1,400,743,0007T (20214F : A R ¥&
1,506,792,0007T) ° FT B H b 17 &
TBEHR—F A E -

MR2022F12A31H & T HFEED #
IRITE R HE T (R M E22) -

(b) BHEFEVEZREIHWANERAEE
DATEAT -

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
In Mainland China, with R AR - FREESA
remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A b
(long leases) (RESFAEA) 80,166 98,607
— between 10 and 50 years — 10250%F 2 4
(medium-term leases) (FREFFR4Y) 86,052 99,519
166,218 198,126

BiHIZRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(c)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2022 relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under development as at
31 December 2022.

Other contract costs are recognised as part of
“selling expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Other contract
costs of RMB8,115,000 were recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB28,335,000). No impairment was
identified for the other contract costs as at
31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

There was no capitalised contract costs that is
expected to be recovered after more than one year
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(c)

Hit & HRAK
202212 A31H iAW E R E
IAMEEHERSBEEME LK
RER(L BERAMEKRENEEE
BFE X F A% E2022F12A31H
MERNMET LEEWZ °

HMARARBEREABMEHEE
KWaHRRGEeEaRERAIE
ERSIN—8D - EMEHKAA
R #8,115,0007T 1A # £20224F12 A
S1H L FE M8 & R (20214 ¢
AR #28,335,0007T) ° I £& 2% IR &
F2022F12A31HMEM A LKA
H IR E (20214 1 &) -

R2022F12 A31H @ £ 78 B A 18
B—FRWEMNEREE LKA
(20214 : &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 EZRHEMEWKRRKIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR F T
Trade debtors (note (a)) JE W AR 3 (M 5% (a) )
Gross rentals from properties YEHE BT 314 314
314 314
Amounts due from associates JrE LA B R B FR I8
(note (b)) (B 3 (b)) 18,054 18,016
Amounts due from non-controlling JiE W FE 28 P HE 25 SRIE
interests (note (b)) (Kt 3ED)) 24,565 24,565
Other debtors H th jE W B 63,961 55,353
Financial assets measured at BEBRKAFTENERMEE
amortised cost 106,894 98,248
Deposits (note (c)) & (MtiEe) 2,518 3,446
Prepayments (note (d)) TEAS I8 (M 5E(d)) 26,968 32,990
136,380 134,684
All of the trade and other debtors are expected to be FMBEESREMEWRRIBERER —FR

recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. WEsERRER -

(a) As at 31 December 2022, the ageing analysis of (a) H2022F12A31H ' & W Bk (B
trade debtors, based on the date the trade debtors MR REEEE) ERNERERERER
recognised, net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as AEMBRER DB T
follows:

2022 2021

20224F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR T ARET T

Within 1 month 1E# A A 1 44
1 to 3 months 12318 A 1 920
3 to 6 months 3Z6f# A 2 135
Over 6 months 6f& A A £ 310 45
314 314

B EKRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited 219



220

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)
The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 29(a).

As at 31 December 2022, no trade debtors were
past due (2021: nil). Based on experience,
management believes that no loss allowance is
necessary in respect of the trade debtors as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality.
The Group is of the view that the expected
irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The amounts due from associates and non-controlling
interests were interest-free, unsecured and
recovered within one year.

The balance mainly included the deposits paid for the
construction and development of properties.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance mainly
included prepaid construction costs for properties
development of RMB805,000 (2021: RMB4,078,000),
and prepayments for VAT and surcharges with an
aggregated amount of RMB26,163,000 (2021:
RMB28,912,000).

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(&)
AEBEERRHENMF294) °

H E2022F 128318 » WEEWER
R E(20214F « £E) - ERN &5 -
EEERSHRNEEEZYESEAXN
M AR EWRRGTIRIBX
B AEBERABTEZIREE
WEERMEERIE AEBIWE
REEBBFETANEARASR -

JE W Bt 2 X A) M JF P AR 5 IR
RS BEMAER—FR%KD -

FREHRIZERAEELRERY
Xefmre -

R2022F12A31H - E LB EE
PEVMEERNBNEERNEAAR
¥£805,0007C (2021F : A R ¥
4,078,0007T) - i 3& B B K B H0 2 &9
B RIEE £ A A R 26,163,000
7t (20214 1 AR #28,912,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

20 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

20 EHEARZRHEFRK

Pledged for mortgage arrangements  #t41 % B RIR1B L BRI T

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR FT

of the property buyers (note (a)) (Fff 5E(a)) 15,159 17,968
Restricted deposits for the BESANZRETFR
construction contracts (FF 5 (o) ) (MF7E(C) )
(note (b)) (note (c)) 40,491 25,109
Others HA 11,064 3,705
66,714 46,782
Notes: B 5E -

(@  The balance represents cash deposits placed in banks to
secure the banks’ mortgage loans granted to property
buyers. Such deposits will be released after the property
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are
pledged to the banks.

(b)  The balance represents pre-sale proceeds to secure the
future payments of the constructions of the Group’s
properties development projects. Such restricted deposits
will be released for the payments for construction costs of
the related property development projects or upon
completion of the construction.

() As at 31 December 2022, restricted deposits represented
proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling
RMB40,491,000 (2021: RMB25,109,000) placed in
designated bank accounts by certain of the Group’s
Mainland China subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
rules and regulations issued by local government
authorities. Such deposits can only be released with
achievement of certain milestones of construction progress
and delivery progress of relevant properties.

—ZT = ZHFFI ¢ Annual Report 2022

BHREFHIRBITNRSRE - FRMA
MEBRARBITRBERNE R @ -
ZERS BN BBV ENEEMERE
R TIRITRAERR

BREASEVMEERABZRARN
RO ERBE - ZEXRHFRAE
RARINERMEZERAR NEEK
AR R TR AR RR o

2022F12A31H ' XRHIFHIEAEEH
AT E Rk E A &R B
FI2% M B0 A B 48 Bl OB R FEAIE ERT
REFMNEEMEMSRERFARE
40,491,0007C (2021 @ A R ¥
25,109,0007T) ° % EF R ELABAY %
MEREERRNEFEETETERME
BER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(a)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BERBESEEY
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (a) REerREFEYWBIE:
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T
Cash at bank and on hand AT EETENRITR
denominated in: FHEBE®
— RMB — AR® 162,560 322,495
— HKD — BT 42,989 50,962
— USD - %7t 12 11
205,561 373,468
() As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash () H E2022%12H31H ' L A FA

(il

equivalents situated in Mainland China
amounted to RMB162,553,000 (31 December
2021: RMB317,309,000). Remittance of funds
out of Mainland China is subject to relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control.

As at 31 December 2022, cash at bank included
proceeds from the pre-sale of properties
totaling RMB6,672,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB104,277,000) placed in designated bank
accounts by certain of the Group’s Mainland
China subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
rules and regulations issued by local
government authorities. Such deposits can only
be used for settlement of purchase of
construction materials, tax payments and
construction fees of the relevant property
development projects upon approval from the
local government authorities.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(i

BERtRe RIS EEBEY R
A R #162,553,0007T (20214
12A31H : AR #317,309,000
Jo) e B B A IE X R A
B 5T ONEE B AR A R R
K

202212 H31H » iR1TIRE&H
RAEEETHERMHEAR
AR 5 30 75 BUR B FT 28 45 &9 48
B8R ROE BT A ERITER
FRTEEMEMEHRIBE LA
R #6,672,0007T (20214128
318 : A R #104,277,000
JL) o BE1S H 5 BUAT BB P Bt
% ZETREVNAREERE
EMHRZNEEMEERIE
ERHARBREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(b)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETHIH

AAREFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERRLEEY (&)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRFANEFELEFSHRESMNEER
generated from operation:
2022 2021
20226 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 3 AR¥TR ARBTT
Profit before taxation B 3 A& 71 237,055 289,562
Adjustments for: EH T % -
Write-down of inventories 1% & #ifl &k 18(a) 40,997 -
Depreciation and JrE R
amortisation 7(c) 5,823 7,697
Net gain on disposal of HEWHE - BERKZED
property, plant and st $ 5
equipment 5 - (14)
Finance costs B & K AR 7(a) 4,622 23,845
Interest income B U A 5 (5,912) (4,912)
Net valuation gain on KEMENHEWZ FE
investment properties 13(a) (17,093) (28,046)
Share of profits less losses %31t B & X )i F1) 5L &5 18
of associates (42,835) (79,810)
Equity settled share-based LA # 25 45 & LA R 1D /& B 7
payment expenses XA HR 26(b) 162 752
Net unrealised exchange K EIR[E ¥ B8, (W 25)
loss/(gain) F R 436 (143)
Changes in working HEESEY
capital:
Decrease in inventories T8 RHAME KK AR D
and other contract
costs 227,040 523,094
Increase in trade and B 5 & H b 8 W SR IE L hN
other receivables (1,696) (563,436)
(Increase)/Decrease in EHEARZRGFRX
pledged and restricted (3% n),/ w2
deposits (19,932) 60,514
Decrease in contract aHBERD
liabilities (140,048) (793,077)
(Decrease)/Increase in B 5 & H b FE R IE
trade and other ) /1
payables (222,426) 206,551
Cash generated from KEMERE
operations 66,193 152,577

BiHIZRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 ReREALEEY (&)

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHFELXEEBENYHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFIWAEEREEDMELS
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BzEe BERSLAIFRAE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from FoRETHELENBEBEARER
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows EFARRRERENEE  WHE
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the RBEERHAMBRERNEFALRE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as EmiameBlengske

cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans Amounts due
and interest to related Lease

payables parties liabilities Total
B BT EBREL
ERRFE ME HEEE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R ARET R ARET R
(note 32(c)) (note 25))

(Fif&E82(c)) (P &£25)

At 1 January 2022 202251 A1A 322,919 434,201 666 757,786
Changes from financing cash BEBRE&HESLH:

flows:
Repayment of bank loans BERTER (164,099) - - (164,099)
Capital element of lease rentals B HE&E AT

paid = - (456) (456)
Advances from related parties B 5 B3k = 64,705 - 64,705
Repayment to related parties B ER - (57,417) - (57,417)
Interest paid on bank loans ERRITER FlS (12,562) - - (12,562)
Interest element of lease rentals 2L F 855

paid - - (20) (20)
Total changes from financing cash BER & RELH A

flows (176,661) 7,288 (476) (169,849)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 19,486 - 19,486
Other changes: Hith#ag:
Interest on bank loans (note 7(a)) 217 & % & (Ht7() 12,142 - - 12,142
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE(HE7E)

(note 7(a)) = = 20 20
Total other changes Huw#Han 12,142 - 20 12,162
At 31 December 2022 M2022512A31H 158,400 460,975 210 619,585
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERBELEEY (&)
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHFELXEENYHKR(E)

financing activities (Continued)

Bank loans and ~ Amounts due to

interest payables related parties Lease liabilities Total
BT8R 1T JEf BB
ERRFE B HEBR @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
(note 32(c)) (note 25)
(Hi3£32(c)) (Bt z£25)
At 1 January 2021 RH2021F1818 369,839 435,872 1,136 806,847
Changes from financing cash MERERELE:
flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RITERAEHNE 296,869 - - 296,869
Repayment of bank loans BERIER (342,907) - - (342,907)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EHEE AT H - - (450) (450)
Advances from related parties BB AR - 2,687 - 2,687
Interest paid on bank loans ﬁﬂﬁ‘%ﬁﬂ =) (21,819) - - (21,819)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B {74 | 2 & - - 41) 41
Total changes from financing cash ~ BMERESRELELE
flows (67,857) 0,687 (491) (65,661)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (6,249) (20) (6,269)
Other changes: Hitn %5
Interest on bank loans (note 7(a)) BITERFE (7)) 20,937 - - 20,937
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7(a) TMEE&EFI & ( 157(a)) - - 41 41
Other non-cash effect HikRew 2 - 1,891 - 1,891
Total other changes Ht28eE 20,937 1,891 41 22,869
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12A318 322,919 434,201 666 757,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERRLEEY (&
(Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d HEZHSREARHE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for REEFARERERZIEHEE
leases comprise the following: VRN

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T

Within operating cash flows AKERSRE 34 225
Within financing cash flows AABRERESRE 476 491
510 716
22 BANK LOANS 22 RITER
This note provides information about the contractual M REAEBIBITERN A HIERK
terms of the Group’s bank loans. For more information MEEER -FHEASEENERARMNE
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, please ZEK  F2HME29(C) °

refer to note 29(c).

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR T T

Secured B 158,400 322,499
The secured bank loans with amount of RMB158,400,000 R2022F12A31H K2021F12A318 * A
and RMB160,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 and | IETE R D 5 A K #158,400,0007T
31 December 2021 respectively are secured by assets N A R #160,000,0007T A | 71| & E 1E K
below: #

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT

Inventories (note 18(a)) FE (M sE18(a)) 381,084 424,845
As at 31 December 2021, secured bank loan amounted to R2021F12A31H - EEBRITERA
RMB162,499,000 was secured by trade debtors from R 162,499,000 T LA R E B & T ¥ ¥ 84
sales and leasing of certain properties of the Group. The EREHEZERERERR - ZERR
loan was fully repaid in 2022. 2022F B RENEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

22 BANK LOANS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the bank
interest-bearing at one-year Loan Prime Rate (“‘LPR”)
published by the People’s Bank of China plus 1.95% per
annum (2021: one-year LPR plus 1.25%-1.95%).

loans were

The Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of certain covenants which are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become payable on demand. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note
29(b). There was no breach of covenants as of
31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans were repayable as
follows according to the repayment schedules as set out
in the loan agreements:

22

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

RITER(E)
2022F12A31H  IRITERFBIEF
BARBRITAMH —FHERERF X
(TERERAE]NF B1.95%: &
(2021F : —FHERERFENF B
1.25%%21.95% ) °

AEBMRITHEEERSE TEHEAT
EE FRTLENESREBNEESL
P ER - WASEERRF  CiRIGE
EREBERERKEE - AELASEERHE
© Rk EE R EE N M E29(0) - B E
2022F 12 318 I £ 2 x 55 (20214 -
) o

2022912 A31H 1B 1 & 7% 1% % BT &
EBREMRBITERERUTREEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARBET T

Within 1 year —FR 38,400 164,099
After 1 year but within 2 years —FIREMFA 120,000 38,400
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBEALFNA - 120,000
158,400 322,499

Notwithstanding the specified repayment schedules as
stated in all facilities letters which allow the loans to be
repaid over a period of more than one year, bank facilities
granted to the Group include a clause that gives the bank
an unconditional rights to call the bank loans at any time
(“repayment on demand clause”) and these bank loans
were classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)
23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23 EHEE

The following table provides information about contract TRIFEBAEFEHNABEHNER
liabilities from contracts with customers:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR T

Contract liabilities-Receipts in AHAEE — WEHEE
advance from property sales T8 U 3k 66,307 192,362
Contract liabilities represented payments received from ABHEBREEFAVEHEENNR - &
customers on sale of properties. A financing component BHEKE D (B ETE WA B E F 25)
being the financing benefit from the receipt in advance is RERNBGBEER SHBERXINEHA
recognised in the contract liabilities. Contract liabilities are MERRIBRER -

recognised in profit or loss when the related properties
are delivered.

Movements in contract liabilities EHEBES

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTTT

Balance at 1 January M1 A1H W& 192,362 945,939
Decrease in contract liabilities as a SHRBERFAET AFA
result of recognising revenue during BRHEENSERRR/K

the year that was included in the A TR

contract liabilities at the beginning

of the year (160,148) (944,944)
Increase in contract liabilities as a aHNBERFHNM2A31

result of receipts in advance from B3 A 1E 22 89 3 R T SR UL

property sales during the year in UNGOEZE 3=kl ENiiTR:

respect of properties still under ha

construction or revenue recognition

not being met as at 31 December 33,635 190,011
Increase in contract liabilities as a BB ERE AT UERTE S F A

result of accruing interest expense FTR A BB 2 Mg N

on receipt in advance 458 1,356
Balance at 31 December W12 831H K & & 66,307 192,362
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 BEZRHEHMENSIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBET T
Trade creditors (note (a)) & BR X (M 5% (a) ) 203,010 419,244
Interest payables JE& 7 8 - 420
Other payables and accruals HEMENZIEREFGER 62,414 68,406
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ B B 75 3k 38 (BMF 3% (o) )
(note (b)) 460,975 434,201
Financial liabilities measured at NERKATTENSRAE
amortised cost 726,399 922,271
Financial guarantee issued (note () B % &) B B &R
(B 3E(c)) 1,529 3,774
Derivative financial instruments PTEem T A (M5E16)
(note 16) 54,000 —
781,928 926,045
(a) Ageing analysis of trade creditors included in trade (a) M2022F12A31BIRERRESE

NHRBEHZENERGIAES
Ko B A 8 A5 SR IR) B B e 3 AT

and other payables as at 31 December 2022, based
on the date of the trade payables recognised:

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREET T

Within 3 months 3fE AW 170,711 368,954
3 to 6 months 3Z6f# A 2,171 617
6 to 12 months 621216 A 653 1,513
Over 12 months 1218 A A £ 29,475 48,160
203,010 419,244

B B 5 K L b A OB B 0
— R ERRRBE -

All trade and other payables are expected to be
settled within one year or are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

The amounts due to related parties are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

On 17 March 2021, Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate
Limited (“Logan Junhong”), the associate of the Group,
entered into a loan agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with
total bank facility amounted to RMB420,000,000 which
was 100% guaranteed by Logan Group Company
Limited (“Logan Group”). On 10 May 2021, the Group
and Logan Group, entered into a counter-guarantee
agreement (“Counter-guarantee”) pursuant to which the
Group has agreed, subject to the terms and conditions
contained therein to provide a counter-guarantee to
Logan Group with regard to the Loan Agreement in
proportion to the Group’s respective equity interest in
Logan Junhong (30%). As at 31 December 2022, the
total bank loan secured by the Counter-guarantee
attributable to the Group was RMB84,000,000 (2021:
RMB114,000,000). Deferred income in respect of the
financial guarantees issued was RMB1,529,000
(81 December 2021: RMB3,774,000).

For further details, please refer to announcement of the
Company dated 10 May 2021.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

FEfNRERE T RIARR R
EREFEE

EA

202163A17H  AEBHE Z QD
ABMMEAREEHERRA
([BEH BRI RITRLE 48 %Ei%
A R #420,000,0007T B B & 1% &
(IBERH#])  ZZEEXHELSE
BEERABI(EXER]Z2EE
R R2021F58108 - X & E &
EAEBEITURERDRE ([RE
R Bt XEBREREZH
BATH AR RGN S B TR
¢ 55 7= H9 IR R L 5] (30% ) Bk B 3R 1
AR EEIR R IER - #2022
F12A318 RERTEBAEER
$R17T B S 4858 A A R #84,000,0007T
(20214 : A R #114,000,0007T) ° &
BHMBERHDETKRABARE
1,529,0007T (2021512310 : AR
3,774,0007T) °

FH2HARA T2021E5 4108 I 2 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

25 LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the lease liabilities were
repayable as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

25 HEESE

M2022612H31H - HEBBEEAKMAT
BFfE (B & -

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T R AR T T

Within 1 year 16 R 162 485
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F B H2FE R 48 133
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F B EEEN - 48
48 181

210 666

26 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

On 29 March 2019, 23,700,000 share options were
granted for nil consideration to the directors and certain
employees of the Group under the Company’s employee
share option scheme. The share options have a term of
10 years commencing from 29 March 2019, or until the
early termination of the share options in accordance with
the share option scheme. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the
Company. These share options will vest in 3 equal
tranches in three years, and become exercisable until
28 March 2029. The exercise price is HKD1.362, being
the weighted average closing price of the Company’s
ordinary shares for five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

—ZT = ZHFFI ¢ Annual Report 2022

26 UERGERIUROD/BERNIRS

201993 A29H - 23,700,00017 B P& # iR
BAAAEEEREFENEZRERT
EERAEERERE-ZTEREAR
20193 A29H #B10F W17 - HEEIR
BRERESSRAKLEERE - SMHE
REATHBEARE-—RAQRAERA
K- ZEBREBR=FAD=_HEE
S5 B - B 22029438288 I AT 1T1F © 17
FEA13628 T NEEXRLEBSHE
BEHEBARR L BR 2 INEFH KRS
{go
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

PR E 2R RIRFWT

(a) The major terms and conditions of the share options (a)

232

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

are as follows:

Number of
instruments  Vesting conditions Exercise period
TE®E HEFY T
Options granted to directors:
A8 &%) RE AR
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 2019%3A29H R BAHE—F 2020%3A29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 2019%3H29H REABERE 202143290
202943 A 28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 3 years from 29 March 2022 to
the date of grant 28 March 2029
— 201953H29H RHBHRE=F 2022%3A29R &
202943 A28H
Options granted to employees:
A & & X i #) B A 4
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201943 A29H R BAHE—F 2020%3A29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 2019%3H29H REABERE 202143290 2
202943 A 28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953H29H RHBHRE=F 2022%3A29R &
20293 H28H
Total share options granted 23,700,000

X EY i P AR B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(b) Movement of share options during the year ended (b) E Z=2022F12A31H ILFE @ BK
31 December 2022 are as follows: MEEENNT
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
IEFEIGTEE BREZE
‘000
T4
Outstanding at 1 January, 2021 7202141 A1H M A1T#  HKD1.362/8 7T 18,300
Lapsed during 2021 20214F K3 HKD1.36278 7T (2,400)
Outstanding at 31 December, R2021F12H31H
2021 m ARATE HKD1.362/% 7T 15,900
Outstanding at 1 January, 2022 7202291 A1H M ATT#E  HKD1.362/8 7T 15,900
Lapsed during 2022 20224 N k3 HKD1.3627% 7T (1,200)
Outstanding at 31 December, MR20229F12 A31H
2022 RN HKD1.362/% 7T 14,700
Exercisable at the end of 2022 2022 RA[ 1T HKD1.362/% 7T 14,700
No options were exercised during the year ended H E2022F12A31B Lt FE W ETT
31 December 2022 (2021: nil). {58 {F {a] B AR 7 (20214F : &) o
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H » M A 1TF BB M2
had an exercise price of HKD1.362 and a weighted B1TIE(E B1.3628 T - MiEFHF
average remaining contractual life of 6 years (2021: BRAE N FHRGTFE (20214F : 74) ©
7 years).
The Group recognised share-based payment H E2022F12A31B I FEE - A&
expenses of RMB162,000 during the year ended B R AR 10 2+ 2 A R #6162,000
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB752,000). 7T (20214 : A R #752,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

27

RGEa M BRRROFEHR

(a) RESVBMR KRB IR :

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

CIT payable R EMEH 27,507 11,449
LAT payable JE A £ I E B 248,574 217,513
276,081 228,962

Prepaid tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents:

REEMHBRRROEANSHE

-

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Prepaid CIT AR EMEH 30,112 35,243
Prepaid LAT TE A L IR E 2,150 12,478
32,262 47,721

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

Annual Report 2022 ¢ —Z = —FF#



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 REEMBMRRRVFEH ()
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRELEHREEERAES:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred (i) EBEFBELE (B6\)54AH
tax assets/(liabilities) 287 HY # B
The components of deferred tax assets/ FARGZEEMBIRARANE
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated REEHBEEE,/(BE) A
statement of financial position and the BRER D REEEBNT -
movements during the year are as follows:
Temporary Revaluation
Unused tax  difference on Other
losses on revenue investment Unrealised Accrual for  temporary
(note) recognition  properties profits LAT differences Total
FBAKE WABRN  EHRE Eitti  HtEE
FRME) EBEE NE RERNE BEH £4 @it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OOO  RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: BERERR
At 1 January 2021 H2021%1 81R 6,594 4314) (4,364) 28,853 40,686 397 67,852
Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss ng/GtA) B
(note 8(a) (Fi38(a)) (3129) (1,709) (7,086) 8,851 9,053 (397) 5,583
At 31 December 2021 H2021%12131H 3,465 (6,023) (11,450) 37,704 49,739 - 73,435
At 1 January 2022 H202E1A1R 3,465 (6,023) (11,450) 37,704 49,739 - 73,435
Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss ng/GtA) B
(note 8(a)) (Mi3E8(a)) (1,540) 1,409 (4,273) 1,234 (300) - (3,470)
At 31 December 2022 12022121315 1,925 (4,614) (15,723) 38,938 49,439 - 69,965

Note: The unused tax loss can be carried forward to
offset against taxable profits of subsequent
years for up to five years from the year in
which they arose. These tax losses will expire
between 2025 to 2027.

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

M AR EBEIAEE N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

27 REREMBRARNAER (&)

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRAEELEHBEEEREE:
(Continued) &)
()  Movement of each component of deferred () EBEEZBHELE (BE)SHAX
tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued) B E (E)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of REMBARR KRB :
financial position:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Representing: K& :
Deferred tax assets BELEHIBEE 81,418 80,626
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEA G (11,453) (7,191)
69,965 73,435

(ii)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(t), the group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative
tax losses of RMB15,083,000 (2021:
RMB11,118,000) and deferred tax assets in
respect of write-down of inventories of
RMB40,997,000 (2021: nil) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

(i) HABRYELHEELE
B2 E gt BUR © &
SEYERBRABEES
B A R ¥15,083,0005T (2021
F: AR¥11,118,0007T) K 1F
B MOs A K #40,997,0007T
(20215 I T)EREERIBE
E ' REREAEBENRG AR
B & B8 KAl REEE £ R 2R FE
AR M A ZEEE R
BIRITBE - BIBEBEIRA
Hi o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 NEZEEMBRAERNFAEH (&)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRAEELEHEEEREE:
(Continued) (&)

(iii) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax

(i) KRB EEFEE &
MN2022F12A31H * BEAR

liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding
tax relating to the distributable profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of
the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment
made by management as at 31 December
2022, it was determined that the distributable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries would
not be distributed to the Hong Kong and
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable

a)FfT B 2 B 7] 5 R 5 FI 89 AR
BHEMNBAEERIBEEL R
TR - BAARRQ BT Z
ZH B AR BB - BRI
E B B R2022F12A318 &
FHEE - ARRFHBRFH
S REFEEATERA]
B KAEEREIMER A F]
DR o AR E B AR A H
DIERBEFNESEHINWT

future. The amounts of distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Distributable profits earned B B B A B FA20084F
by PRC subsidiaries on or 1A1H =k 2 1% %A
after 1 January 2008 Al 5 K & A 794,316 699,163

BiHIZRAERAT Million Cities Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 EX-fEERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) EZAEAXBLZ2EH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBEGERESEAKT ST
balances of each component of the Group’s RHIRE#SR 2 MR HERE NG EE
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated HEPR FVNEFHHAZLEEAR
statement of changes in equity. Details of the AR ERAK BN EEFER
changes in the Company’s individual components of R -
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
Share
Share Share option  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserves reserves losses Total
RE  BHEE BRERE EXRfK 2HER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARET:R
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021E1B1A R 6605 660,653 6250  (28,089) (33,137) 612,288
Changes in equity for 2021 WANENREEEH
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (3,135) (3,135)
Other comprehensive income L2 EkE - - - (17,459) - (17,459)
Total comprehensive income 2ENESE - - - (17,459) (3,135) (20,588)
Equity settled share-based transactions DEREE R BERE
N5 - - 752 - - 752
Balance at 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A318 R
1 January 2022 02F1 AR ES 6,605 660,653 7,002 (45,536) (36,272) 592,452
Changes in equity for 2022 02FMEREE
Loss for the year ENE# = = = = (4,544) (4,544)
Other comprehensive income 2 ENE - - - 54,698 - 54,698
Total comprehensive income 2ANELE = = - 54,698 (4,544) 50,154
Equity settled share-based transactions NEREENRNAER
N5 = = 162 - - 162
Balance at 31 December 2022 #2022512A31 A 54 6,605 660,653 7,164 9,162 (40,816) 642,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 EX--fEERRE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (b) B
Authorised share capital of the Company: KRAREERA
No. of shares Amount in
g2 4= gl
HKD
BT
Ordinary shares of HKDO0.01 F1R0.01E L 2 L @A
each
As at 1 January 2021 MR202141A1H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Transfer to preference shares EEREELR (M)
(note) (600,000,000) (6,000,000)
As at 31 December 2021, MR2021F12H318 -
1 January 2022 and 2022F1H1H &
31 December 2022 2022F12 A31H 1,400,000,000 14,000,000
Preference shares of HKDO0.01 FR0.01VE T 2B LR
each
As at 1 January 2021 202141 H1H — —
Preference shares authorised AT B TR (BT 5E)
(note) 600,000,000 6,000,000
As at 31 December 2021, MR2021F12H318 -
1 January 2022 and 2022F1H1H &
31 December 2022 2022F12 A31H 600,000,000 6,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(b)

Share capital (Continued)

The share capital as at 31 December 2021 and
2022, represented the share capital of the
Company.

A (&)
20214 ;20224612 A31 8 7 IR AN 1%
RAEADNR ZHA -

No. of shares Amount in Amount in
gyl 4= &5 -]
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: HKD RMB
ERTRBEEAEAR: BT AR¥TT
As at 1 January 2021, R2021F1A1H -
31 December 2021, 2021%12H318 -
1 January 2022 and 2022F1H1H &
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 750,000,000 7,500,000 6,605,250
Note: M 5E

On 9 September 2021, the Company and Fortune Speed
Investments Limited (“Fortune Speed”), the immediate
parent of the Company, entered into a conditional
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
pursuant to which Fortune Speed has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue to Fortune Speed, 290,000,000
new non-voting and non-convertible preference shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the
“Non-Convertible Preference Shares”) at the subscription
price of HK$1.15 per Non-Convertible Preference Share,
with an aggregate subscription amount of HK$333.5
million. On 18 November 2021, the independent
shareholders of the Company approved the allotment and
issuance of the Non-Convertible Preference Shares. As the
condition precedent under the subscription Agreement had
not been fulfilled on or before 30 June 2022, the
subscription Agreement forth with ceased and terminated.
As at 31 December 2022, the subscription of the Non-
convertible Preference shares lapsed.

For further details, please refer to announcements of the
Company dated 9 September 2021, 18 November 2021, 2
March 2022 and 4 July 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 28 October 2021.
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R2021F9A9H * AR AIH AR A ME
ERARmAKREER AR ([THA])FT
iﬁﬂ%#mwﬁ%ﬁ% c([REWHHE] - &
ImAERGRERE  BARFAE
ﬂﬂfmﬁLAtHxTTLWE%Hﬂw;‘%
TCR) R R (& A B L B 25 R BT A R AR
7K R & [i% TH {50.01)% 7T #9290,000,0008%
FERE R ERE LR ([T ER
BER]) - BRE S FE R3.33EETT °
K2021F11 188 + RAQ R W B L A% R
ﬁﬁT\TET@{E?&H&WEE%&%ﬁ °
R B 1 5E B9 R IR 1 220226 H30
HakzRiARgEmT r Bt EIERKZLET
REE W o Bl E2022F12H31H * A
EREERNORBEE XK -

5B 2 AR F2021F9F98 - 2021
F£11H518H » 2022963H28 202247
A48 F 28 Q% A K2021F10528H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fRE MW R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) REMEEREW
(i)  Statutory reserves () ZEERE

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
reduce previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into paid-in capital in proportion
to the existing equity interest of investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group transferred RMB683,000 (2021:
RMB12,439,000) of the current year’s net profit
of the Group, as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to this reserve.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the course of business.

Exchange reserves

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of Hong
Kong and foreign operations to RMB. The
reserves are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

IR o Annual Report 2022

BIBEFBERRDE AR E AP
BB B A R ZE AR B P B & 5t
ROIETOBRBERF10%E
BEXTRBRGER BEEHE
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BRE)  TARERRE
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HE2022% 128318 LFE -
REBKBEPBESEHED R
ROIFTEE 2 NS B E F 4T
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AIRRB A AR EEBRES
A i R 2. e

EXEE

R E B RREEE R8I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Share option reserve
Capital reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company
that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(s)(iii).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
interest-bearing loans and borrowings and less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and the amounts due to
related parties.
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(c)

(d)

HEMEERBWN(E)

(iv) BRERE
BN 7 B TR AR IR M sE2(s) (i)
FLUARR D B BT B FRET IR 4%
SR EROE TR AE
BMRITEBRENKEAH
NEEED o

EXER

AEBEAEE2HEZARNRE
AEBRFELE BBHERK
RBEHERBRKFEEZEE R
BBAGEKARFRE  #ER
PR IRH O3 M R E A ) & 2R

2L
M & e

AEEED N ERHEEREER
B RERE UERSKREDR
BRATAREHEZRSEEKTHE
RIFEARRE R Z FRERREZ
RS & WRBELEAMRE
HEXRGEHIELAE-

AEENEHBFEREEALRRS
EEEREEANEB -RULME -
RAEFEABERERFEERRME
ERRENREEBY - KHARE
B P A R s AP oy Ko JE 1 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 EX - -REERKRE (&)
(Continued)
(d) Capital management (Continued) (d EXERE(E)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at RNEER2022F12A31 B &K AR
31 December 2022 was as follows: FREEERLEEIEHENAT :
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P & AR®TR ARBTTT

Bank loans RITER 22 158,400 322,499
Less: Cash and cash HWIREeNIBEEEY

equivalents 21(a) (205,561) (373,468)
Adjusted net cash BRARFEERS (47,161) (50,969)
Total equity B 1,460,039 1,361,254
Add: Amounts due to o FEAS RS 5 2B

related parties 384,729 357,954
Adjusted capital BAEE R 1,844,768 1,719,208

Adjusted net debt-to- RZEHEBFEBERLR

capital ratio N/ARiE H N/AZT 3 A
(e) Dividends e BE
No dividends have been declared or paid by the H E2022F12A31B IEFEE - AA
Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended AR EKE R E I E S K=K R
31 December 2022. The Board resolved not to B BEgRETEBRNEZRE
recommend a final dividend for the year ended 2022F12A31B IEFEZ KK E
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). (2021 1 &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risks
arising from cash and cash equivalents and
structured deposits are limited because these
financial assets held by the Group are mainly
deposited in financial institutions such as
commercial banks which maintain sound reputation
and financial situation, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

In respect of trade debtors, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers locate or
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
However, there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix that includes
the overdue status of each of the trade debtors. As
of 31 December 2022, no trade debtors were past
due (2021: nil). The Group normally receives full
payment from buyers before the hand-over of the
property. For mortgage sales with sales proceeds
not yet fully settled, the Group would not hand-over
the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that
the respective mortgages have been approved. In
addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the
properties to the customers until full amount of sales
proceeds are received. Accordingly, the Group is of
the view of that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were insignificant. Thus no bad debt
provision for trade debtors was recognised during
the year.

In respect of other debtors and amounts due from
related parties, the Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss are not significant under the 12
months expected losses method. Thus no bad debt
provision was recognised during the year.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in note 31, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on current rates at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letter and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the
lenders were to invoke unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fBRE M%&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29 cREREEREMIAENAYE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REERR(E)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

RRABRRERE

el More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than

amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years
ARAER —ERRE —EN0E MEUL

REE HRERELE REREE BRMEAR BEFUR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR® TR AR®T TR ARBTR AR®T R

At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H
Bank loans RITER 158,400 170,211 46,860 123,351 -
Trade and other payables (exclude B 5 & H fb & {1 58
the financial guarantes) (TEEMBER) 726,399 726,399 726,399 - -
884,799 896,610 773,259 123,351 =
Adjustments to present cash fows ~ EREFABRERH
on bank loans based on ROIBERABEA
lender’s right to demand Rem
repayment (3,351) 120,000 (123,351) -
893,259 893,259 = =
Financial guarantee issued: BEEMABER:
Maximum amount guaranteed BaERE B (M 24(0)
(note 24(c)) 1,529 90,158 2,499 87,659 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

29 SRIEAKEERSBMIAEAFE

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REERR(E)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRERALM L
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years
AHREEE —FR%ER —FNLEEM WENEER
REE ERELRE ERkEER FEUR FUR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARETT ARETT ARBTTT ARETIT
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12831H
Bank loans RITER 322,499 348,458 177,405 47,583 123,470
Trade and other payables (exclude B 5 & H b & (4 FUA
the financial guarantee) (TRERBER) 922,271 922,271 922,271 - -
1,244,770 1,270,729 1,099,676 47,583 123,470
Adjustments to present cash flows ~ EREFAZKEFRH
on bank loans based on ROTERBEER
lender’s right to demand Rem
repayment (12,653) 158,400 (47,589) (123,470)
1,258,076 1,258,076 - -
Financial guarantee issued: BENOMEER:
Maximum amount guaranteed REEREE (HF24()
(note 24(c)) 3,774 129,198 6,840 6,840 115,518
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIZE b

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
bank loans issued at variable rates that expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group
does not use financial derivatives to hedge against
the interest rate risk. The Group defines “net
borrowings” as being interest-bearing financial
liabilities less interest-bearing investments. The
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29 sREiEREEREMIAENFEE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) RMEmEBE)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEER
The following table details the interest rate risk TRFIAEEEBRN RS
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of AN Y ) R B R
reporting period:
2022 2021
20224 20216
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERA=x BB =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT

Variable rate borrowings: BEEHMETEM

T
Bank loans RITER at one-year LPR 158,400 at one-year LPR 322,499
plus 1.95% per plus 1.25% to
annum 1.95% per annum
—EHEX —FHEX
HBEAI= EHEF &
nE 81.95% I E1.25%ZE
1.95%
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BEE D

As at 31 December 2022, if the interest rate
increased by 50 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits would have decreased
by approximately RMB594,000 (2021:
RMB1,209,000). And if the interest rate
decreased by 50 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits would have increased
by approximately RMB594,000 (2021:
RMB1,209,000).

In respect of the net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating bank
loans held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
profit after tax and total equity is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on a same basis for
2021.

72022412318 » i Fl| = £
FE0EER - MATHE KA &
BRIHTAE AEBRBEER
ERBEMBBLOARE
594,0007T (20214 : A R #&
1,209,0007T) ° fi# Al & T fE50
EES - MAAAEMEEERS
T RNEBERTE SRR
BadBEmaoAREK
594,0007T (20214F : A R #&
1,209,0007T) °

IARERREHRAFTAEF
BRITERELENE SR X
R ZFRBKTE  REBBK
Bigm i kAR RINTE
et A LAl F R 8 F 8 5
XEBANFLEE - DITE
AN FEMEMRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been
applied to all floating rate bank loans, without
taking into account the impact of interest
capitalisation.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk since financial assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries are
not significant.

(e) Fair values
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair

value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

- Level 1

valuations:

= Level 2

valuations:

- Level 3

valuations:

—ZT = ZHFFI ¢ Annual Report 2022

Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not
available

Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

DFREE)
BAFEFSEHNEHTA(E)

F1BH
fhiE :

F2BH
fii1E -

£IE
thfe

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29 2RIEREEREMIAATEE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) AFEE)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair () BRAFEFENEHBITEE)
value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RN FEER(E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into
R2022F12A31A P BN AT EHE

Fair value at
31 December

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R2022%
12A31B 1
AY¥E F-BR E_ER $-BR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR¥T R AR¥ET R AR¥ET R

Recurring fair value BEMAYETE

measurement

Financial liabilties: SREE:

Derivative financial instruments: fTEEEIA:

— Forward contract - BHAY 54,000 - - 54,000
During the twelve months ended 31 December B F2022F12A318 It + =
2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 A MERE —EREE—
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 [E &z MRy R JneeE A o
(2021: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise EHE=ERK(20214F : &) o
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy AEEZBRABEAFENRE
as at the end of the reporting period in which AEREEEREAREH
they occur. HEITHER -

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEAE=FERLFEITENE
measurements #
Significant As at
Valuation unobservable 31 December
techniques inputs 2022
1t 1B H 1l THBECEER AHIE 20226128311

Forward contract Discounted Discount rate 4%

cash flow method

REAEY BRI e R =X 8h 3R & 4%

Market method Market value 26,106
(RMB/sg.m.)
™5 % mEAREFHXK) 26,106
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29 sEEAREEREMTIAAFRE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) AFEE)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEZE=FERLAFETENE
measurements (Continued) #(#E)
The fair value of forward contract is determined RHAANATERAIRIR
using discounted cash flow method and market EREERMISEERT - [
method. The market method to assess the 16F7 & a1 (i 7% 31| B 25 40 [ 1 158
market value of underlying land parcels of the TMENTISEN2E A LKA
Shenzhen Guoxin as set out in note 16 is BEYMENMERSETRES
performed by reference to market value of ERAARAIGH TS EEE
comparative comparable properties on a price T AFEFE2EPBRERT
per square foot basis using market data which B2 8 - 1K2022F12 F31
is publicly available. The fair value B EMBEMEERFIE
measurement is negatively correlated to the WIERT HEBIRE A
discount rate and market value. As at T FES0E E B - AR B/ &
31 December 2022, it is estimated that with all &R D Em AR
other variables held constant, an increase/ 517,0007T °© 72022412 H31
decrease in the discount rate by 50 basis B EMBEMEBSRFTE
points would have decreased/increased the BB - TEER T E 0, R
Group’s profit by RMB517,000. As at 5% AN & B Y 5 A A5 R
31 December 2022, it is estimated that with all 4 /10 A R #5,200,0007T °

other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the market value by 5% would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit by
RMB5,200,000.
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e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 29 sRiEREEREMIANFEE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (4&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) 2AFEE)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=ZFERIAFETEHE
measurements (Continued) # (&)
The movement during the period in the balance HANEZEBRAFEFTE4HEE
of Level 3 fair value measurements is as REE T -
follows:
2022
20224
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Forward contracts: RHEH
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1H =
Fair value changes during the period HARFEEZE 54,000
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 54,000
30 COMMITMENTS 30 AiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 R B 7 R 3R B 5 892022612 A31H 4
not provided for in the financial statements were as ARENERAELT :
follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREET T
Contracted for: B2ET4 -
Construction and development BEREREGL
contracts 4,547 155,371
Commitments mainly related to development costs for the EEFEZERAEERZITUWENERK
Group’s properties under development. KEM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

31

32

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
issued guarantees to banks to secure the mortgage
arrangements of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the banks, amounting to RMB597,659,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB223,038,000), will be
terminated upon the completion of transferring the legal
title of the properties to the property buyers. The
directors consider loss arising from these guarantees as a
result of default payment by customers to be insignificant,
as the banks have the rights to sell the property and
recover the outstanding loan balance from sales
proceeds. The Group has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of these guarantees as their fair values
are considered to be insignificant.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(@) Transactions with key management personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group is as follows:

31

32

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

HARBE

B E22022F12A31HIEFE - AEEHR
AETEREBERBEEYWHEMRITIRME
P& R - 2022 12H31H * K T & R 17
1R B A R #597,659,0007T (20214 :
AR #223,038,0007T) + BBERERY
XETEREBETERRRE -EFR
B AEETERERBAREMER
BEABK RERARRTEHLEDE
NHEMSRBEEEREEERGEH -
AEBHMARZEERERTMELTER
AN BAERBEAFEITEK-

EXRBBLEXRS
BREMEMMBEE BB T ERIN K
SEFTLATERBB IS -

() HXEEEEBAEBNXS
AEBETEEERBASNHMOT

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBET T

Salaries, wages and other Fe ITEREMBET
benefits 9,803 8,253

Retirement scheme RIRET &I K

contributions 48 56
Share-based payment VAR 7 72 E W8 B0 5T 3Kk 98 562
9,949 8,871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

32

IAARKSIR)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

32 ERBBRAKE (Z)

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEBEINRS
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T
Lease of properties* MEHRE"
— an entity controlled by the — QB R AR AR SR
controlling shareholder HE 8
of the Company 198 192
Accommodation services EEXAEERSE
received*
— an entity controlled by the — QB R AR AR SR
controlling shareholder VE R
of the Company 1,198 1,936
Purchase of goods* BEEm
— an entity controlled by the — ANQ A YRR AR R
controlling shareholder K E 5
of the Company 51 36
* These related party transactions constitute connected * ZEBBM AR 5BE EmBAE

transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However these transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they fall into the definition of de

minimis transactions under Listing Rule 14A.76(1).

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties
Balances with related parties as at 31 December
2022 are detailed as follows:

Amounts due from related parties recorded in other
receivables and interests in associates:

Non-trade in nature

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

32 EXBEBERS (&)

(c) EEEEEES &R
202212 A31 H £2 Ba Bt 77 &) 45 &%
=27 BN

AL R A EL Al 8 W SR IR R B = R A
2 HE 25 B JE W B8 B U7 ROR

HEZMHE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREETIT
Amounts due from associates JE Wi BS 2 R B 5RIB
(note (1)) (B EE(1)) 228,091 273,459
Amounts due from JE W JE ¥ IR 25 3R IR
non-controlling interests (B 3E))
(note (1)) 24,565 24,565
252,656 098,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

32 ERBBRAKE (Z)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued) (c) EERAEETMIAEER ()

Amounts due to related parties recorded in other

payables:

Non-trade in nature (note 21(c))

IR

AL R A FL Al 8 SR IR RO B RE B

HEZME (K at21(c))

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR T T
Amounts due to JFE 1 I 2 PR 4 25 FX 0B
non-controlling interests (Pt 5E(2))
(note (2)) 344,192 303,796
Amounts due to controlling JE A-F 128 A% IR SR R IE
shareholder 81,695 40,119
Amounts due to entities AT AN X BIHE IR IR 3R AT A
controlled by controlling T RS A
shareholder of the Company 120 262
Amounts due to associates JE - Bt 2 R B 5RIE 34,968 90,024
460,975 434,201

Financial assistance provided to Gold Concept
Group, an associate of the Group, with amount of
RMB111,706,000 and to non-controlling interests
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However those transactions are
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i)
such financial assistance is on normal commercial
terms or better, and (i) such financial assistance is
provided in proportion to the equity interest directly
held by the Group and its subsidiary in the
connected person under Rule 14A.89.

Financial assistance received from related parties
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However those transactions are
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i)
such financial assistance is on normal commercial
terms or better, and/or (i) no security over the
Group’s assets is granted in respect of such
financial assistance under Rule 14A.90.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

2N & B Bt & 2 alGold Concept
SERHNVBEBDARK
111,706,0007T A % ) IF 22 A% 48 =
RENPEEDHBR ETRAE
VYAEFMATEMBEER ZHFE
MERXS - AMm ERUTRE
B ZERXRFERPET ETHR
AIZE14AE MR TR - ()48 B BF
BEDRIZ —MEAEERIEE
e RNAEE Y% E R
G F1AABIGFT IR L AL B Rk H
MEBARRZBEATEERS
A A% 4 £b 4 i o

MEATESNUBEEDBR L
MRAFLAZEFA TN HAER
SUBFBEBRERS - R ER
NTRE ZEXRSHERRET
ETRBIFAAZNHEERT : ()
HETEERIZ — B EGER
ok B IR RIR i KBk (i) AE BB
B 75 & B & A& F14A.901% Fr 45 I
BUAAEERNE EERITF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 32 EXEBIRE (&)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) Guarantee issued to a related party (d) PFEAEER TR
As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided R2022%F12A31H  AEB G AE
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by the ENR AR AN EEREE
Group’s associate, Logan Junhong. The details are R o FFIE MY E24(c) B BE -

disclosed in note 24(c).

() Guarantee issued to the Group from a related (e) BB AFOAEERMNER
party
As at 31 December 2022, the Group, Mr. Wong Ting MR2022F12A31H * A& E ~ AR
Chung, the chairman and executive director of the AlEERATEST TREBRLERAK
Company provided personal guarantee to secure the EEERTE=ZFREBBEAER-
loan borrowed from the Group to a third party. The FIBERM 17 EE -

details are disclosed in note 17.

Guarantee issued to the Group from related party Bl A mMASERENERE LT
constitutes connected transaction or continuing HAFUUAEMEBER S HIFE
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of MER S - AT B R()HE A ER
the Listing Rules. However this transaction is REFHAEBRRE EHRREMH
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter K (i) 48 B8 HE 1R 15 & £ 14A.9014% FT ¥5
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i) WEARNEBHNEEERR W&
such guarantee is on normal commercial terms or REEHRRET ETHAF4AE
better, and (i) no security over the Group’s assets is B R R E ©

granted in respect of such guarantee under Rule

14A.90.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B a MWK MR )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33 AEEBEMBMRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
= AR T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIMIEE 14 612,102 549,366
Interest in associates REEE R AR - 41
612,102 549,407
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments AN 250 233
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY 31,128 42 906
31,378 43,139
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H th F& (< ;I8 712 94
712 94
Net current assets RBEEFE 30,666 43,045
NET ASSETS EEFE 642,768 592,452
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXREE
Share capital % Zx 28(b) 6,605 6,605
Reserves & 636,163 585,847
TOTAL EQUITY EEEEE 642,768 592,452
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EE g N2023F3 27 B #E /# KX # F
directors on 27 March 2023. %o
Wong Ting Chung Lau Ka Keung
FER xR
Director Director
e EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK TR

The particulars of the principal

31 December 2022 are set out below:

subsidiaries as at

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

#H E2022F12H31H T EZHE A Al HY
FIFAIEH T

Proportion of
ownership interest

BERERLLY
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and paid-in  Held by the Held by a  Principal
Company name establishment capital Company  subsidiary activity
ERTR
DNEER K L 3t B BRRAFE A2ABE WEARAKE IEED
Million Cities Development Limited BV usD10 100% — Investment holding
BHERERAT RERARRES 107t 100% - REER
Million Cities (Int'l) Limited Hong Kong HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Eu(BR)ERAA BB 1008 7T - 100% H®EER
China Lands Investments Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
PEAMREBRAF B 10,0007 7t = 55% REER
Join Kong (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
RE(RE)ERAA BB 10,0007 7T = 55% REER
Million Cities Construction (China) Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
BRR(hE)ERAR" o A AR %50,000,0007T - 100% REAZR
Huizhou Million Cities Enterprise Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.
BMERCXERREBRA A B A3 A K #10,000,0007C = 100% REZK
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB38,000,000 4.99% 90.4%  Property development
BNTHEEHERRAR" o B A AR #38,000,0007 4.99% 90.4% MERER
Huizhou China Field Real Estate Mainland China HKD68,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
BNEEEHERZRRAR" B A 68,000,000/ 7T = 100% WEER
Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate Mainland China USD12,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
EMEEHEREARAR B Ay 12,000,000% 7. - 100% WEEER

IR o Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

Proportion of
ownership interest

BREERELH
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and paid-in  Held by the Held by a  Principal
Company name establishment capital Company  subsidiary  activity
ERTR
NRER ot R B AL it B BERFHE ALRKE MEARAKE TEED
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate Mainland China RMB52,500,000 5% 49.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
BNTEREHEREER R A B 3 AR #52,500,0007 5% 495% MEER
Million Cities Jianji Real Estate Mainland China USD70,000,000 - 55%  Property development
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.
BRREEX(RR)ARAA" o i 70,000,000% 7T = 55% MFER
Guangdong Hongtuo Construction Mainland China RMB40,080,000 - 50%  Construction services
Co., Ltd.
BRABERBERR AN B Ay AR #40,080,0007 = 50% BEERE
Huizhou Weihuisheng Real Mainland China RMB240,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.
BMNEEREXFR QA B 3 AR #240,000,0007C - 100% WEER
Huizhou Chuangweihuifu Real Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 80%  Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.
BMEIEEZEEXAR AR B A A #300,000,0007C = 80% MEFERE
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The * ZEBERATEAREERRA - AR
English translation of the company names is for reference NEZREHLSZE AXRBRAEBHAE-

only. The official names of the companies are in Chinese.

As at 31 December 2022, the directors consider the
immediate parent of the Group to be Fortune Speed
Investments Limited which was incorporated in the BVI
and the ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Happy Family Trust. Fortune Speed Investments Limited
does not produce financial statements available for public
use.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

2022%F12H31H " EERBAEEEE
BAAAREBHBRESEMN L2
WMAKREAERRAA  AEBMNHKIER
FAREREFR -WRKREBRAFIL
BRAAEARER M BHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &)

36 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 36
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2022 and which have not been adopted in
the financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)
B £2022F12A31HLLFEEHE
fin{B = R E R RVIEET ~ # AT ZE A
RZRENTREE

HEPKRERTIEBH HESTMA
CERMLETTREETER - B
£2022F12A31B L FE M AR ER ' 75
BRMBRERER ZEERBETE
HEASEEMA@ENATEIE-

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RELT B 2 &M K
BB ER

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

1 January 2023

(BEABUMBRELENDFEITR — REEA 20231 A1H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023

(BEABGTEBIRNER] — BESHEBREAIHRE 20231 A1H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of 1 January 2023
accounting policies

(BAGFENBE1IRR(BEAVBREEADEBREF2RAEET 2023F1A1H

— BHBERE

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

1 January 2023

(BREGHERDESRNER] — 85 1B 9EH 20231 H1H
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 1 January 2023
arising from a single transaction

(BREFERMDE12RNIER — E—XZELHNEERREHBNEL 20231 A1H

HHE

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e I RKKE &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

37 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (Continued)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

37

B ZE2022F12A31H L EEC
1B R ERIEET ~ F5] E A
EREBWNAREEE (2

AEBEAEFEERAERZSEINE
HEE ZHARL  EwWSRRAREE
AITAKAREHERAVBRRELEEAFY
@O
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEREE

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AMBLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20205 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INELEI ARBT T ARETT AR®TT ARBTR
Revenue WA 571,183 1,348,501 1,241,360 354,284 567,827
Cost of sales HERAK (296,093)  (1,035,122) (690,122) (221,286) (305,001)
Gross profit ER 275,090 313,379 551,238 132,998 262,826
Profit before taxation BB AT R 237,055 289,562 471,026 58,836 188,294
Income tax g (122,615) (102,280) (239,163) (41,168) (110,475)

Profit attributable to equity RNATER R RENS
shareholders of the Company & Fl 69,178 166,381 112,746 17,954 33,375

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214F 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ARBT T ARETT ARBTRT ARETR
Non-current assets FkRBEE 764,947 598,878 565,826 267,605 247,978
Current assets RBEE 1,989,471 2,440,101 2,832,113 3,597,996 3,532,245
Total assets wEE 2,754,418 3,038,979 3,397,939 3,865,601 3,780,223
Total equity BEEE 1,460,039 1,361,254 1,168,667 924,883 906,299
Non-current liabilities FREBEE 11,501 7,372 4,465 104,630 102,709
Current liabilities RBEE 1,282,878 1,670,353 2,224,807 2,836,088 2,771,215
Total liabilities BELE 1,294,379 1,677,725 2,229,272 2,940,718 2,873,924
Total equity and liabilities EERAEARE 2,754,418 3,038,979 3,397,939 3,865,601 3,780,223
Net current assets RBEEFE 706,593 769,748 607,306 761,908 761,030

—ZT = ZHFFI e« Annual Report 2022
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GLOSSARY

=
A 5
“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company
(REBFARE BRREBEFRE
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
[BFtEEE EEgETHNEITZES
“Board” the board of Directors
[EEg] =
“CG Code” the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(B R<rAll AR ST A E R EE AT RI REEE IR HE BT RIMEX
“Chairman” the chairman of the Board
[E/F] EEXgXF
“Cheer Happy” Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited
Ki==3 BE(EE)BRAA
“Company” or “the Million Cities Holdings Limited
Company”
[RAFA] EIWERER AT
“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company
[E=%] RARESE
“Executive Committee” the executive committee of the Board
[HITEEE] E=EgHTZEES
“GDP” Gross domestic product
[ 7R3 4 2= 42 1E i A4 E A
“GFA” gross floor area
[FEEEmE] EEmME

“Group” or “the Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

(A& E] AARREWE R A

“HK$” Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
[T BEEEEEBET

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
(&%) TEEERANITRRE
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
(&)

i

“Huizhou Cheer Happy’
[EMER]

“Huizhou China Field”
[ ZEE ]

“IPO”
[BERAREE]

“Join Kong”

2%

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”

[ B B E

“Listing Rules”
[ A8 Al

“Main Board”

=

“Model Code”

[ < B

g

“Nameson”

[F el

“Nameson Group”

[ e &

“Nomination Committee”

[fRREEE

—ZT = —FF{ ¢ Annual Report 2022

Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate Development Company Limited*
BEMNEREMEREZEARAF

Huizhou China Field Real Estate Development Company Limited*

BMNEEFHERZERR QA

initial public offering
BRAREE

Join Kong (H.K.) Limited
2B (BR)ER LA

listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

ARRIRM R ER ET

20 December 2018, the date on which the shares of the Company were listed and
from which dealings therein were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

2018F12H20R * RARAIRH B ERB XA ER LT REEHN A H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P 8 7 £ T AR Bl

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 BT £ AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHARBINESTAE EMETAESETEFRHNEETE

Nameson Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1982) and was owned by Happy Family Trust as to approximately 65.8% and Mr.
Wong Ting Chung as to approximately 8.8% as at the date of this report, is a
connected person of the Company

MEZERERAR  —HARASHESEMANINAR  EROREERAER LM (B
AR :1982) RARERHBHERGEAEREER L E D R B £965.8% K& 4
8.8% ' BALRAMEEAL

Nameson Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

MEERBERLDRERENE QA

the nomination committee of the Board

EFZeBETTNRAZES

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

AR )

“PRC” or “China”
[H

“Prospectus”

[HERER]

“Remuneration
Committee”

[(FHEZE =]

“RMB”
[AR#]

“SFC”

[ 2% BE o |

g m /=

“SFO”

(78 7 K HI & 5% B ]

“Share Option Scheme”

[ R ot &1

“Sq. m.”

By

“Stock Exchange”
B 32 B

“Tianjin Jianji”
[ RFEE]

“United States”
E3=

reference only.

ZABAEETT R

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

X% HRE

the People’s Republic of China
RE AR LR

the prospectus of the Company dated 10 December 2018
2018F12A10R A AR R ER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFeEINFTMEZES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBEARE

the Securities and Futures Commission

ErhHEEREBERES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBEDFESNER S KEERD - B TREE] - R AH 75 X2k

the share option scheme of the Company approved and adopted on 26 November
2018
72018511 H26 B B 4t /& R IR 2 28 2 R BE AR 4 1 2l

square metres

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMERIMAERR

Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) Company Limited*
BEWMEEEEXE(RB)ERAQA

the United States of America
EFEBREREH

The company does not have an official English name. The English translation of the company name is for

gH2=E-
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MILLION CITIES

www.millioncities.com.cn

V[N
A ¢

Hong Kong Office & BN =E

Address #z3ik : Unit D, 21/F,, Block 1, Tai Ping Industrial Centre,
57 Ting Kok Road, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong
ERFRETAR 7T RAFIEHRLE—E21EDE

Tel B35 : (852) 2689-1999

Fax K : (852) 2689-1882

_ M
"

China Office BIAMEE

Address 3t : 6/F, Block 5, 8 Longhe East Road,
Huicheng District, Huizhou City, Guangdong, China
TEEREEMNTERERENRE S RESE6
Tel &7 © (86) 752-331-6668

Fax 8H @ (86) 752-331-6777
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